Deceased organ and tissue donation after medical assistance in dying and other conscious and competent donors: guidance for policy

May 15 to 16, 2017 Toronto, Ontario

Publication June 3, 2019



In collaboration with and endorsed by:







Acknowledgements

This report is dedicated to Dr. Shelly Sarwal and Dr. Linda Panaro who provided unique perspectives and thoughtful insights into the development of this expert guidance. Their knowledge and advocacy informed and guided the workshop process and has helped in the creation of this report which will guide practice and inform policy development both at the provincial and national level.

The planning committee would also like to acknowledge all individuals who contemplate organ donation as part of their end-of-life care after making the decision for medical assistance in dying or withdrawal of life-sustaining measures.

© Canadian Blood Services, 2018. All rights reserved.

Extracts from this report may be reviewed, reproduced or translated for educational purposes, research or private study, but not for sale or for use in conjunction with commercial purposes. Any use of this information should be accompanied by an acknowledgement of Canadian Blood Services as the source. Any other use of this publication is strictly prohibited without prior permission from Canadian Blood Services.

Canadian Blood Services assumes no responsibility or liability for any consequences, losses or injuries, foreseen or unforeseen, whatsoever or howsoever occurring, which might result from the implementation, use or misuse of any information or guidance in this report. This report contains guidance that must be assessed in the context of a full review of applicable medical, legal and ethical requirements in any individual case.

Production of this report has been made possible through financial contributions from Health Canada and the provincial and territorial governments. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent those of the federal, provincial or territorial governments.

For more information, please contact: Donation and Transplantation Canadian Blood Services 1800 Alta Vista Drive Ottawa ON K1G 4J5 Canada 613-739-2340 Email: donation.transplantation.secretariat@blood.ca

Table of Contents

Foreword	4
Executive Summary	5
Overview	12
A. Workshop Overview	12
B. Workshop Process	16
C. Recommendations and Considerations in Relation to the Clinical Pathway	23
Background	41
D. Protections for Patients	50
E. End-Stage Neurological Conditions and Organ Donation Implications	54
F. System Oversight, Accountability, and Quality Improvement	59
Research Opportunities	64
Appendix 1: Glossary of Terms	66
Appendix 2: Workshop Participants	69
Appendix 3: IPSOS Public Survey	71
Appendix 4: Organ Donation in the Conscious Competent Adult – A Scoping Review	79
Appendix 5: Review of ALS Patients as Organ Donors	92
Appendix 6: Conscientious Objection – A scoping review	99
Appendix 7: Workshop Agenda	107
Appendix 8: Fact Sheets and Workshop Questions	109
Appendix 9: Acronyms	122
References	123

Foreword

In Canada, organ donation from deceased donors is a common practice that saves or improves the lives of more than 2,000 Canadians every year, accounting for more than 3 out of 4 transplanted organs.¹ Deceased donation is permitted following either neurological or circulatory determination of death. Donation following neurological determination of death (DNDD) is more common in Canada, but rates of DNDD have remained largely stable over the past decade. Donation following circulatory determination of death (DCDD) was historically considered more controversial than DNDD, but DCDD has become increasingly common, accounting for 23 per cent of all organs donated in Canada in 2016.¹ The practice of DCDD is also evolving; the DCDD guidelines developed in 2005 addressed the conventional scenario of an unconscious, incapable, critically ill patient who was not expected to survive after the withdrawal of life-sustaining measures (WLSM).²

However, two recent developments have led to scenarios that raise practical and ethical issues that are not clearly addressed in the 2006 guideline. First, as a result of the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in the case of *Carter vs. Canada*³, and the passing of Bill C-14 by the Canadian parliament^{3,4} and Bill 52 in Quebec⁵, eligible Canadian patients suffering from terminal illnesses may now seek medical assistance in dying (MAID) as a means of ending their lives under the supervision of a medical or nurse practitioner. Second, there has been an anecdotal increase in requests for organ donation by patients with progressive neuromuscular diseases who are dependent on mechanical ventilation (invasive or non-invasive) and who have made the decision to withdraw life-sustaining measures. These two scenarios differ from the conventional DCDD scenario in that the donors are conscious and competent and, therefore, able to give first-person consent for both the decision to withdraw life-sustaining measures and the decision to donate their organs. These scenarios can be challenging emotionally and morally for health care teams and they can raise unprecedented ethical and practical challenges for patients, families, professionals, institutions, and society.

Prompted by individual cases and requests from patients, Canadian practitioners have requested guidance for policy development to manage organ donation in these conscious competent patients. In response to this request, Canadian Blood Services, in consultation with the Canadian Neurological Sciences Federation and in collaboration with the Canadian Critical Care Society, the Canadian Society of Transplantation, and the Canadian Association of Critical Care Nurses, convened to provide bioethical, legal, and clinical guidance for guidance about managing deceased organ and tissue donation for conscious competent patients.

Executive Summary

Purpose and objectives of the workshop

Canadian Blood Services hosted a forum in Toronto on May 15 and 16, 2017. The two-day forum brought together medical, legal, and bioethics experts, as well as patients, from across Canada. The goal of this forum was to develop expert guidance for clinicians, donation program/organ donation organization (ODO) administrators, end-of-life (EOL) care experts, MAID providers and policy makers regarding organ and tissue donation from a conscious and competent patient. The forum objectives were to:

- 1) Analyze organ and tissue donation in the conscious competent patient from legal, medical, and ethical perspectives.
- 2) Develop and publish expert guidance for offering organ and tissue donation to patients who have made a decision that will lead to imminent death:
 - a. Conscious competent patients who have chosen to withdraw mechanical ventilation (includes invasive and non-invasive forms of ventilation).
 - b. Conscious competent patients who have chosen to withdraw extracorporeal support including ECMO (extracorporeal membrane oxygenation) and/or other mechanical circulatory support.
 - c. Eligible patients who have requested MAID (as defined as death by injection).
- 3) Develop a knowledge translation strategy that includes all relevant stakeholders.
- 4) Identify questions for research.

Summary of recommendations

Deceased organ donation in conscious and competent patients

- Medically suitable, conscious and competent patients who provide first person consent to end-of-life procedures should be given the opportunity to donate organs and tissues. Patients who seek MAID or WLSM should not be prohibited from donating organs and tissues.
- **2.** Before consenting to WLSM or MAID, patients should carefully consider all end-of-life options with their physician or health care professional.

Referral to an organ donation organization

3. Referral to the organ donation organization should occur as soon as is practical after the decision to proceed with WLSM or determination of eligibility for MAID. Preliminary evaluation of the patient's eligibility to donate should be performed prior to the donation approach, if possible. This avoids the potential distress of making a request or obtaining consent for donation only to have to inform the patient that they are medically or logistically ineligible.

Conversations about donation

- **4.** The decision to proceed with MAID or WLSM must be separate from, and must precede, the decision to donate.
- 5. Treating physicians, MAID providers, and MAID assessors should be educated on how to respond to inquiries concerning organ donation. This should include how the decision to donate may affect the end-of-life care process and options, and when to refer patients to the organ donation organization. The organ donation organizations should develop checklists or discussion guides to facilitate donation conversations to ensure patients are consistently well informed.
- 6. All eligible, medically suitable patients should be given an opportunity to consider organ and tissue donation, consistent with provincial or territorial required referral legislation, regional policy, and ethical principles of respect for autonomy and self-determination. However, this must be reconciled with regional values and health care culture. Initially, some jurisdictions might prefer to begin with systems that respond only to patient-initiated requests.
- 7. Donation coordinators will have to tailor their conversations to ensure the patient remains the centre of the MAID or WLSM and organ donation process, to ensure patient autonomy.
- **8.** When an approach is to be made, discussions should happen early to allow individuals time to consider the options, ask questions, and to plan accordingly.
- **9.** Patients and their families should be provided with standardized information resources, such as online material or pamphlets to help guide responses to donation inquiries. The decision to proceed with MAID or WLSM must precede discussions about donation.

<u>Consent</u>

- **10.** The patient must have the ability to provide first-person consent to MAID or WLSM as well as to organ and or tissue donation.
- **11.** Physicians, MAID assessors, and WLSM or MAID providers should be cognizant of the risk of coercion or undue influence on patients to donate their organs; however, the patient's altruistic intentions should not be discouraged.
- 12. Donation discussions must respect patient autonomy and first-person consent should be obtained and upheld. Although it is welcomed and encouraged that family members are included in donation conversations, consent must be obtained from the patient and conversations should be focused on them.
- **13.** The individual should be informed and understand that they may withdraw consent for MAID or donation at any time, and that withdrawal of consent for donation does not affect their consent for, or access to, MAID or WLSM.
- 14. The donation team should make every effort to resolve conflict, through dialogue, between the patient's expressed wishes to donate and a family's disagreement. First-person consent should direct all subsequent decisions unless consent was revoked.
- **15.** If a conscious and competent patient provides first-person consent to donate after WLSM but subsequently loses decisional capacity, there is a strong case for proceeding with donation after WLSM because the patient was adequately informed about the decision by a trained donation expert and gave consent in the context of their illness

and an anticipated imminent death. However, if a patient loses capacity prior to the MAID procedure, then MAID procedures cannot be carried out.

16. The donation team must understand and abide by the laws and policies of their jurisdiction with respect to reporting of MAID deaths (e.g. coroner, special committee). To facilitate donation, these parties should be contacted prior to the MAID procedure, in accordance with the current laws and policies.

Donor testing and evaluation

- **17.** Primary care physicians, and staff or organ donation organizations, MAID providers and transplant teams should work to minimize the impact and inconvenience to the patient of donating their organs. This could include scheduling home visits for blood draws and coordinating investigations (e.g. x-rays, ultrasound) to minimize hospital visits and inconvenience to the individual.
- **18.** Transplant teams and surgeons should work with the donation team to determine the minimum necessary investigations, to avoid the burden of excessive assessments and testing.
- **19.** Donor teams should routinely discuss the potential impact of unanticipated results from the donor investigations, including previously undiagnosed infectious diseases, and their impact on public health reporting and contact tracing.

MAID procedures

20. Consent for MAID must be reaffirmed prior to the MAID procedure. The health care team or MAID provider should reaffirm consent prior to relocation to the hospital and prior to beginning any antemortem interventions for the purposes of facilitating donation. This may reduce the momentum of the donation process and reduce the potential for patients to feel pressured to continue with MAID in the interest of ensuring organ donation.

Determination of death

- 21. The dead donor rule must always be respected. Vital organs can only be procured only from a donor who is already deceased; the act of procurement cannot be the immediate cause of death.
- **22.** For determination of death, absence of a palpable pulse alone, is not sufficient. If arterial monitoring is not available, alternate means of determining absence of anterograde circulation should be used in conjunction with absence of a palpable pulse, such as a carotid perfusion ultrasound, Doppler monitoring, aortic valve ultrasound or an isoelectric EKG to determine asystole.
- **23.** As with all cases of DCDD, death should be confirmed by a second physician after a 5minute 'no touch' period of continuous observation during which time no donor-based interventions are permitted.

Protection for patients

Separation of decisions

- 24. To avoid any real or perceived conflict of commitment, health care practitioners should separate the decision regarding WLSM or MAID from discussions concerning donation. Providers who are assessing eligibility for MAID should not be involved in donation discussions. Discussions concerning donation should happen only after WLSM decisions are made, or patients have been found eligible for MAID by 2 independent assessments.
- **25.** The primary health care team should acknowledge patient inquiries concerning donation that are made prior to a decision to proceed with MAID or WLSM. General information on deceased organ and tissue donation may be provided. However, specific discussion and decisions pertaining to donation should wait until the decision to proceed with MAID or WLSM has been finalized.
- 26. Patients may wish to postpone their MAID procedure, owing to a temporary improvement in their health or an event they wish to experience prior to their death. The freedom of the patient to postpone their MAID procedure must be reinforced and preserved and every effort should be made to honor their wishes to donate their organs should their MAID procedure be rescheduled.

Directed and conditional donation

- 27. No restrictions should be placed on potential organ recipients. Directed deceased donation (direction of a patient's organs to a specific recipient) or conditional donation (e.g. organs will be donated only if the patient can place conditions on what social groups may or may not access them) from patients considering MAID or WLSM should be neither offered nor encouraged.
- **28.** Living donation prior to death from patients considering MAID or WLSM should be neither offered nor encouraged.
- **29.** Should a patient insist on directed deceased donation or living donation prior to death, the request should be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Separation of roles

- **30.** Consistent with current guidelines and practice regarding DCDD, separation should be maintained between the EOL care, donation, and transplant teams. Surgical recovery and transplant teams should not be involved in the patient's end-of-life care or MAID or WLSM procedure. The only exception is insofar as they may provide guidance for minimal requirements for donor investigations or premortem interventions.
- **31.** Patients who wish to donate their organs after MAID or WLSM, but who request that their decision to pursue MAID/WLSM remain confidential, should be informed of the risk that their family members may discover incisions associated with surgical retrieval of organs. They should be encouraged to disclose their decision to family members; however, there is no obligation to stop the donation process should the patient wish to maintain the confidentiality of their MAID or WLSM procedure.

32. That an organ donor received MAID should not be disclosed to the potential recipient during allocation; however, medically relevant information regarding their underlying disease may be disclosed according to guidelines for exceptional distribution, where applicable.

Supports for patients and families

- **33.** Specially trained professionals, such as donation physicians and coordinators, patient navigators, or social workers, must be available to answer the patient's questions and facilitate the coordination of their MAID or WLSM and donation. This may take place over a period of many weeks. The patient and their family must be provided with specific instructions on how to access these resources.
- **34.** Support should be available in an optimally convenient location and setting for the patient, such as home visits or coordination with visits to clinics. For patients in remote locations, video-based technologies may be of assistance.
- **35.** The donation team should work with the patient, their family, and the MAID or WLSM provider to develop a plan and best possible options for the MAID or WLSM procedure that accommodates the wishes of the patient, preserving the opportunity to donate and reconciling coordination of hospital logistics.
- **36.** Ongoing access to support for patients and their families is critical. Despite patient consent, donation might not proceed due to failure to find a suitable recipient, deterioration of health that compromises medical eligibility to donate, surgical findings during organ recovery, or withdrawal of consent by the patient. These patients and their families must continue to receive support even if donation does not proceed.
- 37. Continued support must be available to family members after the patient's death. Processes need to be developed to ensure families are given the opportunity to provide feedback on their experience, which may help with their grieving process and may help inform quality improvement measures.

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and neurodegenerative diseases

- **38.** People with ALS and patients with other non-transmissible neurodegenerative diseases should be offered the opportunity to donate organs after their death.
- **39.** ODOs should exercise caution regarding allocation of organs from donors with undiagnosed or rapidly progressive neurodegenerative diseases, as these may pose elevated risks to recipients. Organ allocation in this context should follow existing exceptional distribution policies and practices.
- **40.** Transplant professionals must balance the benefits of the transplant against any potential for harm of receiving a transplant of an organ from a donor with a neurological illness. Transplant professionals must use their discretion to help the transplant candidate navigate the decision. The surgeon may wish to consult the donor's neurologist to help inform their advice to the transplant candidate.
- **41.** All cases of ALS or other neurodegenerative diseases that arise in transplant recipients should be reported to Health Canada to determine potential associations with donor illness and baseline risk of neurodegenerative illness in transplant recipients (e.g. whether transplant recipients, in general, have rates of ALS that differ from the general population).

- **42.** Physicians who follow organ recipients should be: aware that the donation was by a patient with neurodegenerative disease such as ALS, aware of theoretical transmission risk of neurodegenerative diseases, and cognizant of symptoms or complaints that warrant further investigation by a neurologist to determine if a neurodegenerative disease is present.
- **43.** Active monitoring (i.e., regular visits to a neurologist) is NOT recommended for transplant recipients who have received an organ from a donor with a neurodegenerative disease. Neurological monitoring would impose a substantial burden on the recipient and present no benefit to the recipient, particularly as there is currently no value in early detection of these illnesses.
- **44.** Information resources should be available for transplant candidates and for transplant professionals to help with the decision regarding whether to accept or refuse an organ for transplant. A means of obtaining a consult from a specialist neurologist in neurodegeneration may also be useful in helping the potential recipient make an informed decision. This information should also be available to ODOs and the donation professionals responsible for assessing the eligibility of the patient who is considering donation.

Health care professionals

- **45.** Health care professionals may exercise a conscientious objection to MAID or WLSM specifically, but they should strive to accommodate the wishes of the donor by ensuring that their objection to MAID or WLSM does not impede the ability of the patient to donate.
- **46.** Health care professionals should act in accordance with provincial and territorial requirements as well as professional and regulatory college requirements for effective referral.
- **47.** Health care professionals responsible for the care of conscious, competent patients who have requested WLSM or MAID and donation should be briefed so they are familiar with the patient's end-of-life plan and relevant policies and procedures.
- **48.** Debriefing after the procedure (i.e., MAID or WLSM with or without donation) should be offered every time to all members of the health care team who participated. Debriefing by an external resource may be beneficial so that team members feel comfortable sharing their experience.
- **49.** Psychological support, such as that offered through employee assistance plans (EAP), should be accessed when required. Staff of employee assistance plans may benefit from additional training and education regarding MAID with or without donation to adequately meet the needs of these health care professionals.
- **50.** Hospitals must ensure that staff are available who are willing and able to honor the patient's wishes to donate after their death or have an effective referral plan in place.
- **51.** Participation of health care professionals in MAID and in organ donation by patients who received MAID should be voluntary, when possible, without interfering with the patient's access to care. The health care team should be well informed and well briefed so that they understand the patient's wishes and the outcome they are working towards as well as relevant policies and procedures.

Reporting

- **52.** Clinicians must be aware of the reporting and documentation requirements for MAID and WLSM and for donation in their jurisdiction.
- **53.** Records pertaining to organ donation after MAID, as well as donation and transplant outcomes, should be reported federally and be accessible to clinicians, researchers, and administrators. Transplant outcomes should be easily cross-referenced with the underlying illness of the MAID donor.

Figure 1 outlines the clinical pathway for organ donation in conscious competent patients.

Figure 1. The Clinical Pathway for Organ Donation in Conscious Competent Patients



Overview

A. Workshop Overview

In order to gather perspectives and insight from multiple stakeholders across Canada, Canadian Blood Services hosted a workshop in Toronto on May 15 and 16, 2017. The two-day forum brought together medical, legal, and bioethics experts, as well as patients, from across Canada. The goal of this forum was to develop expert guidance for clinicians, donation program/organ donation organization (ODO) administrators, end-of-life (EOL) care experts, MAID providers and policy makers regarding organ and tissue donation from a conscious and competent patient. The workshop agenda and background documents are provided in Appendices 3 to 8.

Purpose and objectives

- 1) Analyze organ and tissue donation in the conscious competent patient from legal, medical, and ethical perspectives.
- 2) Develop and publish expert guidance for offering organ and tissue donation to patients who have made a decision that will lead to imminent death:
 - a. Conscious competent patients who have chosen to withdraw mechanical ventilation (includes invasive and non-invasive mechanical ventilation).
 - b. Conscious competent patients who have chosen to withdraw extracorporeal support including ECMO and/or other mechanical circulatory support.
 - c. Eligible patients who have requested MAID.
- 3) Develop a knowledge translation strategy that includes all relevant stakeholders.
- 4) Identify questions for research.

Planning committee and key contributors

The planning committee members are noted below. See Appendix 2 for a full list of workshop participants.

Ms. Amber Appleby

Associate Director, Canadian Blood Services

Dr. Daniel Z. Buchman

Bioethicist, University Health Network Member, Joint Centre for Bioethics Assistant Professor, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto

Dr. James Downar, Co-chair

Critical Care and Palliative Care Physician, University Health Network and Sinai Health System Associate Professor, Department of Medicine, University of Toronto Chair, Ethical Affairs Committee, Canadian Critical Care Society

Dr. Marie-Chantal Fortin

Associate Professor, Bioethics Program, Department of Social and Preventive Medicine, École de santé publique de l'Université de Montréal Researcher, Nephrology and Transplantation Division, Centre de recherche du Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CRCHUM) Chair, Ethics Committee, Canadian Society of Transplantation

Mr. Clay Gillrie

Senior Program Manager, Canadian Blood Services

Dr. Aviva Goldberg

Head Pediatric Nephrologist, Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, University of Manitoba Clinical Ethicist, University of Manitoba Director, Canadian Society of Transplantation

Ms. Vanessa Gruben

Associate Professor, Faculty of Law, University of Ottawa Member, Centre for Health Law, Policy and Ethics

Ms. Jehan Lalani Program Manager, Canadian Blood Services

Dr. Michael D. Sharpe, Co-chair

Intensivist, London Health Sciences Centre, Professor, Department of Anesthesia and Perioperative Medicine, Schulich School of Medicine, University of Western Ontario Treasurer, Canadian Critical Care Society

Dr. Sam D. Shemie, Project Medical Advisor, Process Consultant and Workshop Facilitator

Division of Pediatric Critical Care Montreal Children's Hospital McGill University Health Centre and Research Institute Professor of Pediatrics, McGill University Medical Advisor, Deceased Donation, Canadian Blood Services

Dr. Christen Shoesmith

Neurologist, Medical Director, London Health Sciences Centre ALS Clinic Assistant Professor, Clinical Neurological Sciences, Western University Member, Canadian Neurological Sciences Federation

International expert

Dr. Dirk Ysebaert

Vice-Dean, Faculty of Medicine, University of Antwerp Director, Department of Hepatobiliary, Transplantation and Endocrine Surgery, Antwerp Transplant Center. Dr. Ysebaert is Head of the Department of Hepatobiliary, Transplantation and Endocrine Surgery, Antwerp University Hospital. Dr. Ysebaert is Professor of Surgery, Antwerp Surgical Training and Research Center (ASTARC) at the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences (Antwerp University). He has served as president and vice president of the Belgian Society for Transplantation, Councilor for the European Society for Organ Transplantation, and as a board member for the Eurotransplant International Foundation. Dr. Ysebaert has over one hundred publications, including the euthanasia and organ donation experience in Belgium.

Stakeholders

Stakeholders are individuals, groups, and organizations with a significant stake in the purpose, objectives, and outcomes of this process. It is important to consider the impact of recommendations on several stakeholder constituencies. For the purposes of the project, we considered the potential impacts on the following stakeholder groups (listed in alphabetical order):

- Coroners and Medical Examiners
- Health authorities, governments, and policy-makers
- Health care professionals and administrators who are involved in critical care, emergency medicine, neurology
- Health care professionals who care for dying patients and administrators with responsibility for the program
- Institutions, e.g., hospitals, health care regions
- MAID providers and assessors
- Organ Donation Organizations (ODO), donation personnel, health care professionals and administrators who may take part in the donation process
- Partners in the leading practice development process
- Patients and society-at-large
- Research funders and organizations

In scope

- 1) Controlled DCDD in patients with the following features:
 - a. Awake, conscious and competent;
 - b. Adults or mature minors;
 - c. Ability to provide first-person informed consent to make their own treatment and/or end-of-life (EOL) decisions; and
 - d. Have chosen an EOL care intervention that would lead to imminent death:
 - i. Withdrawal of life-sustaining measures, or
 - ii. Medical assistance in dying consistent with existing or evolving federal and provincial legislation.
- 2) Pathogenesis and transmissibility of illnesses that would make a patient eligible for MAID or WLSM with influence on medical eligibility for organ donation.
- 3) Ethical implications and potential outcomes of allowing organ and tissue donation by these patients.

- 4) Education and training requirements for health care professionals.
- 5) Public and patient awareness.

Out of scope

- 1) Ethics of MAID or WLSM
- 2) Best practices for MAID or WLSM independent of organ and tissue donation.
- 3) Donation by euthanasia (i.e. organ donation that does not adhere to the dead donor rule).
- 4) Living organ donation.

Assumptions and key considerations

- 1) Organ donation and transplantation is broadly accepted and supported by workshop participants and the Canadian public; organ donation and transplantation benefits society.
- 2) Current Canadian controlled DCDD guidelines² do not sufficiently address the management of conscious competent patients.
- 3) Requests for organ and tissue donation by conscious competent patients requires clinical, bioethical and legal guidance.
- 4) Optimal care of the dying patient is the priority of health care workers.
- 5) Decisions made via first person informed consent are the highest standard of decision making for treatment and EOL care.
- 6) Consistent with existing laws and practices, deceased organ donation must adhere to the dead donor rule.
- 7) Professional integrity should always be maintained. Health care providers are guided by their own values and beliefs as well as professional values and practice standards.

B. Workshop Process

Prior to the workshop, the planning committee commissioned a survey, performed literature searches, and developed background documents to guide and support discussion on the following topics:

- 1) Canadian attitudes towards organ and tissue donation by conscious competent patients; Appendix 3 - IPSOS Public Survey
- 2) Requests for organ donation by conscious, competent patients; Appendix 4 Gruben, Yazdami, and Goldberg
- 3) Pathogenesis and potential transmissibility of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; Appendix 5 Shoesmith
- 4) Conscientious objection as it relates to donation after MAID; Appendix 6 Buchman and Gruben

The workshop was structured around plenary presentations by Canadian and international clinicians, organ donation and transplantation ethicists and legal experts, a coroner, and patient partners. See Appendix 7 for full agenda.

Attendees were divided into smaller groups throughout the meeting to discuss and make recommendations regarding specific challenge questions that were informed by fact sheets and expert presentations. See Appendix 8 for fact sheets and challenge questions. Key points and conclusions from these groups were then shared in plenary.

Withdrawal of life-sustaining measures and controlled donation after circulatory determination of death

The majority of controlled DCDD cases occur after acute devastating brain injury. In such cases, the patient is unconscious and, thus, not competent to participate in their own EOL care decisions. While intent to donate decisions may have been registered or indicated in advance, decisions concerning EOL care, WLSM and donation are made by the patient's substitute decision maker (SDM) in consultation with the health care team.

There are other groups of patients with illnesses that are incurable and terminal but are not associated with devastating brain injury. These patients may be conscious, competent, and capable of actively participating in decisions about their EOL care, including decisions for WLSM or MAID, as well as consenting to organ donation.

WLSM is the most common event preceding death in Canadian intensive care units⁶ and is a step in the clinical pathway of nearly all DCDD organ donors. The decision by the patient's SDM to withdraw treatment is based on poor prognosis, concern for the patient's suffering, and/or poor future quality of life⁷ and should be consistent with the patient's values and/or prior expressed wishes.

While many of these patients may be eligible to donate organs, there are several barriers to organ donation in this population. These include a failure to identify a potential donor; failures on behalf of the health care team to approach SDMs for authorization for donation, refusal of

authorization by the family or SDM, death not occurring in a specified time period that allows suitable organs for transplantation and lack of resources for surgical retrieval of organs and transplantation.⁸ Only about 2 per cent of in-hospital deaths may be considered potential donors and, of these, only one in six will actually donate an organ.⁸

Medical assistance in dying

The legal landscape around MAID has evolved rapidly in Canada following the Supreme Court decision that prohibitions in the *Criminal Code of Canada* were unconstitutional and the passing of legislation, first in Quebec⁵ and then by the Federal Government of Canada⁴, permitting MAID under certain circumstances. Specifically, the patient must have a "grievous and irremediable medical condition", defined by the following criteria:

- a) they have a serious and incurable illness, disease or disability;
- b) they are in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability;
- c) that illness, disease or disability or that state of decline causes them enduring physical or psychological suffering that is intolerable to them and that cannot be relieved under conditions that they consider acceptable; and
- d) their natural death has become reasonably foreseeable, taking into account all of their medical circumstances, without a prognosis necessarily having been made as to the specific length of time that they have remaining.¹

Early demographics for MAID

Statistics for MAID cases in Canada at the time this forum occurred were available from the period July 1, 2016 to Dec. 31, 2016 (Dec. 10, 2015 to Dec. 31, 2016 for Quebec) and are summarized in Table 1. Nearly half of all the assisted deaths – 463 – took place in Quebec, where a separate end-of-life law took effect on Dec. 10, 2015, six months before the federal law came into effect. Compared with other countries⁹⁻¹¹, the early experience in Canada is notable for an underrepresentation of cancer patients and a higher incidence in patients with chronic neurological conditions. Accordingly, Canada has the highest rates of multiple sclerosis in the world.¹²

It is unclear if this early trend of MAID in Canadian patients with chronic neurological conditions will continue, as it may be due to an initial overrepresentation of patients with chronic (noncancer) illnesses who were waiting for MAID to become available to them. Patients seeking MAID for terminal cancer are often not medically eligible to become donors; therefore, those who comprise the pool of potential donors among MAID patients have underlying illnesses within the other categories.

¹ s. 241.2(2) of the Criminal Code of Canada.

Table 1. Demographics of MAID

Cause of Death	Netherlands ⁹	Belgium ¹⁰	US*11	Canada
Cancer	79%	80%	80%	57%
Cardiovascular	4%	4%	3%	110/
Respiratory		5%	4%	1170
Neurological	16%	7%	8%	23%
"Other"		4%	5%	8%
Annual Cases (cases/million)	3800 (224)	2800 (247)	100 (0.3)	970 (27)

* Euthanasia is illegal in the United States and assisted suicide is only permitted in some states, therefore organ donation is not possible.

Rationale for donation after MAID and WLSM

A review of the literature found support for offering the opportunity to donate organs after death to patients seeking MAID or WLSM, while also highlighting some ethical concerns as illustrated below in Table 2.

Table 2. Rationales for and against deceased organ donation following MAID/WLSM (adapted from Shaw DM¹³)

Ra	tionale in support of organ donation following MAID/WLSM
•	Could increase the number of organs available for donation ¹⁴⁻²⁴
	 Organs may be of better quality than conventional DCDD²⁰
•	Respect for individual autonomy and self-determination ^{14, 16, 17, 25-28}
•	Personal benefit to the donor, whose own death may easier to bear if he or she
	knows that death will save or improve the life of another ^{16, 28}
	 Likewise, benefit to family by providing increased solace or comfort during
	their grieving
•	Cost-effectiveness as a factor in favor of permitting organ donation in these
	circumstances ^{16, 24}
•	May increase public acceptance of assisted dying ²⁴
Со	ncerns about organ donation following MAID/WLSM
•	May unduly pressure patients — a person who may not otherwise opt for MAID
	might choose to die to donate his or her organs to help others ¹⁶
•	Permitting organ donation following WLSM or MAID could undermine public trust in
	the organ donation system because "physicians would be tempted to be deliberately
	pessimistic about the patient's prognosis to enhance the patient decision to request
	for withdrawal of treatment" ²⁵

Public perception

In September 2016, Canadian Blood Services commissioned IPSOS to conduct a survey of Canadian adults (n = 1,006) concerning their attitudes towards organ donation in competent conscious patients:

- 92 per cent approve of people donating their organs at the time of their death
- Strong support for conscious competent patients donating their organs after WLSM (87%) or MAID (80%)
 - Significantly more oppose donation after MAID (12%) than after WLSM (6%)
- Concerns of those opposed to donation after WLSM/MAID include:
 - Transmission of illness (48%)
 - Pressure on vulnerable patients to choose WLSM or MAID sooner than they may have otherwise (46%)
 - Pressure on vulnerable persons to donate their organs (43%)
- 80 per cent agree donation should be discussed with all patients regardless of illness or EOL decisions
- 83 per cent agree that the decision to donate organs should be confirmed prior to EOL care administration
 - 53 per cent agree that donation should be discussed AFTER a decision has been made regarding EOL
- 25 per cent were undecided whether they would receive an organ from a donor following WLSM or MAID

These findings show that Canadians broadly support that conscious competent patients should be offered the opportunity to donate after MAID or WLSM; however, a minority of respondents were opposed to donation after MAID or WLSM citing concerns about transmission of illness to the recipient and pressure or coercion of the donating individual. See Appendix 3 for full report.

Donation after MAID – Early experience in Canada

Ontario, British Columbia and Quebec have the most experience with donation after MAID. As of April 2018, Ontario has performed eight organ donations, British Columbia has performed three, and Quebec has performed four donations. The *Trillium Gift of Life Network Act* in Ontario requires that Trillium Gift of Life (TGLN) be contacted when a patient's death is imminent.²⁹ This has been interpreted to require routine referral to the ODO of patients accessing MAID.³⁰ In Quebec, the Commission de l'éthique en science et en technologie (CEST) and Transplant Quebec initially provided conflicting guidance on routine requesting in this context.^{14, 31, 32} Transplant Quebec initially discouraged raising donation with patients seeking MAID and, instead, offered donation only when patients make a 'double request', that is for MAID and for organ donation. Transplant Quebec has subsequently changed their policy and is now in agreement with routine requesting.

Anecdotally, some donor coordinators have reported comfort with the patient being able to express their own wishes and provide first person consent concerning donation; however, others have reported considerable emotional strain from these interactions. Transplant physicians and surgeons may have reservations about donation by conscious competent patients in both MAID and WLSM due to ethical concerns. Discomfort or misunderstanding with these circumstances may preclude transplantation.

Another challenge has been performing suitability assessments of potential donors. These tests (e.g. blood work, diagnostic imaging) are normally performed in hospital; however, many conscious competent patients are not hospitalized during this period and may have difficulty travelling for purposes of assessment due to their illness.

The ODOs/donation programs, transplant programs, clinical ethicists and bioethics committees, and clinicians across Canada have initiated work in developing processes to allow conscious competent patients to donate after WLSM or MAID; however, policies concerning eligibility of patients with neurodegenerative illnesses to donate, donor suitability assessments, permissibility of pre-mortem interventions, logistics and methods of death determination, continue to be the subject of discourse and evolving practice.

Donation after euthanasia in Belgium

Belgium legalized euthanasia in 2002, one year after the Netherlands. Patients eligible for euthanasia in Belgium must have a medical condition with constant and unbearable physical or mental pain, which cannot be relieved.²⁶ Belgian law states: "The patient is an adult or an emancipated minor, capable and conscious at the time of his/her request. The request is made voluntarily, is well thought out and reiterated, and is not the result of outside pressure."

Key differences from Canada's legislation are that Belgium allows euthanasia for patients whose disease is not terminal, including mental illness, and for mature minors. In Belgium, euthanasia and donation require separate decisions by the patient and are administered by separate health care personnel. Currently, patients are not actively approached as there is a concern of pressure or coercion, but patient-initiated requests are considered. Patient-initiated donation discussions may take place after permission for euthanasia has been granted.

Euthanasia must take place in hospital to allow for donation and the procedure takes place in or near an operating theatre to minimize ischemic time. While every effort is made to accommodate the wishes of the patient and their family and to ensure their comfort, some patients decline to donate, as they prefer to die at home.

Belgium considers donation after euthanasia to be a distinct category of DCDD and all cases in Belgium adhere to the dead donor rule. Procedures are performed by senior medical and nursing staff and their participation is voluntary.

In the donation-after-euthanasia process, heparin is administered directly after the euthanasia medications and death declaration is made by three clinicians. Determination of death is made clinically and there is no invasive monitoring required, preventing the need for invasive arterial blood pressure monitoring. A five-minute 'no touch' period is observed before organ retrieval

begins. In the case of lung donation, the donor is intubated and ventilated following the fiveminute 'no touch' period. Since the combination of drugs used for euthanasia is considered by some to be cardiotoxic, heart transplants are not currently possible following euthanasia in Belgium. Patients have expressed a strong desire to be able to donate their heart and there has been discussion, in the interest of patient autonomy, to develop strategies that would enable heart donation.

After the potential donor is assessed and medical eligibility is confirmed, Eurotransplant coordinates allocation four hours before the euthanasia procedure. Transplant centres are informed about the cause of death (i.e. that the donor had died by euthanasia). Eurotransplant allocation may take place between different countries; however, organs will not be allocated to patients in countries that do not accept donors who died by euthanasia. Furthermore, transplant candidates on the waitlist are able to indicate whether they would accept organs from donors after euthanasia. Directed donation is not permitted; however, Eurotransplant may inform transplant centres of a wish to direct donation and they may, at their discretion, allow the request to be facilitated even in cases where they may not have priority on the waitlist. There is no systematic monitoring of recipients for development of transmissible neurological illness in Belgium; however, adverse events are reported.

In 2015, euthanasia accounted for 2,022/110,508 deaths (1.8%) of all deaths in the country and there were eight donors after euthanasia accounting for 2.5 per cent of all deceased organ donors. Approximately 75 per cent of those receiving euthanasia were patients in the terminal phase of malignant disease and therefore not eligible to donate. From 2005-2015, 23 patients, with a mean age of 49.3 years, became organ donors after euthanasia. The underlying illnesses of these patients were neuropsychiatric disorders (n = 7), stroke/bleeding (n = 4), multiple sclerosis (n = 5), other neurodegenerative diseases (n = 10), and unbearable pain (n = 2). The mean time to circulatory arrest was 7.9 minutes and perfusion was initiated an average of 19.4 minutes after circulatory arrest. ³³

As of 2015, 92 organs (45 kidneys, 21 livers, 16 lungs, 10 islets) were transplanted from 23 donors and the organ quality from post-euthanasia patients has been very good. Some tissues have been transplanted as well; however, concerns over transmission of neurological illness have limited tissue transplantation in some cases.

International policies on donation after medically-assisted death

While medically-assisted death is permitted in several countries now, donation is not possible in all these jurisdictions. See Table 3. In Switzerland, assisted suicide is legal but subsequent donation is not possible, in part, because the procedure is performed by non-physicians and does not occur in hospital. In Luxembourg, the law states that organs may only be procured after cessation of treatment due to extensive damage to the brain; therefore, conscious competent patients cannot consent to deceased donation.

 Table 3: Policies on organ donation in countries where medically-assisted death is permitted

 (adapted from Allard and Fortin, J Med Ethics, 2017)

Country or State	Policy on Organ Donation
Switzerland (assisted suicide by	Not possible
non-physician)	
Belgium (euthanasia)	Possible at patient request ³³
Netherlands (euthanasia,	Possible after euthanasia at patient's request;
assisted suicide)	working on an official post euthanasia donation
	protocol ²⁷
Luxembourg (euthanasia)	Illegal
Oregon, Washington, Vermont,	Not possible
and Montana (assisted suicide)	
Ontario, Canada	Routine request
Quebec, Canada	Patient-initiated initially, currently routine request

C. Recommendations and Considerations in Relation to the Clinical Pathway

Figure 1 outlines the clinical pathway for organ donation in conscious competent patients.





1. The conscious competent patient

	Withdrawal of Life-Sustaining Measures (WLSM)	Medical Assistance in Dying (MAID
1. The conscious competent patient	1.A End stage disease on life sustaining treatment	1.B Grievous and Irremediable medical condition

Conscious competent patients are:

- a. Awake, conscious and competent as defined by the laws of their respective jurisdiction;
- b. Adults, or mature minors for WLSM (not currently eligible for MAID);
- c. Able to provide first-person informed consent to make their own treatment and/or end-of-life (EOL) decisions; and
- d. Have chosen an EOL care intervention that would lead to imminent death:
 - i. Withdrawal of life-sustaining measures (WLSM),
 - ii. Medical Assistance in Dying (MAID) consistent with existing or evolving federal and provincial legislation.

These patients may enter the controlled DCDD pathway via two routes:

- 1.A) Withdrawal of life-sustaining measures (WLSM), including:
- invasive or non-invasive mechanical breathing support;
- artificial airways;
- cardiovascular support:
 - Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO)
 - Left ventricular assist device.

1.B) Medical assistance in dying (MAID)

• In accordance with An Act to amend the Criminal Code and to make related amendments to other Acts (medical assistance in dying) S.C. 2016, c. 3¹ and the relevant provincial legislation.

Stakeholders in this phase of the clinical pathway -

- Patient and family
- Primary care provider or treating team

2. Decision for WLSM or MAID



2.A) Consideration of EOL care

- The patient and his or her primary treating team may discuss and consider options at EOL in a manner that is consistent with the patient's values and with professional standards.
- Conversations should ensure that patients fully understand prognosis and treatment options.
- The health care team (and MAID assessors in the case of MAID) must ensure that the patient has the capacity to make an informed decision.

2.B) Consensual decision for WLSM

- In patients with irrecoverable or life-limiting conditions, refers to the consensual decision (between the health care team and patient) to stop life-sustaining treatments.
- Patients who request WLSM discuss this request with their attending doctor; no formal written request is required.

2.C) Patient request for MAID

- To seek approval for MAID, the patient must make a written request that is signed and dated.
- According to law, the initial assessment should take place before the written request is signed, to ensure that the patient has been informed about the nature of their grievous and irremediable condition and has given informed consent to proceed with MAID. A second, independent MAID assessment can be performed before or after the signed request.
- The request for MAID is subject to a ten-day reflection period prior to the MAID procedure. This reflection period begins when the written request is signed. It may be shortened if both assessors agree that there is an anticipated loss of capacity or natural death is imminent.

Stakeholders in this phase of clinical pathway include:

- Patient and family
- Primary treating team
- MAID assessors

Recommendations: Deceased organ donation in conscious and competent patients

- 1. Medically suitable, conscious and competent patients who provide first person consent to end-of-life procedures should be given the opportunity to donate organs and tissues. Patients who seek MAID or WLSM should not be prohibited from donating organs and tissues.
- 2. Before consenting to WLSM or MAID, patients should carefully consider all end-of-life options with their physician or health care professional.

3. Referral and suitability



3.A) Referral to the ODO

- Provincial or territorial ODO is notified; process proceeds according to provincial policies and procedures, usually triggered when death is imminent
- Referral to the ODO is mandatory when death is imminent in British Columbia, Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec; similar legislation in Nova Scotia is awaiting proclamation. Alberta has mandatory consideration after death determination. At the time of this report, Saskatchewan has made it permissive to share personal information of a person whose death is imminent with the ODO for the purposes of determining suitability to donate, but a referral is not mandatory.
- For MAID, provincial procedures may vary from routine referral to patient-initiated referral

3.B) Eligibility for organ/tissue donation

- Patients are assessed for eligibility for organ and tissue donation.
 - Medical eligibility (exclusions due to metastatic cancer, etc.)
 - Logistical eligibility
 - Is deceased donation available in their region?
 - MAID/WLSM must occur in hospital

Stakeholders in this phase of the clinical pathway

- Primary treating team
- ODO personnel
- MAID assessors/providers

Recommendations: Referral to an organ donation organization

3. *Referral to the organ donation organization should occur as soon as is practical after the decision to proceed with WLSM or determination of eligibility for MAID.*

Preliminary evaluation of the patient's eligibility to donate should be performed prior to the donation approach, if possible. This avoids the potential distress of making a request or obtaining consent for donation only to have to inform the patient that they are medically or logistically ineligible.

4. Approach and consent



4.A Information about organ and tissue donation shared with patient
4.B First person consent for organ and/ or tissue donation

4.D Donor testing and evaluation

4.C Consider notification of coroner consistent with provincial policies

4.A) Information sharing about donation

- If the patient is eligible after assessment in 3.B, information about donation may be shared
- The approach should be made by a trained professional, such as an ODO coordinator
- The patient must be informed of specific requirements for their EOL care to preserve the opportunity for donation, such as:
 - The WLSM or MAID needs to occur in a hospital to facilitate timely access to an operating room for surgical retrieval of organs;
 - Tests or evaluations of organ function may be required prior to the patient's WLSM or MAID (see 4.D below);
 - ODO and transplant surgeons may request pre-mortem interventions, such as heparin, to preserve organ quality during the donation process.

4.B) First-person consent for organ and tissue donation

• Consent for deceased organ donation is obtained directly from the capable conscious competent patient (after MAID approval or WLSM decision).

4.C) Notification of coroner/medical examiner

• Consideration for notification of the coroner according to provincial policy and procedure.

4.D) Donor testing and evaluation

- The ODO and transplant surgeons may request tests, such as:
 - o Blood work
 - Imaging (e.g. chest X-ray)
 - Organ function tests

Stakeholders in this phase of clinical pathway:

- Patient and family
- Primary treating team
- ODO personnel, transplant surgeons

Recommendations: Conversations about donation

- 4. The decision to proceed with MAID or WLSM must be separate from, and must precede, the decision to donate.
- 5. Treating physicians, MAID providers, and MAID assessors should be educated on how to respond to inquiries concerning organ donation. This should include how the decision to donate may affect the end-of-life care process and options, and when to refer patients to the organ donation organization. The organ donation organizations should develop checklists or discussion guides to facilitate donation conversations to ensure patients are consistently well informed.
- 6. All eligible, medically suitable patients should be given an opportunity to consider organ and tissue donation, consistent with provincial or territorial required referral legislation, regional policy, and ethical principles of respect for autonomy and self-determination. However, this must be reconciled with regional values and health care culture. Initially, some jurisdictions might prefer to begin with systems that respond only to patient-initiated requests.
- 7. Donation coordinators will have to tailor their conversations to ensure the patient remains the centre of the MAID or WLSM and organ donation process, to ensure patient autonomy.
- 8. When an approach is to be made, discussions should happen early to allow individuals time to consider the options, ask questions, and to plan accordingly.
- 9. Patients and their families should be provided with standardized information resources, such as online material or pamphlets to help guide responses to donation inquiries. The decision to proceed with MAID or WLSM must precede discussions about donation.

Recommendations: Consent

- **10.** The patient must have the ability to provide first-person consent to MAID or WLSM as well as to organ and or tissue donation.
- **11.** Physicians, MAID assessors, and WLSM or MAID providers should be cognizant of the risk of coercion or undue influence on patients to donate their organs; however, the patient's altruistic intentions should not be discouraged.
- **12.** Donation discussions must respect patient autonomy and first-person consent should be obtained and upheld. Although it is welcomed and encouraged that family members are included in donation conversations, consent must be obtained from the patient and conversations should be focused on them.
- **13**. The individual should be informed and understand that they may withdraw consent for MAID or donation at any time, and that withdrawal of consent for donation does not affect their consent for, or access to, MAID or WLSM.

- 14. The donation team should make every effort to resolve conflict, through dialogue, between the patient's expressed wishes to donate and a family's disagreement. Firstperson consent should direct all subsequent decisions unless consent was revoked.
- 15. If a conscious and competent patient provides first-person consent to donate after WLSM but subsequently loses decisional capacity, there is a strong case for proceeding with donation after WLSM because the patient was adequately informed about the decision by a trained donation expert and gave consent in the context of their illness and an anticipated imminent death. However, if a patient loses capacity prior to the MAID procedure, then MAID procedures cannot be carried out.
- 16. The donation team must understand and abide by the laws and policies of their jurisdiction with respect to reporting of MAID deaths (e.g. coroner, special committee). To facilitate donation, these parties should be contacted prior to the MAID procedure, in accordance with the current laws and policies.

Considerations:

- The conversation should be framed as an approach rather than a request; information should be offered in an unbiased way that allows the patient to make an informed decision consistent with their preferences, values, and beliefs.
- The patient's vulnerability to influence MAID/WLSM and donation may be increased if they have a personal association with a transplant recipient, an individual on a transplant waitlist, or a previous living or deceased donor.
- In accordance with privacy laws, consulting an organ donor registry to discern a patient's willingness to donate may help guide the decision whether or not to make an approach. However, it should be noted that while public opinion polls in Canada show that over 90 per cent of people support donation³⁹, only approximately 30 per cent have registered an intent to donate. Therefore, failing to approach patients on the basis that they have not registered may deny the opportunity to many who are supportive of donation.
- If a patient who has indicated a desire for WLSM inquires about MAID with the intent of improving their opportunity to donate, treating physicians may request advice from the ODO/donation program and the hospital bioethicist on this topic; however, the donation team should not engage with the patient or families until the EOL plan is decided upon. In this regard, the decision to end one's life or allow a natural death should not be driven by the desire to donate organs, but it may be acceptable for the specific end-of-life decision (e.g. MAID rather than WLSM) to be informed by the patient's separate wish to donate. One workshop participant stated that, "we have a duty to respond to questions asked of us by patients [and] it is our duty to bring up the options for dying."
- The clinical team should establish the patient's preferences regarding the confidentiality
 of their EOL decision and whether they want family members or friends to participate in
 these discussions. Care should be taken to ensure the patient's choice to pursue
 MAID/WLSM is not breached to people the patient does not want to disclose this
 information to during donation conversations. For instance, if the donation coordinator

plans to make an approach at an ALS clinic, ensure that the patient gives prior consent to having any family members or friends in attendance during these discussions

- Considerations should be given for different modalities to communicate with patients. Some patients may have difficulty communicating by telephone. If in-person conversations are impractical, consider video chat technology as an alternative as well as the use of visual aids and linguistic interpretation and translation services.
- All communication must be per provincial privacy legislation, local policy and procedure and in accordance with any guidelines for electronic communication.

Recommendations: Donor testing and evaluation

- **17.** Primary care physicians, and staff or organ donation organizations, MAID providers and transplant teams should work to minimize the impact and inconvenience to the patient of donating their organs. This could include scheduling home visits for blood draws and coordinating investigations (e.g. x-rays, ultrasound) to minimize hospital visits and inconvenience to the individual.
- **18.** Transplant teams and surgeons should work with the donation team to determine the minimum necessary investigations, to avoid the burden of excessive assessments and testing.
- 19. Donor teams should routinely discuss the potential impact of unanticipated results from the donor investigations, including previously undiagnosed infectious diseases, and their impact on public health reporting and contact tracing.

5. Medical Procedures

5. Medical procedures	5.A Admission to hospital	5.A Reaffirmation of MAID consent
	5.B Pre mortem donor Interventions	
	5.C WLSM procedures and comfort care	5.D MAID procedures

5.A) Reaffirmation of consent

- Consent is a process it is an ongoing discussion, not an event
- For MAID, the patient must reaffirm their consent prior to the MAID procedure
 - o Patient must maintain capacity to provide consent
- If donation is requested, consent should be confirmed prior to administration of antemortem interventions, such as heparin

5.B) Antemortem interventions

• The EOL care team may administer heparin, steroids, etc. as requested by the transplant team upon prior consent of the patient

• Arterial line (for death determination) may be inserted, upon prior consent of the patient

5.C) WLSM Procedures

- Procedures occur in accordance with provincial and organizational policies and procedures, and consistent with principles of palliative comfort care during WLSM
- May occur in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) or operating room, depending on optimal logistics

5.D) MAID procedures

- For deceased donation to occur, MAID must take place in a hospital
- After reaffirmation of consent, a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner may:
 - o Administer a substance to a person, at their request, that causes their death; or
 - Prescribe or provide a substance to a person, at their request, so that they may self-administer the substance and in doing so cause their own death

Note — For organ donation to be considered after MAID, the substance must be administered by a medical or nurse practitioner.

Stakeholders in this phase of care

- Patient and family (with patient's consent)
- Primary treating team
- MAID providers
- ODO personnel, surgical retrieval team

Recommendations: MAID procedures

20. Consent for MAID must be reaffirmed prior to the MAID procedure. The health care team or MAID provider should reaffirm consent prior to relocation to the hospital and prior to beginning any antemortem interventions for the purposes of facilitating donation. This may reduce the momentum of the donation process and reduce the potential for patients to feel pressured to continue with MAID in the interest of ensuring organ donation.

Considerations:

- There may be a greater need for cooperation among health care professionals and institutions responsible for EOL care, surgical retrieval of organs, and transplantation, as well as the coroner, in the days leading up to the patient's death.^{16, 20} This is particularly important when there may be a prolonged period between the patient's decision to pursue MAID/WLSM and donate their organs, and the date of their MAID/WLSM procedure.
- To preserve the opportunity to donate, the patient must choose a time and location for their MAID/WLSM that permits surgical retrieval of organs. This will require planning and it may put the patient at a disadvantage to wait until final approval for MAID to

discuss donation. However, some participants felt that there was a risk of conflating the two decisions if donation is raised prior to approval for MAID.

- Changes to established plans related to the patient's EOL care, such as a change of date
 or location of their MAID procedure to preserve the opportunity for donation may be
 distressing to the patient and their family and should be avoided if possible. If changes
 are required, the patient should be reminded that they may withdraw consent to
 donate so they may proceed with their MAID procedure as planned.
- Once consent for donation is given, the patient's willingness to withdraw consent may be challenged by the momentum of the donation process. To mitigate pressure on the patient to proceed with their MAID procedure followed by donation of their organs, consider:
 - performing the MAID/WLSM procedure in a separate location from where surgical retrieval of organs would occur; and
 - avoiding any contact between the patient and the recovery/transplant team.
- Loss of capacity need not preclude deceased donation after WLSM if the circumstances
 of the patient's death are compatible with recovery and transplant. Loss of capacity in
 MAID candidates precludes the MAID procedures and thus deceased donation will not
 proceed.
- While there was no consensus among the participants, if the donation team believes that the family is failing to respect the patient's wishes, there might be grounds to challenge a family veto in the event of incapacity and proceed with surgical retrieval of organs following after WLSM.
- Overriding a family's decision to not proceed with donation may have implications for public attitudes toward the donation process. Negative public sentiment could vilify the ODO for proceeding without the family's consent. Conversely, the public could celebrate the ODO for actualizing a patient's dying request despite opposition. While public trust in the organ donation processes is critical, public perception should not guide in the circumstances of managing a family veto.
- The risk of negative public perception could be mitigated by emphasizing the firstperson consent in these cases²⁴, by adopting transparent, consistent processes^{15, 18}, and by separating the decision for WLSM from discussions about donation¹⁴. However, this must be balanced against the perceived and real risk of coercion of the patient to donate.

WLSM and MAID procedures are generally scheduled well in advance and take place during weekdays within regular daytime hours. If the patient requests donation, the EOL process will occur in a hospital where organ recovery occurs, which typically means a larger centre. This should allow for advanced planning to ensure the availability of staff willing to participate in donation after MAID. Hospitals may wish to keep lists of those willing to participate in both MAID and organ donation after MAID to provide this care when it is requested.

6. Death determination and surgical retrieval of organs



6.A Circulatory arrest and determination of death

6.B Surgical retrieval of organ and/or tissues

All deceased donation cases must adhere to the Dead Donor Rule which means:

- i) The removal of organs must not cause the patient's death.
- ii) The donor must be declared dead by either circulatory or neurological criteria before organs are retrieved.

6.A) Circulatory arrest and death determination

- The patient is determined dead according to circulatory criteria based on the permanent cessation of antegrade blood flow with a five-minute observation period
- Cessation of antegrade blood flow is most reliably confirmed by the absence of pulsatile blood pressure with intra-arterial monitoring.
 - While arterial line monitoring is recommended, the patient is not required to consent to arterial line insertion
 - In the absence of arterial line consent, alternatives to confirm the absence of circulation may include the absence of a palpable pulse combined with one or more of:
 - carotid arterial perfusion ultrasound
 - aortic valve ultrasound
 - asystole by EKG monitoring
- Five-minute 'no-touch' period continuous observation to rule out autoresuscitation
- Circulatory-determined death must be confirmed by a second physician
- Separation of teams: Transplant and surgical retrieval team cannot be involved until death is declared

6. B) Organ and tissue recovery

The deceased donor is transferred to the operating theatre for surgical recovery of organs

Stakeholders in this phase of clinical pathway

- Patient and family
- Primary treating team and/or EOL care team
- Physician for first death declaration
- Physician for second death declaration
- ODO personnel, surgical retrieval team

Recommendations: Determination of death

- 21. The dead donor rule must always be respected. Vital organs can only be procured only from a donor who is already deceased; the act of procurement cannot be the immediate cause of death.
- 22. For determination of death, absence of a palpable pulse alone, is not sufficient. If arterial monitoring is not available, alternate means of determining absence of anterograde circulation should be used in conjunction with absence of a palpable pulse, such as a carotid perfusion ultrasound, Doppler monitoring, aortic valve ultrasound or an isoelectric EKG to determine asystole.
- 23. As with all cases of DCDD, death should be confirmed by a second physician after a 5minute 'no touch' period of continuous observation during which time no donor-based interventions are permitted.

Considerations

- There was no consensus on the requirement for arterial monitoring for donation after MAID. Some argued it was unnecessary while others advocated for the importance of an arterial line and suggested seeking consent from the patient for one on the basis that it would improve the reliability of death determination.
- There was some debate concerning whether a 'no touch' period, which is current practice for DCDD cases, is necessary after MAID given the patient's wish to die.^{16, 17} However, the workshop participants did not advocate for abandoning the 'no touch' period and, in accordance with the dead donor rule, felt that it should remain current practice for DCDD cases, including those after MAID or WLSM.

Recommendations: Protection for patients

Separation of decisions

- 24. To avoid any real or perceived conflict of commitment, health care practitioners should separate the decision regarding WLSM or MAID from discussions concerning donation. Providers who are assessing eligibility for MAID should not be involved in donation discussions. Discussions concerning donation should happen only after WLSM decisions are made, or patients have been found eligible for MAID by 2 independent assessments.
- 25. The primary health care team should acknowledge patient inquiries concerning donation that are made prior to a decision to proceed with MAID or WLSM. General information on deceased organ and tissue donation may be provided. However, specific discussion and decisions pertaining to donation should wait until the decision to proceed with MAID or WLSM has been finalized.
- 26. Patients may wish to postpone their MAID procedure, owing to a temporary improvement in their health or an event they wish to experience prior to their death. The freedom of the patient to postpone their MAID procedure must be reinforced and preserved and every effort should be made to honor their wishes to donate their organs should their MAID procedure be rescheduled.

Directed and conditional donation

- 27. No restrictions should be placed on potential organ recipients. Directed deceased donation (direction of a patient's organs to a specific recipient) or conditional donation (e.g. organs will be donated only if the patient can place conditions on what social groups may or may not access them) from patients considering MAID or WLSM should be neither offered nor encouraged.
- 28. Living donation prior to death from patients considering MAID or WLSM should be neither offered nor encouraged.
- 29. Should a patient insist on directed deceased donation or living donation prior to death, the request should be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Considerations:

• Most forum participants expressed a great deal of discomfort with directed deceased donation and some felt that it should not be an option for MAID patients. There was greater discomfort with the risk of pushing terminally ill patients to seek living donation prior to their death to direct their donation.

Separation of roles

- 30. Consistent with current guidelines and practice regarding DCDD, separation should be maintained between the EOL care, donation, and transplant teams. Surgical recovery and transplant teams should not be involved in the patient's end-of-life care or MAID or WLSM procedure. The only exception is insofar as they may provide guidance for minimal requirements for donor investigations or premortem interventions.
- 31. Patients who wish to donate their organs after MAID or WLSM, but who request that their decision to pursue MAID/WLSM remain confidential, should be informed of the risk that their family members may discover incisions associated with surgical retrieval of organs. They should be encouraged to disclose their decision to family members; however, there is no obligation to stop the donation process should the patient wish to maintain the confidentiality of their MAID or WLSM procedure.
- 32. That an organ donor received MAID should not be disclosed to the potential recipient during allocation; however, medically relevant information regarding their underlying disease may be disclosed according to guidelines for exceptional distribution, where applicable.

Considerations:

• In practice, health care teams will require alignment and coordination along the way to facilitate the opportunity to donate for a patient who has requested MAID. In some cases, the patient's treating physician, who would have a role in advocating for the patient's wish to donate, may also serve as a MAID assessor or provider.

- Given the patient's capacity to drive the process and the potential that they may want to speak to the donation team directly, strict separation between the treating physician, MAID provider, and donation team may not be feasible nor necessary.
- Having the patient disclose the MAID/WLSM or donation decision to family members, mitigates the risk that families will inadvertently discover the patient's choice and the potential for compromised trust.
- Potential donors should be informed about their province's rules regarding the documented cause of death listed on the death certificate, since this is a document that family members may see at some point.

Recommendations: Supports for patients and families

- **33.** Specially trained professionals, such as donation physicians and coordinators, patient navigators, or social workers, must be available to answer the patient's questions and facilitate the coordination of their MAID or WLSM and donation. This may take place over a period of many weeks. The patient and their family must be provided with specific instructions on how to access these resources.
- 34. Support should be available in an optimally convenient location and setting for the patient, such as home visits or coordination with visits to clinics. For patients in remote locations, video-based technologies may be of assistance.
- **35.** The donation team should work with the patient, their family, and the MAID or WLSM provider to develop a plan and best possible options for the MAID or WLSM procedure that accommodates the wishes of the patient, preserving the opportunity to donate and reconciling coordination of hospital logistics.
- 36. Ongoing access to support for patients and their families is critical. Despite patient consent, donation might not proceed due to failure to find a suitable recipient, deterioration of health that compromises medical eligibility to donate, surgical findings during organ recovery, or withdrawal of consent by the patient. These patients and their families must continue to receive support even if donation does not proceed.
- 37. Continued support must be available to family members after the patient's death. Processes need to be developed to ensure families are given the opportunity to provide feedback on their experience, which may help with their grieving process and may help inform quality improvement measures.

Considerations

- Proper briefing of families, so that they know what to expect from the MAID and donation procedures, may assist family members and friends to cope with the process and prevent additional stress due to lack of information or misunderstanding.
- After the death of the patient, families must continue to receive support including
 information about available resources. At the same time, they may be asked to provide
 input about their experience with the process to benefit future patients and families. It
 may also be useful to conduct additional follow up with families 6-12 months after the
 patient's death to allow some time for reflection and to cope with the loss.
Recommendations: Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and neurodegenerative diseases

- **38.** People with ALS and patients with other non-transmissible neurodegenerative diseases should be offered the opportunity to donate organs after their death.
- 39. ODOs should exercise caution regarding allocation of organs from donors with undiagnosed or rapidly progressive neurodegenerative diseases, as these may pose elevated risks to recipients. Organ allocation in this context should follow existing exceptional distribution policies and practices.
- 40. Transplant professionals must balance the benefits of the transplant against any potential for harm of receiving a transplant of an organ from a donor with a neurological illness. Transplant professionals must use their discretion to help the transplant candidate navigate the decision. The surgeon may wish to consult the donor's neurologist to help inform their advice to the transplant candidate.
- 41. All cases of ALS or other neurodegenerative diseases that arise in transplant recipients should be reported to Health Canada to determine potential associations with donor illness and baseline risk of neurodegenerative illness in transplant recipients (e.g. whether transplant recipients, in general, have rates of ALS that differ from the general population).
- 42. Physicians who follow organ recipients should be: aware that the donation was by a patient with neurodegenerative disease such as ALS, aware of theoretical transmission risk of neurodegenerative diseases, and cognizant of symptoms or complaints that warrant further investigation by a neurologist to determine if a neurodegenerative disease is present.
- 43. Active monitoring (i.e., regular visits to a neurologist) is NOT recommended for transplant recipients who have received an organ from a donor with a neurodegenerative disease. Neurological monitoring would impose a substantial burden on the recipient and present no benefit to the recipient, particularly as there is currently no value in early detection of these illnesses.
- 44. Information resources should be available for transplant candidates and for transplant professionals to help with the decision regarding whether to accept or refuse an organ for transplant. A means of obtaining a consult from a specialist neurologist in neurodegeneration may also be useful in helping the potential recipient make an informed decision. This information should also be available to ODOs and the donation professionals responsible for assessing the eligibility of the patient who is considering donation.

Considerations:

- Consider giving recipients the opportunity to accept or refuse organs from patients with neurodegenerative diseases. This may be particularly important for transplant candidates with a family history of ALS or for young transplant candidates who would have a long post-transplant life expectancy.
- The transplant team should take care to help the patient understand the estimated risk of accepting an organ from an ALS donor in comparison to other risks of transplantation as well as the risks associated with progression of organ failure upon refusing the organ

to wait for another to become available. Some forum participants worried that the harm of disclosing a neurodegenerative disease, and loss of donor confidentiality, would exceed the risk of disease transmission.

- Transplant surgeons may perceive a medico-legal risk associated with transplanting an organ from a donor with a neurodegenerative illness. The recommendations and considerations arising from this report should be disseminated to surgeons.
- It is unknown whether transplant recipients may have an elevated risk of developing neurodegenerative diseases compared to the general population due to their underlying illness, the transplant drug regimen, or some other characteristic. Therefore, it is important that all cases of neurodegenerative illness in recipients, whether they received an organ from a donor with a known illness or not, should be reported so that the baseline risk of neurological disease can be determined for this population, unrelated to having received an organ from an ALS donor.
- Organs from donors considered to be of higher risk of transmitting illness to a recipient may be more appropriate to allocate as an immediate life-saving intervention for transplant candidates who would die otherwise, or patients whose post-transplant life expectancy is relatively short. Extra caution should be encouraged for young patients and for those for whom the transplant would be life-enhancing rather than life-saving.
- Transplant candidates have very little time to decide whether to accept an organ that is offered to them. To help weigh the risks and benefits, information should be provided to those on the waitlist to better equip them to make this decision. A short pamphlet for transplant candidates on the risks of transmission of neurological illness, as well as ongoing dialogue with their transplant coordinator, may be useful to this end.
- Compared to other DCDD cases, donation by conscious competent patients may offer more time to plan the organ allocation to a waitlisted transplant candidate there may be opportunities to tailor current allocation processes. Current transplant candidates could be consulted for input into the development of these processes.

Recommendations: Health care professionals

- 45. Health care professionals may exercise a conscientious objection to MAID or WLSM specifically, but they should strive to accommodate the wishes of the donor by ensuring that their objection to MAID or WLSM does not impede the ability of the patient to donate.
- 46. Health care professionals should act in accordance with provincial and territorial requirements as well as professional and regulatory college requirements for effective referral.
- 47. Health care professionals responsible for the care of conscious, competent patients who have requested WLSM or MAID and donation should be briefed so they are familiar with the patient's end-of-life plan and relevant policies and procedures.
- 48. Debriefing after the procedure (i.e., MAID or WLSM with or without donation) should be offered every time to all members of the health care team who participated. Debriefing by an external resource may be beneficial so that team members feel comfortable sharing their experience.

- 49. Psychological support, such as that offered through employee assistance plans (EAP), should be accessed when required. Staff of employee assistance plans may benefit from additional training and education regarding MAID with or without donation to adequately meet the needs of these health care professionals.
- 50. Hospitals must ensure that staff are available who are willing and able to honor the patient's wishes to donate after their death or have an effective referral plan in place.
- 51. Participation of health care professionals in MAID and in organ donation by patients who received MAID should be voluntary, when possible, without interfering with the patient's access to care. The health care team should be well informed and well briefed so that they understand the patient's wishes and the outcome they are working towards as well as relevant policies and procedures.

Considerations

• There is some disagreement in the literature concerning the limits of conscientious objection to donation after MAID. However, in practice, whether objections can be substantiated on grounds of conscience may be less relevant because ODOs can draw from a large pool of professionals to build their procurement teams and they will typically have many days' notice for a case of donation after MAID. Every effort should be made to ensure that participation by health care professionals is voluntary. See Section F of this document - System Oversight, Accountability, and Quality Assurance.

Recommendations: Reporting

- **52.** Clinicians must be aware of the reporting and documentation requirements for MAID and WLSM and for donation in their jurisdiction.
- **53.** Records pertaining to organ donation after MAID, as well as donation and transplant outcomes, should be reported federally and be accessible to clinicians, researchers, and administrators. Transplant outcomes should be easily cross-referenced with the underlying illness of the MAID donor.

Considerations

- There were also calls for oversight of the process by an external body, such as a coroner.^{20, 27}
- Because donation, in general, and donation after MAID, in particular, is such a rare event, care should be taken when reporting statistics publicly to avoid inadvertent breaches of confidentiality (i.e. identifying donors to recipients or identifying donors as having received MAID). Tools are available to help determine how often, and for how large a population, data may be released.
- Data should be used for quality assurance and improvement in the process of organ donation after MAID. Aspects of the donation sequence that should be assessed and/or monitored include, but are not restricted to:
 - Patient experience prior to death;

- Family experience (useful as therapeutic alliance for organ donation after MAID is with patient);
- Quality of the donation conversation (setting, timing, expertise of health care professional);
- Adherence to policies and protocol, separation of roles;
- Missed referral opportunities;
- Time from MAID administration or death determination to surgical recovery of organs;
- Warm ischemic time; and
- Health care professional experience; pre-brief, debrief, access to support.

Background

MAID and WLSM are pathways by which conscious competent patients may choose to hasten their deaths. While there may be differences in the characteristics of conscious competent patients who undergo MAID or WLSM, in both scenarios, the patient has a life-limiting illness with poor prognosis and has the capacity to provide first-person consent.

1. The conscious competent patient

Conscious competent patients differ in several ways from critically ill, unconscious patients, including the following possible situations:

- a) May reside at home or in a long-term care or assisted-living facility, so are less available for hospital-based testing and assessment;
- b) May wish to choose the time and circumstances of their death via MAID or WLSM;
- c) May have specific plans for how they wish to spend the final period of their lives (i.e. visiting friends and family, travelling);
- d) May experience pain, discomfort, or inconvenience associated with assessing their eligibility to donate organs, such as blood and imaging tests;
- e) Are more sensitive to the burden of any additional steps or stress required for donation as part of their EOL care process.

One example of an illness for which a patient may choose either MAID or WLSM is amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). In general, patients with ALS may die from respiratory failure secondary to progressive deterioration of neuromuscular function.

As ALS cases present many challenging and complex issues for discussion, deceased donation by ALS patients is covered separately in Appendix 6. Patients seeking WLSM or MAID for multiple sclerosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and end-stage heart failure may also be eligible to donate their organs after death.

2. The decision for WLSM or MAID and eligibility

2.A) Consideration of end-of-life care

When a patient is dependent on life-sustaining medical interventions or is suffering from illness that meets the criteria set out in the MAID legislation⁴, any decision regarding their EOL care must follow careful discussion and consideration of all their options with their treating physician.

If a patient wishes to seek MAID or WLSM, they may request this as an EOL care option from their family physician, specialist physicians, or other health care professional. Their physician may agree to perform the MAID or WLSM procedure for their patient or they may refer them to another physician. In the case of MAID, this physician may be referred to as the MAID provider.

2.B) Consensual decision for WLSM

A patient who is requesting WLSM will discuss the reasons for the request with their attending physician. The patient needs to be competent to consent to WLSM but there is no legally mandated process for determining WLSM eligibility, nor is there a required waiting period. Any legally competent adult can refuse medical care, including life-sustaining therapy and ask the removal of therapies that have previously been started (e.g. discontinuing mechanical ventilation). However, there should be consensual agreement between the patient and their treating physician on the decision to WLSM.

2.C) Request for MAID

MAID is administered under the legal framework of Bill C-14 (and Quebec's Bill 52) and eligibility for MAID is limited to those who have a 'grievous and irremediable medical condition' as defined in the bill.^{4, 5} To seek approval for MAID, the patient must make a written request that is signed, dated, and witnessed. For those unable to write, another adult can sign the request under the requestor's clear direction. The request for MAID is reviewed by two independent assessors (the first assessment and the second assessment) to determine if the patient meets the criteria for MAID and whether their consent was given voluntarily and free from external pressure. For MAID (but not WLSM), there is a legally mandated reflection period of ten days between the request and the MAID procedure. This reflection period may be reduced if there is expected loss of capacity or death is deemed imminent.

2. D) MAID eligibility and approval

The wording of current legislation around eligibility for MAID is subject to interpretation, allowing medical professionals to apply judgment on a case-by-case basis but creating some confusion concerning the limits of eligibility. This particularly applies to the language specifying that the patient must have a "grievous and irremediable" illness and that "natural death has become reasonably foreseeable".^{3,4,5} Furthermore, it is difficult to define at what point suffering becomes intolerable, particularly if a patient doesn't want to proceed with MAID immediately after they are determined to be eligible.

There are several factors that may compromise a patient's ability to give free, informed consent for MAID, such as a primary mental illness or loss of capacity. There are three specific situations that are currently ineligible for MAID but that are being studied by the federal government for potential future eligibility: (1) MAID for primary mental illness; (2) advance medical directives for MAID for patients who may lose capacity in the future as a result of their illness; and (3) mature minors.

In assessing a patient's eligibility, MAID is balanced against alternative EOL care options, such as palliative care and palliative sedation; however, it is important to note that patients who request MAID may not be eligible for palliative sedation and palliative care may not be effective at relieving suffering for some patients approaching end-of-life.^{3,4}

3. Referral and suitability

3.A) Referral to the ODO

Conventional DCDD after WLSM requires referral of patients to the ODO at an early time point prior to initiation of WLSM procedures.³⁵ This is to allow the ODO to assess the patient for medical suitability for deceased donation and to approach the family in order to request consent for donation. The same applies to conscious competent patients: early referral helps preserve their opportunity to donate their organs after death. However, the timing of the referral must not interfere with the patient's EOL decision — assessment of the patient's medical suitability for deceased donation prior to a decision for WLSM or approval for MAID may be perceived as a conflict of interest.

The provinces of British Columbia, Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec have mandatory referral laws the ODO must be notified when death is imminent or established. Similar legislation is awaiting proclamation in Nova Scotia, while Alberta has mandatory consideration after death determination. At the time of this report, Saskatchewan legislation has made it permissive to share personal information of a person whose death is imminent with the ODO for the purposes of determining suitability to donate, but a referral is not mandatory. New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, and Newfoundland and Labrador do not have legislation in this regard. In Ontario, a TGLN guidance document notes that "notification does not imply medical assistance in dying will proceed or that an approach will occur".³⁶ Instead, the best way forward would be determined jointly between the ODO and the most responsible physician. Thus, referral to the ODO does not automatically trigger an approach or request for consent to donate but instead allows donation conversations to be directed to patients that may have the potential to donate.

3.B) Confirm eligibility for organ and tissue donation

Most patients that request MAID will not be eligible to become deceased organ donors due to their underlying illness, such as metastatic cancer or rapidly progressing neurological illness, their age, or other contra-indicating factors. The initial evaluation is not sufficient to ensure that the patient's organs are suitable for donation; however, it allows for early identification of those that will not be eligible to donate and avoids dedication of resources and the stress on patients and health care professionals of discussing donation in cases where it is not a realistic outcome. In addition, the logistics of deceased donation in the conscious competent patient are complex and may pose obstacles to offering donation depending on geographic location.

4. Approach and consent

4.A) Information about organ and tissue donation shared with the patient

Conversations on the topic of deceased donation are inherently difficult. Leading practices have been developed in Canada for providing individuals and their SDM with the best opportunity to make an informed decision.³⁷ These leading practices were developed to guide EOL care and donation discussions with the SDM of unconscious patients after devastating brain injury. While these leading practices may be helpful in guiding an approach for the conscious competent patient, there may be differences with respect to the timing and setting of the conversation,

the language used, the skill set and the requirement for ongoing follow up. Furthermore, there may be increased discomfort and emotional difficulty among health care professionals in conducting these conversations in the first person with a patient, rather than with a SDM.

Routine request for organ and tissue donation

While several countries have adopted a model of opt-out (presumed) consent to donate, in Canada, deceased donation is dependent on provision of consent by patients or their SDM.^{14, 30-32} Donation after WLSM or MAID allows for first-person consent by a conscious competent patient rather than requiring a substitute decision maker to speak on behalf of the patient; however, there are still ethical questions surrounding the consent process. Arguments for and against routine requests are summarized in Table 4.

There have been calls to routinely offer deceased organ donation as part of the MAID/WLSM EOL pathway^{16, 17}; however, at present, there is variability, both within Canada and internationally, concerning whether donation is discussed with conscious competent patients routinely or only when patient-initiated.

The literature is divided concerning whether patients requesting MAID or WLSM should be routinely approached or whether donation should be considered only upon a spontaneous request by the patient. The argument in favour of routine requesting is supported by the principles of autonomy and justice, whereby all patients are given the opportunity to make an informed choice.^{14, 23, 38} Conversely, some authors argue that patients may be influenced or coerced to consent to donating their organs^{14, 16, 25, 27} and it may be that the very act of offering the opportunity puts pressure on the patient.^{14, 24, 38}

Some authors caution that patients may choose to die in order to donate their organs to save the lives of others^{16, 17, 27, 28} or may choose to end their lives earlier than they would otherwise, in order to donate.¹⁷ That said, the Dutch practice manual states that donation should not be discouraged or disallowed solely because a patient expresses altruistic motivation.²⁷

Table 4. Workshop discussion outcomes for and against routine request

FOR routine request	FOR	routine	req	uest
---------------------	-----	---------	-----	------

- Health care professionals should avoid deciding for the patient or assuming to know their values
- They should not assume patients and their families know about the possibility of donation; they may support donation but assume they are ineligible
- They have a moral/ethical duty to inform patients of their EOL options, including donation
- There may be legal requirement to refer to ODO in case of 'imminent death' (varies province by province)
- Donation may give meaning to the patient's death
 - May provide comfort to patient prior to their death
 - May assist family in grieving

AGAINST routine request

• There is risk of pressuring or influencing the patient

- May feel they have to consent to donate to access MAID/WLSM
- If patient consents, but is then deemed ineligible or if their organs are not allocated, they may feel regret or loss during their final days of life
- Routine requesting in this setting may erode public and professional trust in the donation and/or EOL care system

Who needs to be prepared for a donation conversation?

In jurisdictions that do not routinely approach, or if a conscious competent patient asks about donation before an approach from a donation coordinator has occurred, requests about donation are likely to be directed to the patient's treating physician, MAID provider, or other member of the EOL care team. Health care professionals must be prepared, educated and equipped, and have access to necessary consultation, to appropriately address these questions.

Stakeholders in Canada have invested in education around deceased organ donation for critical care and emergency department staff, where potential donors have typically been identified. However, the care team for patients seeking MAID may not have been targeted for extensive education and, in the case of MAID providers, have no unifying professional association through which education programs could be conveniently delivered.

Family doctors, neurologists, and MAID providers involved in the EOL care of conscious competent patients outside of critical care environments have less experience with organ donation, potentially presenting a barrier to access to donation information and services for patients.

The timing of donation conversations

There is consensus among ethicists and EOL care medical practitioners that the decision to die by MAID or WLSM must be separate from, and must precede, the decision to donate. ^{17, 23, 24, 38} The rationale for separation is that discussions concerning donation may provide external influence or pressure on the individual to proceed with MAID/WLSM.

However, leaving the donation conversation too late in the EOL care process may place the individual at a disadvantage. Donation has influence on the EOL care process, such as the requirement for death to occur in hospital instead of at home and may place additional burden on them insofar as they must undergo donor assessments and antemortem interventions. It is important for the individual to be aware of how these requirements may alter EOL care plans.

While it was agreed that the donation conversation must take place after the decision for MAID, there was no consensus on the appropriate timing of the conversation with respect to the approval for MAID. Some participants felt that an opportune time to approach the patient might be immediately after the first MAID assessment. This would ensure that the patient's decision concerning MAID has already been made but would still allow time to plan the MAID procedure to accommodate donation.

The setting of donation conversations

The setting of the conversation should be patient-centered, and consider:

- a) The patient's ability to travel;
- b) Potential difficulty for the patient to communicate by telephone or videoconference;
- c) The patient's priorities with respect to how they spend their time during their final days of life; and
- d) The confidentiality of the patient's choice to pursue MAID or WLSM that may include privacy from family members and their community.

For some patients, the ideal setting may be their home. In this way, an additional trip to a clinic or hospital should be avoided. If this is not possible, the conversation could be scheduled to coincide with a clinic or hospital visit.

Language

Some health care professionals, even those well-versed in deceased donation discussions may have little experience speaking to the potential donor, themselves, rather than their family or SDM. One patient contributor reported that the coordinator addressed the patient's spouse, rather than the patient directly. There were also objections raised by patients to the language used, preferring 'your body' and 'your organs' rather than 'the body' and 'the organs'. The phrase 'harvesting organs' was also perceived as offensive and those interviewed recommended using 'retrieving' or 'recovering' instead.

Implications of donation on end-of-life care

It is important during the patient's decision process that they understand that donation will have implications for their EOL care. In Canada, the vast majority of deceased donation conversations occur with the families of hospitalized patients who have suffered a devastating brain injury are unconscious and dependent on life-sustaining technologies in the ICU.

By contrast, conscious competent patients differ in important ways as discussed in Section 1, which may present potential barriers to donation. Indeed, the literature review (see References) and the patient contributors to the workshop identified frustration with changes, compromises, and additional steps required to allow them to become donors but have no direct benefit to them. These include:

- a) Completion of a social/medical questionnaire, which covers topics such as sexual history, alcohol and drug use, and other risk factors for infectious diseases, is standard for all potential donors; conscious patients may find it to be extremely personal and uncomfortable;
- b) The requirement to die in an acute care hospital, as opposed to at home or at a long-term care, residential, or assisted-living facility^{14, 16, 20, 27, 38};
- c) Hospital/clinic visits prior to MAID to assess eligibility to donate and organ quality (e.g. blood work, imaging)^{20, 27};
- d) Antemortem interventions to facilitate death determination, such as an arterial line, which may be uncomfortable or painful;

- e) Antemortem interventions, such as the administration of heparin, to maintain/improve organ quality^{14, 27};
- f) Request to change the day or time of their death to accommodate access to the acute care hospital for EOL care, surgical retrieval and allocation logistics;
- g) Location of death and requirement for transfer to the operating room immediately after death for surgical retrieval of organs, which may prevent or delay the family from having a quiet time to say goodbye or grieve with the body of their loved one.^{14, 27, 38}

Patients must weigh these additional steps while managing their illness and coping with the realities of their own prognosis. Based on their own comfort and preferences over how they wish to spend their last days, they may have questions and decline some investigations or donation interventions.

4.B) First-person consent for organ and tissue donation

During donation conversations, the health care professional making the approach or request must provide enough information about the donation process and the implications on the patient's EOL care that the patient is able to provide informed consent. Consent for ante-mortem interventions to facilitate surgical retrieval of organs and transplantation should also be requested at this time. Similar to consent for MAID or WLSM, this consent may be withdrawn at any time should the patient change their mind.

Family veto

If a patient loses capacity after consenting to donation, it is possible the family may intervene and override the decision to donate. With respect to conventional deceased donation, in which the patient is not able to speak for themselves, family members' objections to a loved one's prior intent to donate their organs, such as via an organ donor registry, may prevail. This is, in part, because the patient's previously stated intent may not have been adequately informed and lacked context. There is interprovincial variability with respect to the law concerning disagreements between an incompetent patient's previously stated wishes and those of the family.

Since, currently, consent for MAID must be reconfirmed immediately prior to the MAID procedure, this type of conflict cannot occur. However, in cases when a patient has consented to WLSM and then lost capacity, or should the legislation change to allow advanced, binding, consent for MAID even if capacity is lost, this may become an issue in the future.

4.C) Notification of the coroner/medical examiner of a MAID death

In some provinces, the coroner may have to grant permission prior to surgical retrieval of organs from a patient that has died by MAID; in such cases, it is important that the coroner be notified in advance of the death so that such permission may be obtained.

4.D) Donor testing and evaluation

Typical DCDD donors are critically ill, unconscious, and hospitalized; however, conscious competent donors may be living at home or outside of an acute care facility. Further, having decided to end their life at a predetermined date, they may place a high priority on how they

spend the final days of their life. This creates challenges for assessing patients for their eligibility to donate since access to the patient for imaging, blood work, and other tests will require coordination with the patient, their family, donation personnel and other health care professionals. Care should be taken to minimize the inconvenience and burden on the patient required to complete the organ testing and evaluation required for donation. In some cases, donors may opt to donate fewer organs in order to limit the burden of testing.

5. Medical procedures

5.A) Admission to hospital and reaffirmation of consent

For organ donation to proceed, patients must be admitted to hospital prior to WLSM or the MAID procedure. Admission to hospital may be a significant event for patients receiving MAID as they move from the comfort of their home and familiar surroundings; however, it is necessary for organ donation to occur.

Immediately prior to the EOL care team administering the MAID medications, it is legally required that the patient reaffirm consent for MAID. This is to ensure they have the opportunity to change their mind or withdraw consent prior to their death. However, this requirement also means that patients who lose capacity, through progression of their illness, through sedation, or another factor such as stroke, cannot proceed with MAID.

By contrast, there is no requirement to reaffirm consent for WLSM and the EOL care team of those who have given consent and, thereafter, lost capacity may still proceed with WLSM.

Should a patient lose capacity/competence after the initial MAID decision, they would no longer be eligible for MAID and thus would not proceed to donate. However, WLSM and donation could still proceed, even if the patient lost capacity to reaffirm consent, on the basis of their prior expressed decisions.

5.B) Antemortem interventions

Prior to administration of the MAID medications or WSLM, the treating physician should administer any ante-mortem interventions required for preservation of organ quality, such as heparin, as required and previously consented to by the patient.

5.C) WLSM procedures

Guidelines for WLSM can be found at: Downar J, Delaney JW, Hawryluck L, Kenny L. Guidelines for the withdrawal of life-sustaining measures. Intensive Care Med. 2016 Jun;42(6):1003-17.

5.D) MAID procedures

Information regarding MAID practice can be found in the Centre for Effective Practice's MAID resource guide:

https://cep.health/clinical-products/medical-assistance-in-dying/

6. Death determination and surgical retrieval of organs

6.A) Circulatory arrest and determination of death

Some DCDD policies may require insertion of an arterial catheter for monitoring and clinicians may advocate for this to verify the loss of circulation. However, this procedure is invasive and may be painful for patients and, as such, many health care professionals may not recommend this practice in the context of MAID/WLSM.

There was consensus that absence of a palpable pulse was not sufficient to determine death; however, many agreed that an intra-arterial catheter, while preferred, should not be mandatory. Alternative methods of death determination suggested by the forum participants included: absence of a pulse combined with one or more of carotid perfusion ultrasound, aortic valve ultrasound, or asystole by EKG monitoring.

Early experience with MAID suggests that death occurs quickly — within 2 to 3 minutes — compared to conventional DCDD after WLSM where warm ischemic time is frequently longer and will often exceed 30 minutes. Since warm ischemic time is a major predictor of graft outcome, it is possible that organs obtained from MAID donors will have better function that those received from conventional DCDD donors.

6.B) Organ and tissue recovery

Immediately following the MAID or WLSM procedure, the deceased patient must be transferred to the OR for organ retrieval. Families and patients must be briefed before the procedure to set expectations that, if organ donation is to proceed, there is a restriction in time after the patient's death for the family to say goodbye.

D. Protections for Patients

To protect the patient who is seeking MAID or WLSM from pressure or coercion to donate, and to promote their ability to provide free and informed consent, several protections were identified.

Separation of the decision to seek WLSM or MAID from the decision to donate organs

There is broad consensus in the literature that the decision to pursue WLSM or MAID should occur prior to, and separate from, the decision to donate organs^{14, 23}; however, there is ambiguity as to how this principle should be put into practice.

It is anticipated that organs from DCDD donors who received MAID may have better transplant outcomes than those from WLSM, as it is anticipated their death will be sooner and therefore the organs will be subjected to a shorter warm ischemic time. As such, it is possible that patients who learn this fact may seek MAID over alternate EOL care to improve their chances of donating. This practice conflates the EOL care decision and the donation decision and becomes ethically problematic. MAID should only be provided for the relief of intolerable suffering, not the optimization of organ function for transplantation, even if the desire to improve organ function comes from the patient themselves.

Protection of the consent process

Reinforce the patient's right to withdraw consent to MAID, WLSM or donation

The legislation for MAID requires a reflection period of ten days and that consent be reaffirmed immediately prior to administration of the MAID drugs. There is no legal requirement for reaffirmation of consent for donation.

Capacity

There must be mechanisms in place to assess the capacity of the patient to consent to MAID.^{18,} ³⁰ Currently, continued capacity is required to re-confirm consent prior to the MAID procedure⁴; however, this issue may evolve over time to allow advance directive for MAID.²⁷

Coercion

Risk of coercion is one aspect that is considered when assessing the patient's eligibility for MAID or WLSM. Coercion specific to the decision to seek MAID/WLSM is outside of the scope of this initiative. However, coercion may also be felt by the patient in their decision to donate their organs and protections must be developed and implemented to mitigate the risk of coercion.

As discussed in step 4 of the clinical pathway, there is consensus in the literature that any discussion about organ donation following WLSM or MAID should take place after, and

separately from, the decision for MAID or WLSM.^{17, 23, 24, 38} This is to protect the patient from having their decision to die influenced by a discussion about the possibility to donate. Some advised that discussions about organ donation should be facilitated by the organ donation organization or program as opposed to the patient's treating physician²⁸, while others suggest that the "treating physician, who often has a long-term relationship of trust with the patient, is usually the preferred person to raise the issue of organ donation."²⁷

Once a patient has decided to pursue MAID or WSLM, new potential coercive factors may be perceived by the patient. If the patient's treating physician, MAID provider, or MAID assessor is seen as favoring donation, the patient may perceive pressure to consent to donation in order to access MAID, or to avoid disappointing their health care team.25, 38

Separation of clinical teams for the MAID/WLSM and organ donation procedures

The team involved in assessing eligibility for MAID and administering MAID should be separate from the donation team.^{14, 16, 19, 20, 26, 27} MAID assessors, in particular, should be cautioned against discussing or advocating for donation. This latter point may protect the patient from feeling that their access to MAID is contingent on their consent to donation.

Directed donation

On rare occasions, patients may request directed donation, that is, to donate their organs to a specific recipient. This situation may exacerbate existing or create new ethical concerns around pressure, influence, and coercion for the patient.¹⁴ A patient may be much less likely to withdraw consent for MAID or delay the MAID procedure if they know a friend or family member is expecting a life-saving transplant of their organs.

However, prohibiting directed donation for conscious competent patients is also ethically problematic. If directed deceased donation is prohibited, the patient may choose to pursue living, rather than deceased, donation as a means to direct their organ to a specific recipient. This would require the patient, who is already suffering, to undergo a painful operation to recover the required organ(s), only to end their lives by MAID or WLSM, thereafter. This practice would be ethically problematic since patients would endure additional suffering to exert their autonomy to donate.^{14, 27} Some jurisdictions have, thus, allowed directed deceased donation following MAID or euthanasia on a case-by-case basis.

It is also possible that patients may request living donation, prior to MAID or WLSM, as a means to improve the likelihood for donation to proceed, to ensure optimum organ function in the recipient, and to be able to witness transplant of their donated organ into their loved one before their death⁵⁹.

Confidentiality

While monitoring and reporting practices for MAID vary across Canada, regulations governing these practices are intended to protect the privacy of patients and MAID providers.⁴⁰ Most

Canadian provinces do not disclose MAID as the cause of death on the death certificate, nor are the names of MAID providers given.

Some patients wish to keep their decision to seek MAID from their family members and friends. However, organ donation has the potential to compromise confidentiality because surgical incisions incurred during surgical retrieval of organs may be discovered by family member's post-mortem. Families may conclude that organs were removed without consent, which could undermine public trust in the organ donation and transplantation system.¹⁴ Questions could also be raised by family members if the patient required admission or transfer to another hospital or institution to facilitate MAID or donation, potentially compromising the patient's confidentiality.

Since confidentiality of their MAID cannot be guaranteed in the event that a patient donates their organs, Transplant Quebec recommends that surgical retrieval of organs not proceed if the patient wishes to keep their decision for MAID and/or donation confidential.³¹ However, others have argued that patient autonomy should be respected and donation should be allowed to proceed, despite these risks.³²

One further question related to confidentiality is whether to disclose to the potential recipient whether the organ offered was donated by a patient who received MAID. While some authors have argued that transplant candidates should have the right to refuse organs based on donor characteristics, as is done in the Netherlands²⁷, others point out that information concerning the donor's cause of death, including non-assisted suicide, is not routinely disclosed due to reasons of confidentiality. Granting recipients the right to refuse organs from donors who have received MAID would result in non-use of organs and risk further morbidity or mortality of the transplant candidate as well as those on the list.¹⁷

Support for patients and families

Supports for patients

The events leading up to and following the decision by a conscious competent patient to donate their organs after MAID or WSLM will be challenging and emotional for patients and their families. Supports must be available for patients, and at the request of the patient, for patient's family and friends. Otherwise, patients may feel burdened by the task of serving as an information broker.

In the conventional sequence of care for DCDD, ODO coordinators usually support the needs of family members and act as a resource for questions. Donation by a conscious competent patient after MAID or WLSM is inherently more complex and demands additional time and involvement from patients and their families. However, conscious competent patients, who may reside at home or at a long-term care facility, are environmentally isolated from immediate and direct access to health care professionals to answer questions and provide support.

Support for families

The events leading up to and following the death of a loved one will be very emotional for family members of the patient. Some may find comfort in their loved one's ability to choose the time and circumstances of their death by WLSM or MAID, while others will be uncomfortable with the patient's choice. The same is true for the patient's decision to donate their organs.

In addition to impacts on the donor, donation has impacts on the family. While this topic requires further research, these impacts may include accommodating pre-mortem assessment, in-hospital location of death, and/or the requirement to transfer the patient's body to the OR immediately after death for surgical retrieval of organs.

E. End-Stage Neurological Conditions and Organ Donation Implications

It is expected that the majority of patients choosing MAID will have illnesses, such as disseminated cancer, that make them ineligible to become organ donors. See Table 1. Among those that are eligible to donate, many will suffer from neurodegenerative diseases, such as ALS. Patients with neurological diseases make up approximately 8 per cent of those choosing MAID internationally⁹⁻¹¹, though they comprised a larger proportion in Canada during 2016.

ALS background

ALS is a neurodegenerative disease, which causes progressive degeneration of motor neurons in the motor cortex of the brain and the spinal cord. Common initial presentations of the disease are difficulty speaking, difficulty swallowing, hand weakness, or foot weakness. Wherever the weakness begins, the patient will experience progression of symptoms in that body region and the weakness will spread to involve other body regions. There is no clinical involvement of tissue outside of the brain and spinal cord. Muscle weakness is a secondary effect of the motor neuron degeneration.

While classically described as a motor disease, ALS is now recognized to cause impairment of frontal executive function, social cognition, or behavior, in some patients. On formal neuropsychological testing, 50 per cent of patients with ALS will have frontotemporal cognitive impairments or behavioural impairments. Up to 40 per cent of these will have sufficient cognitive or behavioural impairment to be classified as having frontotemporal dementia.

ALS has an incidence of two to three cases per 100,000 people. The mean age at onset of ALS is late 50s or early 60s but individuals may be diagnosed in their early 20s up until their late 80s. ALS is ultimately fatal with death usually secondary to respiratory failure. The average survival after symptom onset is 2-3 years, but the range of survival after symptom onset is 5 months to more than 50 years.

The diagnosis of ALS is made by a neurologist on the basis of the patient's story, examination findings, electrophysiology results, and other investigations, and by ruling out ALS mimics. Typical ALS physical examination signs are weakness, muscle atrophy, fasciculations, hyperreflexia, spasticity, and other upper motor neuron findings. Unfortunately, there is no single laboratory or electrophysiological test that can confirm a diagnosis of ALS; therefore, a diagnosis of ALS requires an experienced clinician.

About 10 per cent of patients with ALS have familial ALS, while the majority of patients have sporadic ALS, for which there is no known genetic cause or family history. ALS has been associated with pathologic and molecular findings of protein aggregation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and inflammation.

Management of ALS patients focuses on symptom management, motor function support, nutrition interventions, and respiratory support. Non-invasive ventilation (NIV), invasive ventilation, and mechanical cough assist devices can support patients with significant

respiratory muscle weakness and some patients become dependent on respiratory support 24 hours per day.

Transmissibility of ALS

One factor that must be taken into account when considering organ donation by ALS patients is the risk of transmission to the recipient. Much of the research on this topic has taken advantage of mouse and cell culture models of familial ALS.

Prion-like transmission of ALS in experimental models

Misfolding and aggregation of proteins, such as TDP43 and SOD1, are hallmarks of ALS pathology. Cell cultures experiments suggest that proteins misfolded as a result of ALS-associated mutations may be passed to adjacent cells, providing a hypothetical mechanism from transmission of ALS from donors to recipients.⁴¹⁻⁴³

Likewise, cell culture experiments have found that cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) from ALS patients with frontotemporal dementia (FTD), but not non-FTD ALS, can induce aggregation of TDP43 in cultured human glioma cells⁴⁴ and another ALS-associated peptide, C9orf72 may also be passed between cells.^{45, 46}

In mouse models, researchers have found that homogenized spinal cord tissue from mice genetically engineered to develop ALS (SOD1 mice), was able to induce ALS when inoculated into the spinal cords of recipient mice that also carried the SOD1 mutation; however, no disease was observed in normal mice inoculated with SOD1 homogenates. ⁴¹ Experiments in which mice were inoculated with brain or spinal cord tissue from human patients who had died of ALS did not induce disease in these mice.⁴⁷

All of the experiments showing transmission were via proximal contact between brain or spinal cord cells. It is thought the blood-brain barrier, a semipermeable membrane that separates the brain from the periphery and the circulation, may block potential transmission of ALS proteins between transplanted peripheral organs and the brain. Consistent with this, an unpublished experiment connecting a SOD1 mouse to a non-ALS mouse, such that they shared a blood supply, showed no evidence of transmission to the normal mouse (personal communication, Dr. Fabio Rossi).

Evidence of ALS transmission in humans and primates

In the 1970s, brain tissue from deceased patients with amyotrophy and dementia was inoculated into the brains of monkeys. Three of 25 monkeys developed neurodegenerative diseases^{48, 49}; however, based on the available case descriptions, the patients with the donated tissue had rapidly progressive dementia. It is possible that these patients had Creutzfeldt Jacob Disease (CJD) with a secondary cause for their amyotrophy, rather than having ALS.

To investigate whether the blood-brain barrier protects against ALS transmission, one study looked at risks of developing neurodegenerative diseases in patients who received a blood

transfusion.⁵⁰ They found no increased risk of ALS, Parkinson's, or Alzheimer's, despite the fact that 2.9 per cent received a transfusion from someone who went on to develop a neurodegenerative disease; however, the number of donors with ALS was very low.

Similarly, a study of organ donors with rare disease found no evidence of transmission of neurodegenerative diseases to recipients over five years of observation.⁵¹ It has also been suggested that the extremely low incidence of conjugal cases of ALS, that is cases were two spouses developed ALS, are evidence for non-transmissibility.⁵²

However, in a study of 6,190 recipients of human pituitary extracts, three patients died of neurodegenerative pathology attributed to ALS, an unusually high prevalence of the disease.⁵³ Pituitary extracts are derived from neural tissue and so have the potential to contain the prion-like proteins hypothesized to be associated with ALS. The delay from first injection of pituitary extract to development of ALS-symptoms ranged from 10 to 24 years and the youngest died at 18 years of age. Limitations of this study include difficulty concluding whether these patients actually had ALS, uncertainty whether they received pituitary extract from a cadaveric donor with ALS, and the possibility that the underlying condition of the recipient, for which they were receiving pituitary extract, or some other aspect of their treatment could explain the elevated prevalence of ALS. No cases of Alzheimer's or Parkinson's were observed in this study.

Table 5. Summary of evidence for ALS transmission

Evidence for transmissibility

Cell culture

- Prion-like cell-to-cell transmission of misfolded proteins⁴¹⁻⁴³
- Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of ALS patients with frontotemporal dementia (FTD), but not non-FTD, induces protein aggregates⁴⁴
- Mouse models
 - Inoculation of spinal tissue from an ALS mouse (SOD1 mouse) into the spine of a recipient mouse causes ALS symptoms, but only in SOD1 mice, not wild type⁴¹

Humans and primates

- Inoculation of brain tissue from human patients who had died of neurodegenerative diseases causes disease in 3 of 25 monkeys^{48, 49}
- Rates of ALS were elevated in recipients of human pituitary extract, which is derived from cadaveric brain tissue⁵³

Evidence against transmissibility or null findings

Mouse models

- Shared blood supply between ALS and non-ALS mouse did not result in transmission (personal communication with Dr. Fabio Rossi)
- Inoculation of mice with brain or spinal cord tissue from human patients who had died of ALS did not induce disease in these mice⁴⁷

Humans and primates

- No increase of ALS, Parkinson's, or Alzheimer's in patients who received a blood transfusion⁵⁰
- No evidence of transmission in transplant recipients followed for five years⁵¹
- No evidence for increased rates of conjugal ALS⁵²

ALS patients as organ and tissue donors

There are three ways that an ALS patient could potentially become an organ and tissue donor.

- 1. DCDD after discontinuation of invasive ventilation
- 2. DCDD after discontinuation of continuous non-invasive ventilation (NIV) support
- 3. DCDD after Medical Assistance in Dying (MAID)

Transplantation of organs and tissue from patients with ALS has already occurred with at least 12 cases reported in the literature.^{28, 54} At the time of this meeting, at least a further two ALS patients in Ontario have donated their organs. No cases of development of ALS in recipients of organs from ALS donors have been reported.

Opinions from the Canadian ALS research community

Findings of a literature review were presented to the ALS Canada Annual Research Forum on April 30, 2017.⁵⁵ The Canadian ALS research community was subsequently asked several questions via Survey Monkey about transplantation of organs from donors with ALS. Forty individuals completed the survey (11 ALS clinicians; 14 basic science researchers; 4 post-doctoral fellows; 4 PhD students, 4 Master students; and 3 who selected 'other'). The results are summarized in Table 6. Importantly, 53.9 per cent supported transplantation of organs from ALS patients, while only 12.8 per cent opposed this.

Question	Responses			
Question	Yes	No	Unlikely	Uncertain
Is ALS transmissible through organ transplantation?	0%	7.5%	55.0%	37.5%
Is ALS transmissibility risk different for sporadic vs hereditary ALS?	12.8%	28.2%	18.0%	41.0%
Are certain familial ALS mutations more likely to be transmissible?	21.0%	23.7%	-	55.3%
Should we transplant organs from ALS patients?	53.9%	12.8%	-	33.3%

Table 6. Opinions of the ALS research community on organ donation by ALS patients

Conclusions

There are two factors, particular to ALS that should be considered regarding the possibility of organ donation by ALS patients. The first is assessing capacity for informed consent; in particular, whether there is evidence of frontotemporal dementia. This is outside of the scope of this report. The second is the risk of transmission of the disease to the recipient.

With the evidence available, today, it cannot be definitely determined if ALS is or is not transmissible. The rationale and evidence for transmission is strongest for exposure of ALS brain tissue or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) within the central nervous system (brain or spinal cord) of a recipient. To date, there is no evidence of a transmissible factor for ALS in the periphery of

ALS patients, including all transplantable solid organs. The only evidence for human-to-human transmission comes from the elevated incidence of neurodegenerative ALS-like pathology in recipients of human pituitary extract, which is derived from brain tissue.

One study in mice suggests that genetic vulnerability of ALS, such as SOD1 mutation, may increase the risk of developing ALS through transmission. This suggests that potential recipients with a first degree relative with ALS may be at higher risk of developing ALS from a transplanted organ from an ALS patient. Importantly, evidence for transmissibility in mice is limited to inoculation of central nervous system tissue from sick mice into the central nervous system of recipients. There is no evidence of peripheral transmission.

Finally, if ALS is transmissible through organ transplantation, it will likely take more than ten years for symptoms to develop based on the pituitary extract epidemiological data.

F. System Oversight, Accountability, and Quality Improvement

Offering the opportunity for conscious competent patients to donate their organs after their death by WLSM or MAID will have impacts on institutions, health care professionals, and society. This practice will require mechanisms for oversight, data collection and reporting, and research for quality assurance and improvement to ensure this option for care is performed ethically and safely.

Health care professionals

Professional education

Providers need specialized education and training to communicate effectively with this patient population and to understand the unique challenges that face both the patient and provider in this context. Priority topics for health care provider education include:

- a) The law:
 - i. MAID eligibility and consent,
 - ii. Donation consent by conscious competent patients, and
 - iii. Required referral of potential organ donors.
- b) Communication strategies for effective and supportive discussions regarding EOL care with conscious competent patients.
- c) Processes and procedures for MAID/WLSM and donation.
- d) Policies and procedures for when personal conscience or beliefs conflict with the service requested by the patient.
- e) Methods for effectively supporting the patient, patient's family, as well as other health care professionals.
- f) Strategies to prepare psychologically before and to debrief and seek support after difficult and emotional cases, such as donation after MAID or WLSM.

Professional education should seek to provide health care professionals with tools and knowledge to support and inform patients, to abide by the law and institutional policies, and to be familiar with the procedures involved in MAID/WLSM and donation.

Voluntary participation by health care professionals

While MAID and WLSM are legal in all provinces, some members of the public and health care community do not support these practices. It is possible that the health care professionals involved in the patient's EOL care and donation care, deceased organ retrieval, or the recipients, may have personal or professional objections.

Providing care and support at the patient's EOL care can be an emotional process for health care professionals^{24, 25, 28}. This is particularly true for conscious and competent patients, who are able to communicate and develop relationships with health care providers. Donation, MAID, and WLSM each have the potential to add to this difficulty.²⁸ Thus, it has been argued that participation of health care professionals in donation cases following MAID/WLSM, as with the MAID procedure itself, should be voluntary.^{20, 27}

However, accommodating a policy of voluntary participation may be onerous for hospitals and institutions and may risk compromising the fulfillment of the patient's wishes to donate their organs.

Communication and alignment of the health care team

Donation by conscious competent patients will be a rare event for health care professionals. Even those that support the practice may suffer distress and internal conflict if they are not adequately prepared to take part in such a case. Health care professionals participating in donation after MAID should be well informed of the patient's EOL care plan before taking part in the patient's care or meeting with the patient and family.

Conscientious objection

In some instances, health care professionals may object to WLSM or MAID on grounds of conscience or religious beliefs. There is a lack of consensus in the literature concerning the definition, the scope, and limits of conscientious objection to organ donation after MAID/WLSM and a lack of clarity concerning the duty to refer care to another health care provider.^{16, 17, 24}

Ideally, patients who are seeking MAID or WLSM should have coordination between all the parties involved in their care, and conscientious objection presents a barrier to this collaboration. The preamble to the Canadian law on MAID states that "everyone has freedom of conscience and religion" under section 2 of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms* and states that "nothing...compels an individual to provide or assist in providing medical assistance in dying".⁴ In some jurisdictions, medical regulatory colleges have established a duty for conscientious objectors to make an effective referral to a willing provider or agent.

Transplant professionals may object, to either retrieving organs or accepting these organs for transplantation, from a donor whose EOL care process involved MAID. However, it is not clear whether conscientious objection should apply in these circumstances as the surgeon is not participating in or facilitating the donor's death. Refusal to retrieve or transplant organs from a donor who received MAID would result in a lost opportunity and non-use of the organs, which would violate the expressed wishes of the patient. These impacts could be mitigated by referring the case to another surgeon within the same centre, or to a surgeon at another centre. In the former case, there may be no effect on allocation; however, in the latter case this may result in the additional use of resources to accommodate the objection. However, if the surgeon refers care to another centre, it may mean that one of their patients, who would have otherwise been first in line for allocation, may be passed over in favor of someone else.

Key themes that emerged from a scoping review of the literature are summarized in Table 7.

Theme	Summary
Lack of consensus on definition, scope, and limits	• The literature tends to support the notion of conscientious objection for health care providers in general, but there is no consensus on its scope or limits as it applies to organ donation after MAID
The necessity, boundaries, and limits of a duty to refer	• The literature was divided between the position that a conscientiously objecting health care provider should refer the patient to a willing and available provider and the position that any degree of referral as being complicit in a morally wrong act
Participation and cooperation among interprofessional health care providers	 Terms such as participation and cooperation are points of controversy in the MAID literature Some health care providers, such as nurses and pharmacists, may perceive themselves to be morally implicated in MAID even if they do not directly provide the MAID intervention (e.g. the pharmacist prepares the drugs used to administer MAID)
Tensions between conscience-based refusals and job security	• Some health care providers may perceive that they have no power to conscientious objection to an act they find morally objectionable without risks to their employment
Potential harms to the donor and the transplant candidate	 Scarce literature Objecting to using organs from MAID donors may lead to death or disability for transplant candidates Refusal does not respect the dying patient's wish to donate

Table 7. Key bioethics issues related to conscientious objection

Society

The organ donation and transplantation system rely on public trust to be successful. Some experts worry that there may be a perception that physicians may not do all they can to save the patient or may offer a deliberately pessimistic prognosis in order to encourage a decision for MAID/WLSM to allow recovery of organs for donation.²⁴ Such a perception could undermine trust in the entire system. Conversely, offering organ donation to patients who wish to die may enhance public acceptability towards MAID by showing a tangible positive outcome of a patient's decision to die.^{16, 24}

Institutions and health care facilities

Double requests for MAID and for organ donation will present challenges to institutions and health care facilities, such as:

a) Development of policies and procedures for double requests for MAID and organ donation;

- b) Accommodation of conscientious objections as well as professional role objections;
- c) Development of protocols for inter-facility transfers when hospital staff either object to, or are not equipped to perform, organ donation after MAID.

Allocation

In general, allocation of organs from a conscious competent donor should proceed as with any DCDD donor. In cases where the donor has an illness that is known to have a transmission risk, or whether the risk of transmission is uncertain, allocation may be restricted to a subset of transplant candidates whose benefit to burden ratio is more favorable. Health Canada guidelines regarding exceptional distribution for organs from donors with certain risk factors or medical conditions must be followed.⁵⁶

Oversight

MAID oversight

Currently, the reporting and oversight mechanisms vary between provinces. In Quebec, all cases must be reported to a committee representing different colleges and stakeholders to assess whether the case proceeded correctly. If the committee determines non-compliance, it may trigger feedback to the physician or reporting to the institution or college. In other provinces, medically assisted deaths, which are considered to be non-natural, require reporting to the coroner, who may have a role in evaluating whether the MAID process met the standards set by legislation and policy. In some provinces, authorization from the coroner may be required prior to surgical retrieval of organs such as in Ontario. In European jurisdictions, reporting requirements vary but the emphasis of the review process is on feedback and education for the practitioner.^{7, 38, 57}

Reporting

It is critical for quality assurance, particularly in relation to transplant recipient outcomes that appropriate and thorough documentation processes are adhered to for all aspects of the MAID-organ donation-transplantation process. One barrier to this objective is the segregation of roles such that MAID assessment, donor assessment and management, and transplantation are managed by separate entities in many jurisdictions.

The federal Minister of Health and/or designated provincial officials are responsible for monitoring MAID procedures under the law. The ODO is concerned with clinical operations in relation to potential donors, such as number of referrals, consent rate, missed opportunities, and patient and family experience with the donation process. The transplant organization is concerned with organ quality, recipient outcomes, and adverse events. Ideally, all of this information should be reported nationally and be accessible to clinicians, administrators, and researchers in a centralized database.

Data elements requested by the forum participants to be collected include:

• Who was present for the approach

- Who was approaching
- Records of approach and the patient's response
- Location of approach
- Consent rate
- Name/consent of coroner/committee contacted prior to donation
- What tissues / organs were recovered
- What tissues / organs were transplanted
- Post-hoc assessment and analysis of risk of coercion
- Transplant complications, infection, graft failures, development of neurodegenerative illness

Research Opportunities

Throughout the workshop, two planning committee members were charged with collecting and recording key questions for future research on the topic of donation by conscious competent patients that arose. The key topics for future research are described as follows:

Clinical and biomedical:

- 1. Can a method be developed to permit heart transplantation from conscious competent patients while adhering to the dead donor rule?
 - Current barriers include cardiotoxicity of drugs used (in Belgium)
 - International advances in heart DCDD
- 2. What are the impacts of MAID drugs on the medical outcomes for the transplanted organs?
 - Propofol vs. barbiturates
- 3. What is the effect on transplant outcomes of giving heparin, corticosteroid, or other drugs?
 - Does timing matter i.e. before or after MAID drugs?
- 4. What are the medical outcomes of organs transplanted from MAID donors vs. conventional DCDD donors?
 - How does this relate to warm ischemic time?
- 5. What is the etiology and pathophysiology of various neurodegenerative diseases in order to determine if they are transmissible disease?
- 6. What is the optimal and acceptable work-up for donor suitability?
- 7. How should eligibility be defined for high-risk donors (i.e. risk to the recipient)?

Ethical

- 8. Comparison of directed living donation and directed donation in MAID (theoretical question).
- 9. How is conscientious objection managed in different centres?

Societal

- 10. What are the perspectives and opinions of transplant candidates about receiving an organ from a MAID donor?
- 11. What are the experiences of patients who opt for MAID and organ donation and their caregivers?
 - What about families?
- 12. Transplant candidate's perspective on the risk of refusing a graft from an ALS donor versus the potential to develop ALS.

Administrative or institutional

- 13. The history of DCDD and its implementation in Canada to inform the implementation of organ donation after MAID.
- 14. MAID progression and timelines
 - Rates of request for MAID
 - Time from request to procedure
 - Is this affected by underlying illness?
 - How often is MAID procedure postponed or consent withdrawn?
 - When is decision to postpone or withdraw consent made?
 - How often is MAID denied at the second assessment after approval of the first assessment?
- 15. Compare consent and consent withdrawal rates between organ donation after MAID and conventional DCDD
- 16. What are the characteristics/demographics of patients who consent to donation after MAID?
- 17. Does a routine approach result in more patients providing consent? i.e. Do all or nearly all of those who would consent make unsolicited inquiries?
- 18. How should the donation approach be made?
 - What skills are necessary?
 - When is the optimal time to approach?
- 19. How should post-transplant monitoring/surveillance be structured?
 - What data should be collected?
- 20. Factors influencing the decision to have mandatory reporting?
- 21. What is the potential donor pool among patients choosing MAID?
- 22. What are the barriers and the facilitators of organ donation after MAID?
- 23. Development and implementation of knowledge translation strategies for other professionals (family physician, palliative care community, neurologists and respiratory medicine).
- 24. What are the psychological impacts for health care professionals to participate in organ donation after MAID?

Appendix 1: Glossary of Terms

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS): neurodegenerative disease that causes progressive degeneration of the motor neurons in the motor cortex of the brain and the anterior horn cells of the spinal cord.

- 1. Hereditary ALS: disease is inherited in an autosomal dominant or autosomal recessive manner.
- **2.** Sporadic ALS: disease has not been caused by any genetic mutations known to cause ALS and there is no evidence of other family members with ALS.

Autonomy: Self-legislation; a capable patient is legally and ethically permitted to make health care decisions affecting his or her own body that are consistent with his or her values, wishes, beliefs, and preferences.

Capacity: Refers to the person's ability to understand the information relevant to making a decision about the treatment and to appreciate the reasonably foreseeable consequences of a decision to undergo treatment or not. The law recognizes that capacity can come and go over time.

Clinician-Patient Relationship: the moral foundation of health care and the starting point for treatment and shared decision-making.

Coercion/Undue Influence: *coercion* refers to the practice of forcing someone to do something nonvoluntarily by use of force or threat; *undue influence* refers to a person feeling heavily pressured to make a decision, or a series of decisions, that they might not have chosen otherwise. While a decision under undue influence is technically voluntary, the person may report that they have no meaningful choice but to make the decision.

Conscientious Objection: a health care provider who refuses to participate directly in an act because of a private moral or religious belief about that act. Paradigmatic examples in health care include objecting to providing certain forms of reproductive health care (e.g. abortion, contraception) and euthanasia.

Conflict of Commitment/Divided Loyalties: A situation where a person has professional obligations (or loyalties) to a specific person that may be in conflict with loyalties the person has to another person. For example, the treating physician for the organ donor should not also be the treating physician for the potential organ transplant recipient; the physician's loyalties are divided. This is the main reason for separate clinical teams involved in clinical care, organ retrieval, and transplantation.

Conflict of Interest: A situation where the person is in a position to derive personal benefit from actions or decisions made in their professional capacity. For example, the treating physician stands to personally benefit from the death of the patient (e.g., the clinician may benefit financially or materially from the death), and so may not fulfill his or her professional obligations toward the patient as they might otherwise have done.

Consent: consent is a process; a discussion, not an event. The patient must first have the capacity to consent; it must be voluntary, and informed. That is, patients must have the ability to understand and appreciate the potential risks, benefits, and treatment options, likely consequences of the decision or lack of a decision. The consent must relate to the treatment, must be informed, given voluntarily and not obtained through misrepresentation or fraud.

Controlled donation after circulatory determination of death: Controlled DCDD refers to circumstances where donation may initially be considered when death is anticipated but has not yet occurred. This may take place in an ICU or special care unit after a consensual decision to withdraw life-sustaining therapy. Before considering donation, the patient should be judged to have:

- A non-recoverable injury or illness
- Dependence on life-sustaining therapy
- Intention to withdraw life-sustaining therapy, and
- Anticipation of imminent death after withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy.

Dead Donor Rule: i) the removal of organs must not cause the patient's death; ii) the donor must be declared dead by either circulatory or neurological criteria before organs are retrieved.

Directed and Conditional Organ and Tissue Donation: Directed donation is when the capable patient requests that after death his or her organs or tissues are allocated to an identified recipient; conditional donation are conditions the capable patient imposes as to which organs and tissues can or cannot be retrieved after death, or to what designated group of people the organ(s) or tissue(s) should or should not be allocated.

Effective Referral: A referral made by a conscientiously objecting health care provider, in good faith, to a non-objecting health care provider that does not frustrate or impede access to care for the patient. See also *conscientious objection*.

First-person Informed Consent for organ donation: consent for deceased organ donation is obtained directly from the capable potential donor. This is in contrast to the typical practice where authorization for deceased organ donation is sought from the legally appropriate representative, or family members intended to reflect the wishes and values of the dying patient.

Family Override/Family Veto: In circumstances where an individual has complied with the legal requirements for providing valid first-person consent; refers to the practice of respecting a family's objection to organ/tissue donation over the deceased's validly executed consent

Grievous and irremediable medical condition*: A person has a grievous and irremediable medical condition only if they meet all of the following criteria:

(a) they have a serious and incurable illness, disease or disability;

(b) they are in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability;

(c) that illness, disease or disability or that state of decline causes them enduring physical or psychological suffering that is intolerable to them and that cannot be relieved under conditions that they consider acceptable; and

(d) their natural death has become reasonably foreseeable, taking into account all of their medical circumstances, without a prognosis necessarily having been made as to the specific length of time that they have remaining.

Mature Minor Doctrine: children are entitled to a degree of decision-making autonomy that is reflective of their evolving intelligence and understanding. A minor's right to make such decisions varies in accordance with the individual's level of maturity. The degree to which maturity is scrutinized intensifies in accordance with the severity of the potential consequences of the treatment or of its refusal.

Medical assistance in dying (MAID)

(a)Euthanasia - the administering by a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner of a substance to a person, at their request, that causes their death; or

(b)Assisted suicide - the prescribing or providing by a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner of a substance to a person, at their request, so that they may self-administer the substance and in doing so cause their own death.

Moral distress: the experience that occurs when one believes one knows the right thing to do, but external pressures or constraints make it difficult to fulfill one's ethical obligations or pursue what the person believes to be the right course of action.

Participation: the act of taking part in an event or activity

Prion or prion-like disease: A prion is an infectious agent composed entirely of protein material.

Public Trust: the public trusts health care professionals, and the health system, including the organ donation system, to contribute to their welfare and not take advantage of their vulnerability or compromise their best interests. For example, the public trusts that the treating physician would not attempt to hasten their death—or provide an inaccurately grim picture of their prognosis—in order to retrieve organs. See also *coercion/undue influence* and *conflicts of commitment/divided loyalties*.

Withdrawal of life-sustaining measures: In patients with irrecoverable or life limiting conditions, refers to the consensual decision (between the health care team, patient or surrogate decision maker) to stop life-sustaining treatments (such as mechanical breathing support, artificial airways, cardiovascular support). WLSM is the most common event preceding death in intensive care units.

*An Act to amend the Criminal Code and to make related amendments to other Acts (medical assistance in dying) S.C. 2016, c. 3

Appendix 2: Workshop Participants

Ms. Julie Allard; PhD Candidate, Bioethics, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC

Ms. Amber Appleby – Steering Committee; Associate Director, Deceased Donation and Transplantation, Canadian Blood Services, Vancouver, BC

Dr. Cecile Bensimon; Director, Ethics and Professional Affairs, Canadian Medical Association, Ottawa, ON

Mr. Michael Bentley; Manager, Provincial Initiatives, Alberta Health Services, Edmonton, AB

Ms. Kathy Bouwmeester; Vice-President Director Western Region and Chair of Partners Committee, Canadian Association of Critical Care Nurses; Registered Nurse, Peter Lougheed Centre, Alberta Health Services, Calgary, AB

Dr. Daniel Buchman – Steering Committee; Bioethicist, University Health Network; Member, Joint Centre for Bioethics; Assistant Professor, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON

Dr. Prosanto Chaudhury; Transplant Surgeon, McGill University Health Centre; Associate Professor, Surgery and Oncology, McGill University; Medical Director, Transplantation, Transplant Quebec, Montreal, QC

Dr. Janice Chisholm; Associate Professor, Anesthesia and Critical Care, Dalhousie University; Anesthesia Program Director, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS

Mr. Chris Cochrane; Medical Writer, Bearing Biomedical, Vancouver, BC

Ms. Rosanne Dawson; Legal Counsel, Canadian Blood Services, Ottawa, ON

Dr. Laura Donahoe; Thoracic and Lung Transplant Surgeon, Toronto General Hospital, University Health Network, Toronto, ON

Dr. James Downar – Co-chair, Steering Committee; Critical Care and Palliative Care Physician, University Health Network and Sinai Health System; Associate Professor, Department of Medicine, University of Toronto; Chair, Ethical Affairs Committee, Canadian Critical Care Society, Toronto, ON

Mr. Edward Ferre; Director, Program Development and External Relations, BC Transplant, Vancouver, BC

Dr. Marie-Chantal Fortin – Steering Committee; Associate Professor, Bioethics Program, Department of Social and Preventive Medicine, École de santé publique de l'Université de Montréal; Researcher, Nephrology and Transplantation Division, Centre de recherche du Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CRCHUM); Chair, Ethics Committee, Canadian Society of Transplantation, Montreal, QC

Ms. Joan Gilmour; Professor, Osgoode Hall Law School, Toronto, ON

Mr. Clay Gillrie – Steering Committee; Senior Program Manager, Deceased Donation, Canadian Blood Services, Vancouver, BC

Dr. Aviva Goldberg – Steering Committee; Head Pediatric Nephrologist, Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, University of Manitoba; Clinical Ethicist, University of Manitoba; Director, Canadian Society of Transplantation, Winnipeg, MB

Ms. Vanessa Gruben – Steering Committee; Associate Professor, Faculty of Law, University of Ottawa; Member, Centre for Health Law, Policy and Ethics, Ottawa, ON

Dr. Andrew Healey; Chief Medical Officer, Donation, Trillium Gift of Life Network; Corporate Division Head and Medical Director, Critical Care, William Osler Health System; Associate Clinical Professor, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Toronto, ON

Dr. Mark Heule; Medical Director, Intensive Care Unit, Misericordia Hospital, Edmonton, AB
 Dr. Dirk Huyer; Chief Coroner, Ontario, Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional
 Services; Associate Professor, Department of Pediatrics, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON
 Ms. Peggy John; Senior Program Manager, Program Operations, Canadian Blood Services,
 Vancouver, BC

Dr. David Kuhl; Professor, Departments of Family Practice and Urologic Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC

Ms. Jehan Lalani – Steering Committee; Program Manager, Deceased Donation, Canadian Blood Services, Calgary, AB

Dr. Jean-François Lizé; Respiratory and Critical Care Intensivist, Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CHUM); Associate Professor, Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC **Ms. Sandra Martin**; Author and Journalist, Toronto, ON

Dr. Linda Panaro; Patient Representative; Ottawa, Ottawa, ON

Dr. Steven Paraskevas; Medical Scientist, Transplant Surgeon, Director of Pancreas and Islet Transplantation, Director of Transplant Research, McGill University Health Centre (MUHC); Associate Professor of Surgery, McGill University, Montreal, QC

Ms. Marie-Noëlle Saint-Pierre; Conseillère en éthique, Commission de l'éthique en science et en technologie, Québec, QC

Dr. Shelly Sarwal; Patient Representative, Halifax, NS

Dr. Michael Sharpe – Co-chair, Steering Committee; Intensivist, London Health Sciences Centre; Professor, Department of Anesthesia and Perioperative Medicine, Schulich School of Medicine, University of Western Ontario; Treasurer, Canadian Critical Care Society, London, ON **Dr. Sam Shemie – Steering Committee**; Division of Pediatric Critical Care, Montreal Children's Hospital, McGill University Health Centre and Research Institute; Professor of Pediatrics, McGill University; Medical Advisor, Deceased Donation, Canadian Blood Services, Montreal, QC

Dr. Christen Shoesmith – Steering Committee; Neurologist, Medical Director, London Health Sciences Centre ALS Clinic; Assistant Professor, Clinical Neurological Sciences, Western University; Member, Canadian Neurological Sciences Federation, London, ON

Dr. David Unger; Director and Ethicist, Providence Health Care, Vancouver, BC

Dr. William Wall; Professor Emeritus, Department of Surgery, University of Western Ontario, London, ON

Ms. Sherri Yazdani; Research Associate, Faculty of Law, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON **Ms. Kimberly Young**; Director, Donation and Transplantation, Canadian Blood Services, Edmonton, AB

Dr. Dirk Ysebaert; Vice-Dean Faculty of Medicine, University of Antwerp; Director, Department of Hepatobiliary, Transplantation and Endocrine Surgery, Antwerp Transplant Center, Belgium

Appendix 3: IPSOS Public Survey



Methodology

ORGAN DONATION IN COMPETENT CONSCIOUS PATIENTS



- The Online Omnibus draws on sample from the Ipsos Online Panel and surveys a nationally representative sample of approximately 1,000 Canadians each wave.
- Slight weights were applied to the final data to ensure a nationally representative sample of Canadians by region (excluding Quebec), age, and gender.



lps<mark>os</mark>

Credibility Interval

ORGAN DONATION IN COMPETENT CONSCIOUS PATIENTS

Statistical margins of error are not applicable to online polls. All sample surveys and polls may be subject to other sources of error, 1,006 SAMPLE SIZE including, but not limited to coverage error and measurement error. The precision of online polls is measured using a credibility interval. In this case, the poll has a credibility interval of plus or minus 3.5 +/- 3.5 CREDIBILITY INTERVAL percentage points. Where figures do not sum to 100, this is due to the effects of rounding. at 95% confidence interval Significant differences are flagged using Saskatchewan/ Total B.C. Alberta Manitoba Ontario Atlantic SAMPLE SIZE (n=454) CREDIBILITY +/- 3.5 +/- 8.9 +/- 9.6 +/- 10.2 +/- 5.2 +/- 9.5 INTERVAL

Key Findings - I

- Ninety-two percent of Canadians approve of people donating their organs at the time of their death.
- Support for the idea that a patient who is conscious and competent should be eligible to donate their organs if they decide to withdraw life sustaining treatment (87%) or receive medical aid in dying (80%) remains high, however support is significantly lower than the approval recorded for organ donation in general (92%).
- Older respondents and females were more likely to approve or support organ donation under these circumstances.
- A significantly higher proportion oppose the idea of a patient who receives medical aid in dying donating their organs (12%, compared to 6% who oppose donation after withdrawal of life sustaining treatment and 4% who oppose organ donation in general).
- Concerns of those who oppose organ donation under these circumstances include the risk of the donors' illness being transmitted to the recipient of the organ (48%), the possibility of vulnerable persons feeling pressured to withdraw life-sustaining treatment or choose medical aid in dying sooner than they may have otherwise (46%), or vulnerable persons feeling pressured to donate their organs (43%).



Ipsos
Key Findings - II

- Eight in ten agree that physicians or other qualified medical practitioners should be required to discuss organ donation with all adult patients regardless of illness/condition or end-of life care decision.
- Seventy-five percent of respondents think the decision of who should or should not donate their organs should take into consider both scientific evidence and the concerns of donation recipients.
- The majority agree (83%) that the decision to donate organs should be reconfirmed prior to end-of-life care being administered, however fewer agree (53%) that organ donation should only be discussed AFTER a decision regarding withdrawal of life sustaining treatment or receiving medical aid in dying is made.
- Despite high approval for organ donation overall, as well as high support for donation after end-of-life care is administered, a quarter are undecided about whether they would be willing to accept an organ transplant if there was a possibility the organ was donated by an individual who made the decision to withdrawal life sustaining treatment or receive medical aid in dying.







Overall, 92% of Canadians approve of Organ Donation after death; Support drops for those who choose end-of-life care



Overall Approval for Organ Donation After Death



While support remains strong, fewer support the idea of a conscious and competent patient donating their organs if they decide to withdraw life-sustaining treatment



Support is lower for the idea of a conscious and competent patient donating their organs if they decide to receive medical aid in dying



Paramount concerns include risk of patients illness being transmitted to recipient via organ and pressure on vulnerable patients to end care or choose organ donation



The majority agree that qualified medical practitioners should be required to discuss organ donation with all adult patients, regardless of illness/condition or end-of life care decision



Three quarter of respondents think that deciding who should or should not donate their organs should take into consideration both scientific evidence and concerns of recipients



While the majority agree the decision to donate should be reconfirmed prior to end-of-life care being administered, fewer agree the option should be discussed only AFTER this decision is made



The majority would accept an organ donation even if the organ was donated by an individual who decided to engage end-of-life measures; a quarter are undecided



envices 9. If you were in need of an organ transplant, would you be willing to accept one if there was a possibility the organ was donated by an individual who made the decision to withdrawal life sustaining treatment or receive medical aid in dying? Base: All Respondents (n=1,006)



Demographics

15



Appendix 4: Organ Donation in the Conscious Competent Adult – A Scoping Review

What do we know about deceased organ donation by the conscious, competent adult? A scoping review.

Ms. Vanessa Gruben, Ms. Sherri Yazdani & Dr. Aviva Goldberg

A. Introduction

Organ donation after cardiac death (DCD) has been practiced in Canada since 2005.¹ Only controlled DCD is practiced in Canada, whereby donation occurs following the decision to withdraw life-sustaining treatment from a patient who has a serious illness and is not expected to have meaningful recovery. Most commonly these patients are in an intensive care unit (ICU) after suffering a devastating brain injury, and accordingly are unconscious prior to death. In these cases, authorization to proceed with DCD is given by the patient's substitute decision maker or family, who may or may not be aware of the patient's wishes regarding organ donation. Yet there are some patients who are conscious, competent and capable of actively making decisions regarding their end-of-life care, whether death occurs through the withdrawal of life-sustaining measures (WLSM) or medical aid in dying (MAID). These individuals may also wish to donate their organs after death. While there have been reports of both groups of patients requesting organ donation following WLSM or MAID,^{2,3} only two provinces, Quebec and Ontario have created guidelines specific to organ donation after MAID.³

The right of a competent adult to refuse medical treatment (even when the consequence of that refusal may lead to death) has been established for many years, and it is accepted that life-sustaining therapy can be discontinued when its burdens outweigh its benefits, so death after WLSM is a routine part of ICU practice.⁵ The legalization of MAID in Canada as of June 2016 will certainly increase the frequency with which a conscious competent adult may request organ donation as part of his or her end-of-life care. Following the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in *Carter v Canada*,⁶ the federal government passed legislation amending the Criminal Code to allow eligible Canadians to request MAID. To be eligible, an individual must be 18 years of age and capable of making health care decisions, have a grievous and irremediable medical condition as defined by the legislation, have made a voluntary request for MAID that is not the result of outside pressure or influence and give informed consent to receive MAID.⁷ The legalization of MAID requires us to consider whether and how organ donation after MAID should proceed.

This paper considers deceased organ donation by conscious, competent patients, including those who request WLSM and those who choose MAID. Although these patients have chosen different end-of-life measures, these patient groups are similar in that they are able to provide first person informed consent for organ donation. Several ethical and practical considerations arise in these circumstances, which should inform policy making. The purpose of our study was to determine and synthesize the range of research on this subject and to disseminate our research findings to ethicists, clinicians and policy makers who are seeking to develop policies to guide deceased organ donation following the withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment or medical aid in dying.

B. Methods

We employed the framework for scoping reviews designed by Arksey and O'Malley⁸ and Levac et al.⁹ Our focus was on the ethical and legal analysis of organ donation by a conscious, competent adult following either the withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment or MAID. We selected four databases: PubMed, SCOPUS, Legaltrac and LexisNexis Quicklaw.

Literature search

We first reviewed a limited number of sources to establish a review question and identify relevant keywords. We identified three concepts which were expanded into categories of keywords. The first concept was organ donation, the second related to the capacity of the potential donor and the third addressed either the patient's underlying condition or the request for WLSM or MAID. We then developed a search strategy to examine English-language academic sources, searching each database for articles which included a keyword from the organ donation concept and any keyword from either of the other two concepts in their title or abstract. We consulted an academic librarian who verified the validity of the search strategy.

In addition, we checked the bibliographies and citations of the studies selected for inclusion for further articles to be included in the scoping exercise. At this stage, we identified further references (n = 3) after which we reached saturation where no new studies were identified.

Screening

Results were screened for inclusion and exclusion criteria. Ms. Vanessa Gruben and Ms. Sherri Yazdani screened titles and abstracts to develop eligibility criteria.⁸ We included only English language journal articles that were peer-reviewed. Articles were excluded if it focused on (1) concepts not related to organ donation; (2) gamete extraction or ovarian tissue donation; (3) family (third person) consent to posthumous donation; (4) non-human organ or tissue donation; (5) medical assistance in dying/euthanasia; (6) consent to living donation; (7) medical/scientific aspects of donation; (8) presumed consent systems. Where abstracts were not available, the full text was screened. Disagreements about eligibility were resolved by discussion and consensus.

Data Extraction

We charted the data extracted from the articles in a shared spreadsheet. All three authors read each of the articles in full. The process of identifying themes emerging from the relevant sources is an important part of the charting process for scoping reviews.⁸ This was an iterative process where additional themes and issues were identified throughout the charting process. We each identified emerging themes and issues and held a series of team meetings to finalize the overarching themes.

C. Results

Figure 1 summarizes the search results and screening process. Of the 5,062 identified articles, 18 articles were included in the scoping review along with 3 articles identified by a complementary search of citations. Included articles were published between 2009 and 2016 from academic articles and one book chapter. The included articles yielded information on the experience in Canada (2) as well as the United States (6), Australia (1), the United Kingdom (1), Switzerland (2), the Netherlands (4) and Belgium (5).





Eight overall themes emerged from the literature: (1) rationales for and against deceased organ donation following MAID/WLSM; (2) ethical considerations arising for deceased organ donation by the conscious competent

Eight overall themes emerged from the literature: (1) rationales for and against deceased organ donation following MAID/WLSM; (2) ethical considerations arising for deceased organ donation by the conscious compete

patient; (3) practical considerations arising for deceased organ donation by the conscious competent patient; (4) possible protections for the patient considering deceased organ donation; (5) considerations governing the approach; (6) public perception of deceased organ donation in the conscious competent patient; (7) organ donation euthanasia; (8) general observations with respect to international experience of organ donation coupled with either WLSM or MAID. Several issues were identified within each theme. See Overview of Themes & Issues below.

While a complete summary of the range of issues and themes identified are contained below, only those relevant to the current policy discussions in Canada are discussed herein. For example, organ donation

euthanasia is not discussed as this is currently not being proposed or considered. Further, data extracted under the theme of general observations with respect to international experience have been included under discussion of other themes, where appropriate.

Rationales for and against deceased organ donation following MAID/WLSM

The literature revealed rationales both in support of and against organ donation following WLSM or MAID. Most commonly, it was argued that permitting organ donation by the conscious competent adult could increase the number of organs available for donation¹⁰⁻²⁰ and indeed, many of these organs would likely be of better quality than those using a conventional DCD procedure¹⁶. Respect for individual autonomy and self-determination was also a paramount consideration supporting organ donation by those who are undergoing WLSM or MAID.^{10, 12-13, 21-24} Under these unique circumstances, the patient can give first-person informed consent to organ donation after death and as such the patient's wish to be an organ donor should be respected. In addition, respecting a patient's wish to be an organ donor may be of personal benefit to the donor, whose own death may easier to bear if he or she knows that death will save or improve the life of another^{13, 24} and it may likewise benefit his or her family by providing increased solace or comfort during their grieving ^{13, 24}. Two authors cited cost-effectiveness as a factor in favor of permitting organ donation in these circumstances.^{12, 20} Finally, as is discussed below, others noted that this approach may increase public acceptance of assisted dying.²⁰

By contrast, it has been argued that permitting organ donation under these circumstances may unduly pressure patients; a person who may not otherwise opt for MAID might choose to die to donate his or her organs to help others.¹² A related concern is that the patient may feel that they need to consent to organ donation because he or she is dependent on his physician to withdraw treatment²¹ (this concept is discussed further in the section "Ethical considerations" below)

Beyond the pressure which may be experienced by individuals, there is a concern that permitting organ donation following WLSM or MAID could undermine public trust in the organ donation system because "physicians would be tempted to be deliberately pessimistic about the patient's prognosis to enhance the patient's chance of requesting withdrawal of treatment".²¹ Further, one author urged caution: the fact that combinations of euthanasia and organ donation have already been performed does not necessarily create justification for it.²⁵

Ethical considerations

Several ethical considerations have been raised with respect to the possibility of organ donation following WLSM or MAID. First, there is a concern that the patient may be subject to undue influence or coerced to donate his or her organs.^{10, 12, 21, 23} There are a range of external factors that could influence the patient's decision: a patient may feel pressured to consent to donation because he or she is dependent on a physician for withdrawal of care whom the patient may perceive as favoring donation;²¹, ²⁵ patients may choose to die in order to donate their organs to save the lives of others^{12-13, 23-24} or may choose to end their lives earlier than they would otherwise, in order to donate.¹³ Some authors contend that the act of informing patients of the opportunity to donate could put pressure on a patient.^{10, 20, 25} The pressure on the patient's decision-making may be exacerbated if they are aware of a specific recipient in need of an organ.²³ In this vein, some note that the request for MAID should be motivated by the suffering of the person considering MAID, not organ donation to a specific recipient, such as a relative,^{10, 23, 25} or more generally.¹⁰ Thus, it is crucial that the motivations for consenting to WLSM, MAID and donation are carefully explored by the health care provider as part of the evaluation process. While it is important to ascertain a patient's motivations, the Dutch practice manual warns against discouraging a patient's altruistic intentions if he or she otherwise meets euthanasia criteria: donation should not be discouraged or disallowed solely because a patient expresses altruistic motivation.²³

Several ethical issues specific to medical staff and health care professionals are raised in the literature. There is a recognition that end-of-life care is often an emotional process for health care professionals.²⁰⁻^{21, 24} Organ donation in the conscious competent adult may be more emotionally difficult for health care professionals, in part, because many of these patients are still able to communicate and bond with the staff, unlike permanently unconscious patients.²⁴ As such, several authors emphasize the importance of voluntary participation by health care providers.^{16, 23}

Not all health care professionals may want to participate in organ donation after MAID or WLSM. Health care professionals and hospitals may object on the basis that they are opposed to MAID, and that participation in organ donation after MAID may be tacit endorsement.^{12-13, 20} The emotional component of dealing with a person who is currently awake and communicative but is imminently dying may also be playing a role, as discussed above. However, some have questioned the legitimacy of objection to organ donation following WLSM or MAID on the basis that it "could contribute to avoidable patient deaths".^{13, 12}

The Canadian public is not unanimous in its support of MAID, and some object to the practice on religious or ethical grounds. Potential recipients who oppose assisted dying may object to receiving an organ from a patient who has undergone MAID, though others may find this acceptable. Some argue that potential recipients should be informed that their donor underwent MAID since, in certain jurisdictions recipients and their physicians have the opportunity to refuse certain types of donor organs for other reasons, such as donor age and lifestyle factors that could increase risk of infectious diseases transmission.²³ Some maintain that the source of the organs should not be disclosed.¹³ Not only is detailed information about the circumstances of a donor's death, including a violent non-assisted suicide, not generally disclosed to potential recipients in certain jurisdictions, giving recipients the chance to refuse organs on these grounds would "lead to organ wastage and indeed to the potential death of the recipient".¹³ Notably, this practice varies by country. In Belgium, the law prevents disclosing any donor information to the recipient, including the cause of death, ¹⁵ while in the Netherlands both recipients and their physicians may refuse certain types of organs at the time of being placed on the waitlist, and it has been recommended that organs procured following euthanasia also be permitted to be refused in this manner.²³

Practical considerations

The literature also identifies several practical considerations that must be addressed in any guideline or policy governing organ donation following WLSM or MAID. These range from additional steps or changes in end-of-life care to various medical and clinical considerations which engage both health care providers and institutions.

There are additional steps or modifications to the patient's end-of-life care that will arise if he or she opts for organ donation. There are preparatory procedures that the patient who consents to organ donation may need to undergo including blood tests and imaging to determine whether the organs would be suitable for donation and to prepare for allocation.^{16, 23} These may result in increased stress¹⁰ or discomfort.

In addition, the patient may consent to a series of pre-mortem interventions, such as the administration of heparin, which will maintain/improve the quality of his or her organs.^{10, 23} While some have indicated that because the patient has provided first-person consent to pre-mortem interventions there is no cause for concern,^{10, 20, 26} others have expressed worry about undertaking pre-mortem procedures in this context. The approach to pre-mortem interventions for a patient who has opted for MAID differs as between Belgium and the Netherlands. In Belgium, physicians can administer heparin to the patient on the basis that administering heparin will not harm the patient because he or she will die because of the

euthanasia drugs.^{15, 25} By contrast, in the Netherlands, any treatment which is meant to keep the patient's organs in good condition is not permitted²⁵ as it is generally understood that donation should not interfere with the euthanasia process.²³

Second, for those who opt to donate their organs, the place of death must be in hospital as opposed to at home.^{10, 12, 16, 23, 25} The patient must be hospitalized to facilitate optimal organ recovery and optimize transplantation success for the organs.^{13, 23, 25} This may deter the patient from donating, as many patients wish to die at home or in some other "peaceful setting".¹³ However, the Dutch and Belgian experience appears to indicate that patients who wish to donate their organs do not see dying in hospital as an obstacle.²⁵

Third, the decision to donate one's organs may impact the family's opportunity to say goodbye to their loved one and to grieve their loss^{10, 23, 25} as the patient must be transported to the operating room immediately after the physician has determined death.²⁵ To facilitate this grieving process, in the Netherlands it is recommended that a nurse and second transplant coordinator be available to assist the relatives, and that a private family room be made available for the family.²³ Again, experience demonstrates that this is not seen as an obstacle by patients or their families.²⁴⁻²⁵ Indeed, many families "appear very supportive of the patient's last wish despite the potential extra burden."²⁵

From the clinician's perspective, organ donation following WLSM or MAID also raises several practical issues. As discussed above, organ donation following WLSM and MAID, involves donation after cardiac death (DCD). In the Netherlands (as in Canada), circulatory death is determined by recording the absence of an intra-arterial pressure wave or some other current method of monitoring circulation followed by a no-touch period of 5 minutes.²³ Some have questioned whether this no-touch period is necessary "given that the patient wants to die and is unconscious".¹²⁻¹³ Others have noted that the short pre-mortem ischemic time associated with donation after MAID is a potential advantage over donation after WLSM.¹³

Other clinical/medical considerations that arise in this context include confirming eligibility for donation as well as MAID. Both in terms of eligibility to donate (for example, patients who have a metastatic malignancy or other potentially transmissible disease are not eligible to donate)^{12, 16} and capacity to consent (e.g. "confirming that the individual has a fatal neurological illness, screening for and treatment of depression, and recognition that some patients have depression, pseudo-dementia or dementia.")²⁴ Indeed, one author notes "it is imperative to discuss what to do if the patient's condition deteriorates and the patient becomes unconscious in the days preceding the day of the procedure."²³

Recognizing that donation under these circumstances is still quite new, several articles identify the need for increased cooperation between health care providers and institutions responsible for end-of-life care, organ procurement and transplantation.^{13, 16} For example, in one case report, the doctors and nurses in the ICU had no previous relationship with the patient, accordingly the nursing home physician who was performing the euthanasia was temporarily appointed to the hospital.¹⁶ Other suggestions for optimizing care include: ensuring that a transplant coordinator is present during the meeting between the patient and the physician performing the withdrawal or MAID;²³ and creating specialized centres where organ donation following WLSM and/or MAID is performed.¹⁶ In cases where the coroner is involved because of the manner of death, as is required in the Netherlands, it is important that the transplant coordinator make arrangements with the coroner in advance to ensure that permission to use the body for organ donation is granted.²³

Another practical consideration is the need for supports or debriefing mechanisms for health care professionals and medical staff who participate in these cases. As discussed above, these cases can be emotionally difficult.²⁴ An American article reported the responsible nurse as stating, "This was one of

the most intense and difficult things I have done as a nurse, but ultimately certainly also very rewarding knowing that I helped ensure his comfort and some other people's lives will be improved as a result of organ donation.²⁴

Protections for patient/potential donor

The literature identifies several protections to safeguard the interests of the patient and to ensure that they provide free and informed consent to either the withdrawal of life-sustaining measures or MAID as well as organ donation. Although it may be "difficult to disentangle patients' motivations for requesting MAID", the separation of the two decisions is important to help ensure that the request is not solely motivated by organ donation.¹⁰ Indeed in Belgium, legal regulations require that a discussion on the possibility of organ donation can only occur after the request for euthanasia has been granted .¹⁹ In service to this separation of decisions and processes, a number of articles advocate for ensuring separate teams for the WLSM or MAID procedure and the organ donation procedure.^{10, 12, 15-16, 22-23} Further, separate medical teams protect the patient from the pressure discussed above, whereby they may feel it is necessary to consent to donation in order to secure the assistance of the physician providing the WLSM or MAID.

With regard to informed consent, health care providers should be particularly alert to the possibility that a patient might be requesting withdrawal or MAID because he can donate organs either to someone specific²³ or in general. He/she may be motivated by some other outside influence, such as financial considerations.²⁶

Several authors suggest prohibiting directed donation in this context (e.g. to a friend or family member who the MAID patient knows needs an organ). This addresses the concern that some patients might be motivated to undergo WLSM and/or MAID to donate organs to a specific recipient.^{10, 23} However, it has been argued that it may be difficult to prohibit directed donation, as living organ donation is mostly directed and there is no explicit prohibition on directed deceased donation in Canada.¹⁰ Indeed, the Dutch Practice Manual points out that it is illogical that a patient undergoing euthanasia could designate a recipient by choosing to undergo living donation in advance of euthanasia, but that they would be prohibited from directing their deceased donation.²³

In addition, the health care team must ensure that the patient has sufficient capacity to consent to WLSM/MAID and organ donation.¹⁴ Capacity may be affected by medications that may cloud their cognition and lowering sedation may improve decision-making but could cause the patient distress.¹⁴ There may also be concerns about a patient's decisional duration. Medical staff, health care professionals, family members and possibly a psychiatric consultation will play important roles in assessing the patient's capacity.²⁶ A waiting period will provide the patient with an opportunity to reconsider or withdraw consent to WLSM/MAID and/or organ donation.

The "approach"

The literature addresses a number of considerations regarding which patients considering WLSM or MAID should be approached about organ donation and how the approach should be made. The literature is divided. Some maintain that all patients in these circumstances should be informed about the possibility of donating their organs^{10, 19, 25} since this would support autonomy and justice by giving all potential donors the information with which they could make an informed choice.^{10, 23} By contrast, some argue that providing all patients with this information could be perceived as pressuring the patient to donate.¹⁰ To date, no jurisdiction requires that every patient considering WLSM or MAID be informed of the possibility of organ donation. In Ontario, Trillium Gift of Life Network has issued a guidance document which states that approval to receive medical assistance in dying constitutes an "imminent death" and requires designated facilities to notify TGLN so that the individual may be approached.²⁶ In

the province of Quebec, there is disagreement between the CEST and Transplant Quebec regarding whether the patient should be approached.¹⁰ In the Netherlands, the attending physician is responsible for deciding whether to inform the patient who is considering MAID.¹⁰ One factor that the physician may consider in making this decision is whether the patient has previously registered as an organ donor, as those that have registered would likely be more open to the discussion /approach for organ donation after MAID.^{23, 25}

There is a consensus in the literature that where the physician chooses to discuss organ donation with a patient in these circumstances, this discussion should occur *after* the discussion regarding withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment or MAID.^{13, 19-20, 25} Making a request before this time may be seen as influencing the patient's decision regarding withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment or MAID or the physician may be perceived as having a conflict of interest.²⁰ The latter is especially concerning in the context of MAID where the patient may believe that the physician is "only willing to perform euthanasia because the patient will donate organs."²⁵

The literature also notes that the discussion about organ donation should be facilitated by the organ procurement team as opposed to the patient's treating physician.²⁴ Whereas others have suggested that "[t]he treating physician, who often has a long-term relationship of trust with the patient, is usually the preferred person to raise the issue of organ donation."²³

Public perception

The literature also addresses the potential impact (both negative and positive) of organ donation following WLSM and MAID on both the organ donation system and the practice of MAID. While there is no empirical data on public perceptions of organ donation following MAID in Belgium or the Netherlands, there has been some speculation regarding both the potential impact and mechanisms that should be introduced to bolster public trust in this context.

Some have speculated that organ donation following MAID may "enhance the social acceptability of [assisted dying] practices."^{12, 20} However, there is also a risk that the "association of [organ donation and transplantation] with [assisted dying] could reduce the overall acceptability of [organ donation and transplantation] and possibly damage the trust and confidence that societal members currently have in standard/traditional organ donation and transplantation practices."²⁰ This may be because there is a perception that conflicts of interest may exist as discussed above.^{14, 21}

These concerns may be mitigated. Most importantly is the fact that there is first-person informed consent to organ donation in this context.²⁰ Others have emphasized the importance of transparent, consistent processes to promote public trust in the system.^{11, 14} A key process that has been identified which promotes public trust (in addition to patient autonomy) is the separation of the decisions regarding MAID and donation.¹⁰ Others have called for adequate checks to be put in place to ensure that this process unfolds as intended.¹⁹ Current checks exist in other jurisdictions including a notification and request for permission to a coroner or public prosecutor to obtain the body for organ donation,^{16, 23} as well as a review by a regional euthanasia committee.²³

D. Discussion

This scoping review of 21 references revealed important themes and issues in the literature. Notably, the literature overwhelmingly suggests that organ donation after WLSM or MAID is ethically and legally acceptable. It also demonstrates that a number of patients who chose/consented to WLSM or MAID have spontaneously requested to donate their organs.

The bioethical and practical considerations governing organ donation following WLSM or MAID generated significant discussion in the literature. Bioethical concerns arose with respect to the dying patient, the medical staff and the recipient. Many authors expressed concern about the possibility that the patient could be subject to a range of external factors that would influence his or her decision regarding end-of-life care or organ donation. Bioethical concerns specific to the medical staff related to the importance of voluntary participation and conscientious objection. There was also some concern regarding what information, if any, the recipient should receive regarding the source of the organs.

In addition, a number of practical considerations were raised. A number of these related to additional steps or modifications to the patient's end-of-life care to determine eligibility and to facilitate organ donation as well as medical considerations such as "no touch" time and the determination of death.

A range of safeguards or protections were suggested to address the various bioethical and practical considerations raised while ensuring public trust in the organ donation system. Many these suggestions or practices arise from non-Canadian jurisdictions, which often have different laws and practices governing WLSM, MAID and organ donation, as well as different social and cultural contexts. As such, it is important to pay attention to the greater context from which the safeguard arose. We also emphasize the need for a Canada specific approach to organ donation following WLSM and MAID. Thus, we believe that the key protections that may be relevant in the Canadian context include:

- 1. separation of decisions regarding WLSM or MAID and organ donation;
- discussion of organ donation should occur only after the decision regarding WLSM/MAID has been made;
- 3. separation of teams: end-of-life care team, organ procurement team and organ transplant team;
- 4. coordination between these teams is needed to ensure that the patient receives the highest level of care and his or her wishes are respected to the extent possible.

Many of these safeguards already exist; they should be explicitly included in any policy around organ donation following WLSM or MAID. The task that lies ahead is striking the right balance between supporting those that want to be organ donors after a death from WLSM or MAID and protecting the public interest, particularly during these early days of MAID in Canada. While MAID itself remains controversial for both health care providers and the Canadian public, organ donation after death from the conscious competent patient can be provided in a legally and bioethically sound manner that that will honour the wishes of the individual choosing to end his or her life and potentially improve access to transplantation in Canada.

REFERENCES

- Shemie SD, Baker AJ, Knoll G, Wall W, Rocker G, Howes D, Davidson J, Pagliarello J, Chambers-Evans J, Cockfield S, Farrell C, Glannon W, Gourlay W, Grant D, Langevin S, Wheelock B, Young K, Dossetor J. National recommendations for donation after cardiocirculatory death in Canada: Donation after cardiocirculatory death in Canada. CMAJ 2006;175(8):S1-S24.
- 2. Doctors refuse man's request to have organs donated because he was conscious just before death. *National Post.* 2015 July 7.
- 3. Doctors harvesting organs from Canadian patients who underwent medically assisted death. *National Post*. 2017 March 20.
- 4. Medical Assistance in Dying (MAID): Ontario. Toronto: Centre for Effective Practice. 2016 November.
- 5. *Malette v Shulman et al* (1990), 72 OR (2d) 417, 67 DLR (4th) 321 (Ont CA).
- 6. Carter v Canada (AG), 2015 SCC 5, 1 SCR 331.
- 7. *Criminal Code*, RSC 1985, c C-46, s 241.2(1).

- 8. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. *Int J of Social Research Methodology* 2005;8(1):19-32.
- 9. Levac D, Colquhoun H, O'Brien KK. Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. *Implementation Science* 2010;5:69.
- 10. Allard J, Fortin MC. Organ donation after medical assistance in dying or cessation of life-sustaining treatment requested by conscious patients: the Canadian context. J Med Ethics 2016;0:1-5.
- 11. Wilkinson D, Savulescu J. Should we allow organ donation euthanasia? Alternatives for maximizing the number and quality of organs for transplantation. *Bioethics* 2012;**26**(1):32-48.
- 12. Shaw DM. Organ donation after assisted suicide: a potential solution to the organ scarcity problem. *Transplantation* 2014;98(3):247-251.
- 13. Shaw DM. Saving lives with assisted suicide and euthanasia: Organ donation after assisted dying. In: Cholbi M, Varelius J, editors. New Direction in the Ethics of Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia. New York: Springer International Publishing, 2015; p 185-192.
- 14. Overby KJ, Weinstein MS, Fiester A. Addressing Consent Issues in Donation After Circulatory Determination of Death. *Am J Bioeth* 2015;**15**(8):3-9.
- 15. Van Raemdonck D, Verleden GM, Dupont L, Ysebaert D, Monbaliu D, Neyrinck A, Coosemans W, Decaluwe H, De Leyn P, Nafteux P, Lerut T. **Initial experience with transplantation of lungs** recovered from donors after euthanasia. *Appl Cardiopulm Pathophysiol* 2011;**15**:38-48.
- 16. van Wijingaarden AKS, van Westerloo DJ, Ringers J. **Organ Donation After Euthanasia in the Netherlands: A Case Report.** *Transplant Proc* 2016;**48**:3061-3063.
- 17. Baginski W. Hastening death: dying, dignity and the organ shortage gap. *Am J Law Med* 2009; **35**(4):562-584.
- 18. Detry O, Le Dinh H, Noterdaeme T, De Roover A, Honoré P, Squifflet JP, Meurisse M. **Categories of** donation after cardiocirculatory death. *Transplant Proc* 2012;**44**(5):1189-1195.
- 19. Cohen-Almagor R. First do no harm: pressing concerns regarding euthanasia in Belgium. Int J Law Psychiatry 2013;36(5-6):515-521.
- 20. Kirby J. Organ donation after assisted death: Is it more or less ethically-problematic than donation after circulatory death? *Med Health Care Philos* 2016:**19**(4):629-635.
- 21. Epker JL, de Groot YJ, Kompanje EJ. **Obtaining consent for organ donation from a competent ICU** patient who does not want to live anymore and who is dependent on life-sustaining treatment; ethically feasible? *Clin Ethics* 2013;8:29-33.
- Ysebaert D, Van Beeumen G, De Greef K, Squifflet JP, Detry O, De Roover A, Delbouille M-H, Van Donink W, Roeyen G, Chapelle T, Bosmans J-L, Van Raemdonck D, Faymonville ME, Laureys S, Lamy M, Cras P. Organ procurement after euthanasia: Belgian experience. *Transplant Proc* 2009;41(2):585-586.
- 23. Bollen J, de Jongh W, Hagenaars J, van Dijk G, ten Hoopen R, Ysebaert D, Ijzermans J, van Heurn E, van Mook W. **Organ donation after euthanasia: a Dutch practical manual.** *Am J of Transplant* 2016;**16**:1967-1972.
- 24. Smith TJ, Vota S, Patel S, Ford T, Lyckholm L, Bhushan A, Bobb B, Coyne P, Swainey C. **Organ donation after cardiac death from withdrawal of life support in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.** *J Palliat Med* 2012;**15**(1):16-19.
- 25. Bollen J, ten Hoopen R, Ysebaert D, van Mook W, van Heurn E. Legal and ethical aspects of organ donation after euthanasia in Belgium and the Netherlands. J Med Ethics 2016;42:486-489.
- 26. Organ and Tissue Donation after Medical Assistance in Dying: Guidance Document. Trillium Gift of Life Network. 2016 July 26.
- 27. Comadira G, Hervey L, Winearls J, Young-Jamieson J, Marshall A. **Do you have a right to decide? Or do we have a right to acquiesce?** *Aust Crit Care* 2015;**28**(2):72-76.
- 28. Coons C, Levin N. The dead donor rule, voluntary active euthanasia, and capital punishment. *Bioethics* 2011;**25**(5):236-243.

- 29. DeVita MA, Snyder JV. Development of the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center policy for the care of terminally ill patients who may become organ donors after death following the removal of life support. *Kennedy Inst Ethics J* 1993;**3**(2):131-143.
- 30. Evrard P. Belgian modified classification of Maastricht for donors after circulatory death. *Transplant Proc* 2014;46(9):3138-3142.

Literature Search Terms

Concept	Keywords searched
5. Organ donation	6. organ donation
	7. organ donor
8. Capacity	9. competent
	10. capacity
	11. capable
12. Underlying condition/request for WLSM	13. neuromuscular
or MAID	14. neurodegenerative
	15. ALS
	16. sclerosis
	17. assisted dying
	18. assisted death

Overview of Themes & Issues

THEME	ISSUE	SOURCE
RATIONALE FOR AND AGAINST ORGAN DONATION AND MAID/WLSM		25 (486), 21 (31-32)
	For MAID – Similarities with WLSM	24 (16), 20 (630), 10 (1), 21 (30), 16 (3062)
	Increase organs available for donation	17 (584, 565), 25 (486), 18 (1191), 19 (517), 20 (632), 10 (5), 11 (32), 12 (247), 16 (3062), 13 (187-88), 14 (5), 16 (3061), 15 (39)
	Undermining public trust in O/D system	20 (633), 21 (32)
	Self-determination/autonomy	25 (487), 24 (17), 20 (631), 10 (3), 21 (31), 12 (249), 22 (586), 23 (1968-69), 13 (186), 13 (188- 89, 192)
	Benefit to donor	24 (17), 13 (188, 192)
	Benefit to donor family	24 (17), 13 (188)
	Against – pressure on patient	10 (3), 21 (32), 12 (249)
	Cost effectiveness	20 (633), 10 (3), 21 (32), 12 (249)
	Public acceptance of assisted dying	20 (633)

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS		20 (630-31)
	Undue influence/coercion of donor	25 (488), 19 (517), 20 (634), 10 (3-4), 21 (32), 12 (249), 23 (1968-69), 13 (189)
	Motivation for donation	25 (489) 18 (1191), 24 (17), 10 (3), 23 (1968), 13 (189, 190)
	Impact on medical staff/health care professional	17 (563), 25 (488), 24 (17), 20 (632), 21 (31), 13 (186), 16 (3062)
	Recipient refusal	10 (4), 23 (1969), 13 (190), 15 (41)
	Conscientious objection of medical staff/health care professional	20 (633-34), 10 (4), 12 (250), 16 (3062), 23 (1970), 13 (186-87)
	Dignity of the donor	17 (565), 23 (1968)
	Consent	20 (632-33), 10 (3)
PRACTICAL CONSIDERATIONS	Preparatory procedures (eligibility, pre-mortem interventions)	24 (17), 20 (633) 25 (488), 24 (17), 20 (630-32), 10 (3, 5), 12 (249), 16 (3062), 23 (1969-70), 13 (188, 190), 14 (6), 15 (40)
	Place of death (hospital vs. other)	25 (487), 25 (487), 10 (4), 12 (248), 16 (3062), 23 (1970), 13 (186-87)
	Impact on family (goodbye and grieving process)	25 (487), 24 (17), 10 (4), 23 (1970-71), 27 (74)
	Organ donation registry	25 (487), 10 (4)
	Determination of death	17 (582), 20 (632), 12 (248-49), 23 (1970), 13 (186, 191)
	Clinical/medical consideration	24 (17-19, 630), 20 (633), 12 (248-49), 16 (3061), 23 (1968), 23 (1970), 13 (186-87, 191), 27 (74), 15 (41-42, 44-45)
	Coordination of health care providers/procedures (end of life, procurement, transplant)	24 (19), 12 (248), 16 (3062), 23 (1969-70), 13 (187), 27 (75)
	Maastricht categories	18 (1190-92), 12 (248-49), 30 (3139, 3141), 15 (46)
	Impact on health care team	24 (17), 23 (1971)
	Avoids family veto	20 (632), 12 (249)
PROTECTIONS FOR POTENTIAL DONOR/PATIENT		28 (517), 12 (250), 21 (32)
	Separations of teams Ensuring informed consent (includes capacity)	24 (17), 25 (487), 10 (3-4), 22 (586), 16 (3062), 15 (39) 22 (586), 10 (2-3), 16 (3062), 23 (1968), 23 (1969), 14 (4-5), 27
		(73-74)

	Separation of procedures	19 (517), 25 (488), 22 (586), 10 (4), 12 (249), 22 (586), 23 (1968), 23 (1969), 15 (44)
	Exclusion of minors	25 (487-88)
	Directed donation	10 (3), 23 (1968)
	Protection for physician/health care provider	25 (486-87), 21 (32)
THE "ASK"		21 (32)
	Universality	10 (4)
	Timing	25 (488), 19 (517), 20 (630), 13 (190), 27 (73), 15 (45)
	Who (MAID team/patient/OPO)	25 (488), 24 (17, 19), 10 (2), 21 (32), 23 (1968-69), 15 (39)
PUBLIC PERCEPTION		24 (18), 20 (633-34), 21 (32), 12 (249), 11 (44), 14 (3-4), 14 (3), 13 (186, 189)
	Mechanisms/policies to promote public trust in euthanasia and/or organ donation system (e.g. coroner, review committees)	17 (583), 19 (518), 25 (488), 10 (4-5), 12 (248), 16 (3062), 23 (1968, 1971)
ORGAN DONATION EUTHANASIA/DEAD DONOR RULE		25 (489), 20 (632), 11 (40-41), 10 (3), 28 (237, 239, 241-43), 23 (1968), 13 (191)
INTERNATIONAL EXPERIENCE		20 (633), 25 (486-87), 19 (515, 517)
	Take-up of organ donation and MAID	25 (486), 12 (249), 22 (585-86), 16 (3061-62), 23 (1967-68), 15 (29, 39, 44, 46)
	Satisfaction with procedure	
	Other	10 (2-3), 29 (134)

Appendix 5: Review of ALS Patients as Organ Donors

Should ALS patients be organ donors?

Authors: Christen Shoesmith, MD FRCPC, Basavaraj Shetter MD, Clinical Neurological Sciences, London Health Sciences Centre, London, ON.

What is ALS?

ALS is a neurodegenerative disease which causes progressive degeneration of the motor neurons in the motor cortex of the brain and the anterior horn cells of the spinal cord. The disease typically begins with focal neurogenic weakness and can progress to generalized weakness. Common initial presentations of the disease are difficulty speaking, difficulty swallowing, hand weakness, or foot weakness. Where ever the weakness begins, the patient will experience progressive weakness in that body region and the weakness will spread to involve other body regions.

The diagnosis of ALS is made typically by a neurologist who confirms the diagnosis after reviewing: the patient's story, examination findings, electrophysiology results, and other investigations. Typical ALS physical examination signs are weakness, muscle atrophy, fasciculations, hyperreflexia, spasticity, and other upper motor neuron findings. Unfortunately, there is no single laboratory or electrophysiological test that can confirm a diagnosis of ALS. As a consequence of not having a specific diagnostic test, a diagnosis of ALS requires an experienced clinician to be able to suspect ALS based on a typical history and examination findings, and the necessity of ruling out ALS mimics through appropriate investigations.

ALS has an incidence of 2-3 cases per 100,000 people and the disease can affect people of any age and any ethnicity. The mean age of onset of ALS is the late 50s or early 60s; but individuals may be diagnosed in their early 20s up until their late 80s. The disease is ultimately fatal with death usually secondary to respiratory failure. The average survival after symptom onset is 2-3 years, but the range of survival after symptom onset is 5 months to more than 50 years.

About 10% of patients with ALS have hereditary ALS, which means that their disease is inherited in an autosomal dominant or autosomal recessive manner. The majority of patients with ALS have "sporadic ALS" which means that their disease has not been caused by any genetic mutations known to cause ALS and there is no evidence of other family members with ALS. The cause of sporadic ALS has not been definitively determined. Science has identified several factors that may increase the risk of a patient developing ALS on a cellular level such as protein aggregation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and inflammation. As for environmental factors that may increase the risk of sporadic ALS, only weak associations have been found.

Although classically described as a predominately motor disease, ALS is now recognized to cause frontal executive, social cognition or behavioural impairments in a proportion of patients. On formal neuropsychological testing, 50% of patients with ALS will have frontotemporal cognitive impairments or behavioural impairments. Up to 40% of these patients with ALS will have sufficient cognitive or behavioural impairment to cause functional impairment and are classified as having frontotemporal dementia (FTD).

There are a few pharmacological treatments which have demonstrated modest benefit in slowing the progression of ALS. Riluzole, a glutamate antagonist, is the oldest ALS treatment and is approved in all regions of Canada. In Canada, there are no other approved medications for ALS. On May 5th, 2017, the FDA approved edaravone which is an intravenous free radical scavenger for the treatment of ALS. The European Medicines Agency (EMA) has recently received an application for masitinib, an oral mast cell inhibitor, for the treatment of ALS. We expect that the manufacturers of masitinib and edaravone will

be pursuing Health Canada approval for these two medications. However, both of these two medications have only demonstrated modest slowing of the disease progression.

After diagnosis, management of ALS patients focuses on symptom management, motor function support, nutrition interventions and respiratory support. As mentioned above, patients with ALS will eventually die of respiratory failure. However, there are a number of respiratory interventions that can prolong survival in ALS. Specifically, non-invasive ventilation (NIV), invasive ventilation and mechanical in/exsufflators can support patients with significant respiratory muscle weakness. Some patients with ALS start using non-invasive ventilation and slowly progress to using non-invasive ventilation for 24hours a day.

Rationale for exploring organ donation from patients with ALS

There is no disputing the fact that there is a shortage of organs for organ transplantation. Identification of new sources of organs for transplantation is important and patients dying of ALS could potentially be a new source of organs.

Avenues of potential organ donation from ALS patients

ALS is not known to cause any organ impairments outside of the brain and spinal cord. Although there is respiratory muscle weakness in ALS, the lung parenchyma should otherwise be normal. Patients with ALS often have interest in donation of their organs. 40-year-old woman with ALS in San Francisco decided to proceed with DCD and made this statement prior to her death: "I am glad that in spite of my disease, there is still something I can do to help others in a significant way. ALS is preventing me from accomplishing what I wanted to do in my life, but hopefully, my donation will give others a chance to live out their dreams". (Toossi et al in Ann Neurol 2012).

There are 3 ways that an ALS patient could potentially offer to donate their organs:

- 1. Donation through DCD after discontinuation of invasive ventilation
- 2. Donation through DCD after discontinuation of continuous non-invasive ventilation (NIV) support.
- 3. Donation after Medical Assistance in Dying (MAID).

Patients with ALS often ask if they are organ donation candidates in ALS clinics, without prompting by the ALS clinic staff. Patients are often willing to have an open discussion about the topic of organ donation.

Evidence for or against the transmissibility of ALS

In order to classify and understand the evidence regarding the transmissibility of ALS, we have performed an extensive librarian assisted literature search of Medline and EMBASE. The literature search used synonyms for ALS and combined that with standard search terms for organ transplantation or transmissibility/transmissible/transmission. Papers were limited to English or French. The search was meant to be comprehensive. There were 4003 abstracts returned and 55 of these abstracts were selected to be of potential relevance. Those papers were pulled for further review. The evidence extracted from the papers were divided into 3 categories: cell culture, animal and human data. ALS research currently uses models of familial ALS to study the disease. Unfortunately, there are no great models of sporadic ALS that have been identified. The most common model used in animal research in ALS is the mSOD1 mouse. Mutations in super oxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) were the first mutations discovered that cause familial ALS (1993). As a consequence, the SOD1 mouse models are often the most well developed. More recently, other genetic causes of familial ALS have been found such as TDP-43 (2008) and FUS (2009) mutations. In 2011, expanded repeats in the c9orf72 gene, were identified as the most common cause of familial ALS (35% of familial ALS). The finding of new genetic causes of ALS has allowed for development of new cellular and animal models of ALS.

Evidence of ALS transmission in cell cultures

Since protein misfolding and protein aggregation are felt to be hallmarks of ALS pathology, most of the studies of transmissibility through cell cultures look at the potential for cell to cell transmissibility of protein misfolding or protein aggregation. Authors of the papers often refer to the potential for prion-like capacity of ALS because of the protein inducing misfolding and/or aggregation seen in ALS models. In order to clarify infectivity concepts, it is worth elucidating the definition of a prion and prion-like condition. A prion is an infectious agent composed entirely of protein material. Misfolding of the prion protein, PrP, triggers other proteins to also misfold and cause disease. A prion-like disorder can induce protein misfolding and cell to cell transmission, but that there is no evidence (yet) of transmissibility through blood transmission (Cushman 2013).

Several papers addressed the possibility of mutated SOD1 proteins to induce misfolding in other mutant SOD1 proteins and also in wildtype SOD1 proteins. These papers also look at that fact that SOD1 misfolding can be transmitted through adjacent cells, likely via exosomal secretion of misfolded protein (Ayers 2014, Fernando 2014).

Almost all autopsy specimens of patients dying of ALS demonstrate TDP43 inclusions. The main exceptions to TDP43 inclusions are those patients with SOD1 mutations and FUS mutations. As a consequence, TDP43 aggregates are often studied in ALS research. A number of papers have looked at the potential of cell to cell transmissibility of TDP43 misfolding and aggregation. A portion of the TDP43 (c terminus) has a sequence similar to that of prion protein. Furthermore, the extent of pathology is proportional to the amount of aggregate present (Guo 2011). TDP43 aggregates can act as a seed for further aggregation and induce cell death (Nonaka 2013). TDP 43 can be transmitted within and between cells. Exosomal transport is one of the hypotheses for the mechanism of transmission of protein aggregates between cells (Fevrier 2005), (Nonaka 2013). There exists both horizontal (adjacent cells) and vertical (synaptic transmission). While exosomes have been found in CSF (Street 2012), we have not found evidence for the ability of lysosomes to cross blood brain barrier.

The CSF from patients with ALS can serve as the seed to propagate the disease. TDP 43 aggregation can be induced in vitro by treating a human glioma cell line with CSF from patients with ALS- FTD (Ding et al 2016). However, CSF from ALS patients without FTD did not induce TDP43 aggregates. The two patient groups were significantly different in age, with the ALS/FTD group being older than the ALS group and this difference may have been pathologically significant. Interpretation of this result is challenging. Was the induction in TDP43 aggregation due to an over representation of familial variants in the ALS-FTD group? Or was there age associated factors that contributed most to the aggregation?

There is also some early evidence of potential cell to cell transmission in C9orf72 associated pathology. Chang et al (2016) demonstrated cell to cell transmission of C9orf72 repeat GA fibrils in a neuroblastoma line. Westergard et al in Cell 2016 found evidence of cell to cell spreading of dipeptide repeats in induced pluripotent stem cells from C9orf72 patients (DPRs are the protein product of the hexanucleotide repeat seen in C9orf72 repeat expansions). It is unclear if transmission of DPRs is sufficient to induce development of typical ALS pathology.

Evidence of ALS transmission in animal models

Fraser et al did an experiment in 1996 whereby they inoculated mice with brain and spinal cord homogenates from patients who had died of ALS. The inoculation was done both intracranially and intraperitoneally in separate mice and the mice were observed for 600-800 days. None of the mice developed ALS. However, one has to wonder whether the transmission was prevented due to the species barrier and whether the mice were observed long enough.

Ayers et al (2014) performed inoculation of mSOD1 spinal cord homogenates into the spine of neonatal mice and found that only mice that were genetically vulnerable developed pathology. Specifically, mice that were carriers (heterozygotes) of a SOD1 mutation that only causes disease in a homozygote, developed ALS. However, the wildtype mice that did not carry any mutations in the SOD1 gene did not develop ALS. This is an important finding that might suggest that only genetically vulnerable animals or potentially patients may develop ALS when exposed to tissue from an animal or human with ALS.

A Canadian experiment connecting a mouse with ALS secondary to mSOD1 to a mouse without ALS through an artificial blood connection via anastomosis of larger arteries in the mice did not cause ALS in the normal mouse, indicating that there was no evidence of blood transmission (personal communication with Dr. Fabio Rossi).

Evidence of ALS transmission in humans

The National Institutes of Health (NIH) in the US have long history of collection of autopsy specimens of neurodegenerative diseases and cases of CJD. Decades ago, brain autopsy tissue was inoculated into monkeys to determine if a condition was transmissible. In 1983, Salazar and colleagues collected a series of cases referred to the NIH with amyotrophy and dementia at the time of death. Presumably several of these cases had ALS-FTD and several of the cases may also have had CJD. They looked at these cases to determine if any of the cases demonstrated transmission to monkeys through intracerebral inoculation. 2 cases out of 25 showed demonstrated transmission. The first case that demonstrated transmission was likely a case of a patient with a longstanding hereditary neuropathy which caused the muscle wasting, followed by typical CJD. The second case was rapidly progressive dementia and amyotrophy with death 6 months after the onset of symptoms. Due to the rapidly progressive nature of this patient's disease, it is much more likely that his disease was due to CJD although it is theoretically possible it was extremely rapidly progressive ALS. 23 cases of dementia with amyotrophy (which in retrospect were likely mostly ALS-FTD) did not demonstrate any transmission in the monkeys after 3-12 years of observation.

However, Connolly wrote a letter to the Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry in 1988 reporting a case of a monkey inoculated with brain tissue from a human dying of "the amyotrophic form of CJD" which was originally reported as having no evidence of transmission in the 1983 Salazar publication mentioned in the preceding paragraph. This monkey was inoculated intracerebrally on May 17, 1971 with autopsy brain tissue from a patient who died with dementia and amyotrophy. The monkey died on August 10, 1984 and the necropsy demonstrated mild spongiform changes in the cortex which the authors reported was diagnostic of CJD. In retrospect, it is possible that the findings were not specific for CJD because autopsy findings of patients with ALS-FTD also show spongiform changes in the cortex. Unfortunately, without more clinical data on the human patient, it is very difficult to know if they died of ALS-FTD or CJD, and therefore which disease was transmissible.

Although it is theoretically possible that ALS (or at least ALS-FTD) can be transmitted via direct brain inoculation, is there any evidence that ALS transmission can cross the blood brain barrier? The blood brain barrier protects that brain and spinal cord from bacteria and from several pharmaceutical agents. As a consequence of the tight junctions in the blood brain barrier, some medications have to be administered directly into the cerebral spinal fluid in order to access the brain. Edgrin and colleagues (Ann Internal Med 2016) looked at the risks of development of neurodegenerative disease from a blood transfusion through analysis of a Sweden and Denmark transfusion database. They found no increased risk identified for ALS (or other neurodegenerative diseases), despite 2.9% receiving a transfusion from an individual who was eventually diagnosed with a neurodegenerative disease. However, the number of recipients exposed to blood from an individual with ALS was low.

Huot et al (Transplant international 2013) looked at a French transplant database and assessed recipient health of those receiving organs from patients with rare diseases. From January 2007 to December 2012, 388 donors were found with rare diseases (0.4% of the total number of donors). 40% of those with rare diseases had neurodegenerative diseases including ALS, Multiple Sclerosis, and chorea. Recipients were followed up to 5 years and no obvious transmission occurred. Unfortunately, only abstract data is available and so it is unclear how many patients were transplanted with organs from patients with ALS.

It is also important to review the possible transmission of ALS through human pituitary extracts. Irwin and colleagues (2013) looked at a database of human growth hormone recipients from who had received pituitary extracts subcutaneously from cadaveric pituitary glands. The database included 6190 recipients of human cadaveric pituitary extracts for growth hormone treatment and 796 of the recipients were deceased. The authors discovered 2 cases of patients who had died of ALS and a literature search revealed one additional case of death secondary to ALS in a cadaveric pituitary growth hormone recipient. In the database, both ALS deaths involved patients in their 30s, and the other published case was an individual who was 18 years of age. Each of the 3 cases developed ALS multiple years after administration of the pituitary extract. One case was 15-24 years after administration of hormones, another case was 13-19 years after hormones, and the third case was 10 years after hormone administration. One case in the database had no autopsy and chart review not possible to confirm that the cause of death was definitely ALS and not another disease. One case did have a chart review available and the reviewers felt that the story was consistent with ALS. That individual did have an autopsy, but that autopsy was prior to modern ALS pathology labelling techniques (such as TDP43 labelling). These three cases are concerning for the potential for ALS transmissibility. However, we do not know if the cadaveric pituitary tissue was from an individual with ALS which would definitively increase the likelihood that ALS is transmissible after at least ten years. It is also possible that the illnesses of the recipients that necessitated the administration of growth hormone or the medications that they received for their condition may have been the trigger for their ALS.

Transplantation of ALS organs has already occurred

Toossi and colleagues in 2012 reported that 12 ALS patients in the US had proceeded with DCD in the US prior to 2011. Smith and colleagues report 2 patients with ALS that elected to donate organs after DCD. It is unclear if the two patients that Smith reports are part of the twelve-patient cohort of Toossi et al, but the authors on the papers are different. A few ALS patients in Ontario have also donated their organs. There have been no subsequent published reports of transmission of ALS in any of the recipients of these organs from ALS patients.

Opinions of ALS transmissibility in the Canadian ALS research community

The literature review information contained in this report was presented to the Canadian ALS research community at the ALS Canada Annual Research Forum on April 30, 2017. The Canadian ALS research community was subsequently asked several questions via Survey Monkey about their opinions about the possibility of ALS transmission through organ transplantation. They were also asked questions about if transplant recipients should be informed they are receiving an organ from an ALS patient and how these recipients should be followed. 40 individuals completed the survey. 11 of the respondents were ALS Clinicians, 14 were basic science ALS researchers, 4 were Post-doctoral students, 4 were PhD students, 4 were masters students, and 3 selected "other". When asked "Is ALS transmissible through organ transplantation", 0% responded "yes", 7.5% responded "no", 55% responded "unlikely", and 37.5% responded "uncertain".

When asked "Is ALS transmissibility risk different for sporadic vs hereditary ALS?" respondents said: "Yes" (12.8%), "No" (28.2%), "Unlikely" (18%) and "Uncertain" (41%). They were also asked "Are

certain familial ALS mutations more likely to be transmissible?". 21% responded "Yes", 23.7% responded "No" and 55.3% were uncertain. Those respondents who included comments on this question mentioned SOD1 mutations, TDP43 mutations and C9orf72 expansions as being the mutations potentially at risk of causing transmission.

When asked "Should we transplant organs from ALS patients?", 53.9% of respondents said "Yes", 12.8% said "No", and 33.3% said "Uncertain". 52.5% of respondents indicated that they felt recipients of ALS organs should be informed that their organ came from a patient with ALS. 15% said that organ recipients should not be informed to protect the confidentiality of the donor. 32.5% were unsure if recipients should or should not be informed of the fact that their organ can from an ALS patient. The majority of respondents did suggest that transplant recipients of ALS organs should be monitored for the development of ALS and that reporting of ALS in transplant recipients should occur.

Summary Statements

- 1. It cannot be definitively determined if ALS is or is not transmissible.
- 2. It is likely that intracerebral or intraspinal transmission of ALS can occur. The blood brain barrier may protect against ALS transmission from solid organ transplantation.
- 3. Organ recipients with genetic vulnerability for ALS (that is patients carrying ALS genetic mutations) may be more likely to develop ALS through transmission of protein misfolding. In other words, potential recipients with a first degree relative with ALS may be at higher risk of developing ALS from a transplanted organ from an ALS patient.
- 4. If ALS is transmissible through organ transplantation, it will likely take more than ten years to develop. This estimate of ten years is taken from the human pituitary growth hormone database publication.
- 5. Recipients need to be given the choice as to whether they would like to receive an organ from an ALS patient and they need to be informed that we are unsure if ALS is transmissible.
- 6. Recipients of organs from ALS patients need to be followed closely for development of ALS for the duration of their lives. ALS transmission may not occur for over 15 years and so there should be long term follow-up of these patients.
- 7. Any transplant patient developing ALS or other neurodegenerative disease needs to have their status reported to their provincial transplant agency. This includes patients who did not receive an organ from a patient with a known neurodegenerative disease. Understanding the baseline risk of ALS in any solid organ recipient will be very important when assessing the correlation of development of ALS with the donated organ.

References:

- Ayers , J. I., Fromholt, S., Koch, M., DeBosier, A., McMahon, B., Xu, G., & Borchelt, D. R. (2014). Experimental transmissibility of mutant SOD1 motor neuron disease. Acta Neuropathologica, 128(6), 791-803.
- 2. Chang, Y., Jeng, U., Chiang, Y., Hwang, I., & Chen, Y. (2016). The glycine-alanine dipeptide repeat from C9orf72 hexanucleotide expansions forms toxic amyloids possessing cell-to-cell transmission properties. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 291(10), 4903-4911.
- **3.** Connolly, J. H., Allen, I. V., & Dermott, E. (1988). Transmissible agent in the amyotrophic form of creutzfeldt-jakob disease. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 51(11), 1459-1460.

- Cushman, M., Johnson, B. S., King, O. D., Gitler, A. D., & Shorter, J. (2010). Prion-like disorders: Blurring the divide between transmissibility and infectivity. Journal of Cell Science, 123(Pt 8), 1191-1201.
- 5. Ding, X., Ma, M., Teng, J., Teng, R. K. F., Zhou, S., Yin, J., . . . Wang, X. (2015). Exposure to ALS-FTD-CSF generates TDP-43 aggregates in glioblastoma cells through exosomes and TNTs-like structure. Oncotarget, 6(27), 24178-24191.
- Edgren G., Hjalgrim H., Rostgaard K., Lambert P., Wikman A., Norda R., . . . Nyren O. (2016). Transmission of neurodegenerative disorders through blood transfusion: A cohort study. Annals of Internal Medicine, 165(5), 316-324.
- **7.** Fernando S., Silverman J., Grad L., & Cashman N. (2014). Extracellular vesicles are implicated in the transmission of propagated SOD1 misfolding in ALS tissue. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Degeneration, 15, 153-154.
- **8.** Fevrier, B., D. Vilette, H. Laude and G. Raposo (2005). Exosomes: a bubble ride for prions? Traffic 6(1): 10-17.
- **9.** Fraser, H., Behan, W., Chree, A., Crossland, G., & Behan, P. (1996). Mouse inoculation studies reveal no transmissible agent in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain Pathology, 6(2), 89-99.
- **10.** Grad, L. I., Fernando, S. M., & Cashman, N. R. (2015). From molecule to molecule and cell to cell: Prion-like mechanisms in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurobiology of Disease, 77, 257-265.
- **11.** Guo, W., Y. Chen, X. Zhou, A. Kar, P. Ray, X. Chen, ...J. Y. Wu (2011). An ALS-associated mutation affecting TDP-43 enhances protein aggregation, fibril formation and neurotoxicity. Nat Struct Mol Biol 18(7): 822-830.
- **12.** Holmes, B. B., & Diamond, M. I. (2012). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and organ donation: Is there risk of disease transmission? Annals of Neurology, 72(6), 832-836.
- **13.** Huot O., Malaquin G., Jacob J.P., Font-Sala C., Creusvaux H., Lamotte C., & Ludovic C. (2013). Could a deceased possible donor affected by a rare disorder be eligible for organ donation? Transplant International, 26, 222.
- Irwin, D. J., Abrams, J. Y., Schonberger, L. B., Leschek, E. W., Mills, J. L., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2013). Evaluation of potential infectivity of alzheimer and parkinson disease proteins in recipients of cadaver-derived human growth hormone. JAMA Neurology, 70(4), 462-468.
- **15.** Koch, Y., Helferich, A. M., Steinacker, P., Oeckl, P., Walther, P., Weishaupt, J. H., . . . Otto, M. (2016). Aggregated alpha-synuclein increases SOD1 oligomerization in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. American Journal of Pathology, 186(8), 2152-2161.
- Nonaka, T., M. Masuda-Suzukake, T. Arai, Y. Hasegawa, H. Akatsu, T. Obi, ... M. Hasegawa (2013). Prion-like properties of pathological TDP-43 aggregates from diseased brains. Cell Rep 4(1): 124-134.
- **17.** Smith W., Josephson S.A., Gropper M., & Lomen-Hoerth C. (2010). Donation of organs following cardiac death (DCD) in a patient with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Neurocritical Care, 13, S38.
- **18.** Street, J. M., P. E. Barran, C. L. Mackay, S. Weidt, C. Balmforth, T. S. Walsh, ... J. W. Dear (2012). Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human cerebrospinal fluid. J Transl Med 10: 5.
- Toossi S., Lomen-Hoerth C., Josephson S.A., Gropper M.A., Roberts J., Patton K., & Smith W.S.(2012) Organ donation after cardiac death in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 71:154– 156.
- **20.** Westergard, T., Jensen, B. K., Wen, X., Cai, J., Kropf, E., Iacovitti, L., . . . Trotti, D. (2016). Cell-to-cell transmission of dipeptide repeat proteins linked to C9orf72-ALS/FTD. Cell Reports, 17(3), 645-652.

Appendix 6: Conscientious Objection – A scoping review

Conscientious Objection - Dr. Daniel Buchman, Ms. Vanessa Gruben

INTRODUCTION

The concept of conscientious objection (CO) has roots in military contexts. Conscientious objectors refuse to participate in war because, for example, they find the taking of another human life as intrinsically wrong (1). Prior to the 1970s—and the 1973 Roe v. Wade United States Supreme Court decision that struck down abortion laws—CO was rarely mentioned in the health care literature but has been well established since that time (2, 3). Paradigmatic examples of CO in health care pertain to issues such as reproductive health (e.g., providing contraception, abortion, in vitro fertilization), and medical assistance in dying (MAID) (1). In these scenarios, the health care professional encounters tension between her or his personal and professional moral commitments (4-6). Medical assistance in dying, for example, might conflict with the clinician's core values as a person and/or the values of the clinician's profession (e.g. minimizing suffering and preserving the sanctity of human life) (1, 4, 7). The Canadian law on MAID states that "everyone has freedom of conscience and religion under section 2 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms" and "nothing...compels an individual to provide or assist in providing medical assistance in dying" (8). It is not well understood how CO applies to emerging areas impacting MAID, such as organ donation. The purpose of this scoping review is to determine how the literature defines CO related to MAID and organ donation and to describe the scope and limits of its theory and practice in this context.

METHODS

Scoping Review

We used Arksey and O'Malley's framework to guide the scoping review (9). First, we established the scoping review purpose and research question. Second, we developed search criteria in consultation with a library information specialist, and then we identified the appropriate studies for inclusion based on our search criteria. Third, we engaged in an iterative process of study selection which includes searching the literature, refining the search criteria, and reviewing the articles for inclusion. Fourth, we charted the data in an iterative process that involves cycling back and forth between the data and the chart and ensuring that the extracted studies aligned with our research question. Fifth, we collated, summarized, and reported the data extracted from the articles using a qualitative thematic analysis (10). In this paper, we will use MAID interchangeably with terms such as (active) euthanasia, assisted suicide, physician assisted suicide, and physician assisted death. We acknowledge that there are practical differences between the acts of assisted suicide (e.g. patient self-administration) and active euthanasia (e.g. physician or nurse practitioner administration).

Data Collection

We searched Ovid Medline, Ovid Medline epub/inprocess, Embase, Cochrane CENTRAL, PsycINFO, CINAHL, and PubMed for non-Medline records. On January 11, 2017, we searched Philosopher's Index (UofT). We manually checked the reference list and citations selected for inclusion for further articles in our review.

Inclusion and Exclusion

Criteria Articles were included if they were English language; directly discussed (i.e., devoted at least one paragraph) health care provider (e.g., nurse, surgeon, pharmacist, physician) conscientious objection and active euthanasia (or physician assisted suicide, MAID, or a relevant synonym) and/or organ donation; published up to January 11, 2017. Articles were excluded if they were an editorial, commentary, letter to the editor, book or book chapter, or did not directly discuss CO. If CO was directly discussed but was not about MAID and/or organ donation (e.g. the article discussed abortion), the article was excluded.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using a thematic analysis approach. Thematic analysis is a method for identifying, analyzing, and reporting themes in rich detail within qualitative data (8). Articles were reviewed and analyzed by DZB and VG. The data were extracted from the articles and placed in a spreadsheet as part of the charting process.

RESULTS

Our search yielded N=1,208 citations. Our manual search yielded an additional n=6 relevant articles. A total of n=48 articles were included in the full-text analysis. Included articles were published between 1985 and 2017. The literature included perspectives from the United States (n=19), Canada (n=6), Britain (n=6), the Netherlands (n=6), Belgium (n=3), the Netherlands (n=1), and Ireland, Japan, New Zealand, and Switzerland (n=1, respectively). Five major themes were identified: (1) Lack of Consensus on Definitions, Scope, and Limits; (2) The Necessity, Boundaries, and Limits of a Duty to Refer; (3) Participation and Cooperation Among Interprofessional Health care Providers; (4) Tensions Between Conscious-Based Refusals and Job Security; and (5) Potential Harms to the Donor, Transplant Candidate, and Public Health.

1. Lack of Consensus on Definitions, Scope, and Limits

Most papers did not provide a definition of CO but invoked the term or discussed objections related to matters of conscience. As we describe in Theme 4 below, none of the articles we reviewed on organ donation after MAID that mentioned conscientious objection (n=3) provided a definition. Justification for accommodating CO in the context of MAID is based on the values of professional autonomy, liberty, and moral integrity (6, 11). Further arguments claim that MAID is incongruent with the goals of medicine—to promote health and prevent disease—so CO can be defended on grounds of professional values (3, 12). Childress distinguished CO from civil disobedience. Childress states that CO is "...public, nonviolent, and submissive violations of law based on personal-moral, often religious, convictions and intended primarily to witness those principles or values" (13). In the literature, health care-specific definitions ranged from broad, such as providers should be able to object on "grounds of conscience" (14), to specific, "allowing medical professionals not to participate directly in practices they view as morally wrong" (1). Additional definitions attempted to put boundaries around the scope of CO by situating the CO within the realm of the health care provider's expected duties and obligations: "[t]here can be a conscientious objection only to a certain act, in this case euthanasia. It is impossible to hold a conscientious objection to caring for patients in general..."(15). While most definitions of CO emphasize and focus on the health care provider's interests, other papers extended the definition to include considerations of potential harms to patients: "...the right to conscientiously object to any procedure that they deem as morally illicit or that, in their opinion, could harm the patient" (16). Perspectives on the bioethical permissibility of CO for MAID were diverse. Most papers supported CO (4, 7, 16, 17), while others posited that physicians have no moral claim to CO in liberal Western democracies; physicians' private moral views on MAID should not be considered more important than their patients' needs (18, 19). For example, "a doctors' conscience has little place in the delivery of modern medical care" (20). Indeed, some health care providers may feel obligated to not abandon their patient who is choosing MAID even though the health care provider may object to the practice (15, 21). Two surveys of U.S. physicians found that physicians who believe they are never obligated to do what they believe is morally wrong had higher religiosity and greater support for objections to medicallyassisted suicide (22, 23). Indeed, authors arguing in favour of CO tend to come from religious perspectives which argue that MAID is impermissible (24-27).

Religious perspectives are grounded in the view of the sanctity of human life and that MAID devalues that sanctity. For example, "life is a precious gift from God...Life is being remorselessly devalued in our secular society...To legalize euthanasia would be one more major devaluation" (26). Some sources stated that health care providers should have a right to conscientiously object to interventions they deem morally problematic such as MAID (16, 27, 28). This is reflected in "conscience clause" legislation in several countries, including several American states (7), New Zealand (29), and Britain (30). Conscience clauses, or "health care refusal measures" (31), have been instituted to legally protect conscientiously objecting health care providers and may permit some institutions to refuse to perform certain procedures such as MAID, although this is a matter of debate (32).

2. The Necessity, Boundaries, and Limits of a Duty to Refer

It is uncontroversial that physicians have duties and obligations toward their patients, however the extent of these differed in scope (4). This was reflected in a tension in the literature between proponents and opponents of a duty to refer (also called effective referral, transfer, facilitation, or reasonable accommodation; there are moral differences between these terms, but we do not address them here). Proponents suggested that CO should not delay, impede, or block patient access to MAID. If physicians have a legal and moral right to conscientiously object, this should not be a limited right because qualifying patients have a legal right to MAID. This means that objecting providers have a legal and ethical obligation to refer the patient to a non-objecting health care provider without it negatively impacting the patient's care or provide the patient information about other non-objecting agencies (30, 33-35).

There was no consensus in the literature about whether religious-based institutions who object to MAID but receive public funds must facilitate a timely transfer of care that is not overly burdensome for the patient (32). 5 The concept of effective referral was not necessarily considered a defensible compromise in the literature. Opponents considered facilitating an effective referral to be complicit in an act that the objector considers morally wrong; some questioned whether facilitation makes the agent morally responsible (1, 32, 36). Other authors noted that the legal right to freedom of conscience entails that legislation cannot impose a duty to refer (32, 37).

3. Participation and Cooperation among Interprofessional Health Care Providers

The nursing literature, namely in the United States, has historically suggested that nurses should abstain from participating in MAID (11, 25, 38). Some argue that professional position statements that support nurses participating in MAID are misguided due to confusion about the meaning of conscience, misuses of professional codes of ethics, and failure to recognize the primacy of human dignity (25). Conscientious objection was also invoked for nurses who have strong conscience commitments to providing MAID for their patients: an act of CO was defined as participating directly in a MAID and thus in violation of the professional code of nursing (38). The terms "participation" and "cooperation" are points of controversy in the MAID literature, especially for health care professionals such as nurses and pharmacists (39). These groups may not always directly intervene to cause a patient's death (e.g. they do not typically perform active euthanasia) but perceive that they could be morally implicated by assisting physicians who provide euthanasia by performing tasks such as helping to plan the euthanasia or filling a syringe (11, 39). Questions arise about the scope and limits of participation, cooperation, and moral responsibility (39). This includes questions as to whether filling prescriptions for MAID is morally equivalent to directly participating in the MAID procedure (40).

4. Tension between Conscience-Based Refusals and Job Security

The literature suggests that some non-physician health care professionals are concerned that they would not be permitted to follow their conscience (i.e., object to an act) and must follow through with

an act they find personally morally objectionable. If they refused to participate in MAID, they were worried this may lead to termination of employment: "...will I be so afraid of being fired that I'll give in even though I ethically oppose what's being done for a patient" (41)? Some pharmacists may encounter similar dilemmas between fulfilling their duty to provide medically and legally appropriate medications and becoming directly involved in a practice (i.e., MAID) that they find morally problematic (17, 40).

5. Potential Harms to the Donor and the Transplant Candidate

Six articles discussed organ donation after MAID. None of the articles provided a definition of CO. Three of the articles mentioned CO (42-44) while the others did not (45-47). One article 6 from the Netherlands implied the concept of CO and stated, "[f]ollowing Eurotransplant regulations, recipients and their physicians have the opportunity to refuse certain types of donor organs when a patient is placed on the waitlist...[this] should also include donor organs from donors after euthanasia" (46). However, the paper did not state whether this is a conscience-based refusal and did not go into any further detail about the limits and scope of this refusal. Conscientious objection is sometimes discussed in the context of donation after circulatory death (DCD), given that there is a historical debate as to whether DCD violates the dead donor rule, which is that a) organs can only be retrieved from donors who are dead and b) retrieval of organs must not be the cause of death (48, 49). Given the controversy over MAID, some health care providers may wish to extend a conscience claim to the retrieval and transplantation of organs from donors who died from MAID (42, 43). Conscientiously objecting to using organs from patients who accessed assisted death might be ethically problematic because "doing so would contribute to avoidable patient deaths" (42, 43). There are inconsistencies in refusing to retrieve organs from people who accessed MAID, as people who die by controversial means (e.g. suicide) are sources of organs in many jurisdictions (44). Some authors suggest that the scope of CO can be extended to physicians who refuse to retrieve organs from someone who died by MAID, but only if a referral is made to a non-objecting surgeon (33, 43). An effective referral (please see Theme 3) within the same transplant centre is necessary so that the donor's wishes are respected and use of the organ is not lost (33). However, an effective referral to another hospital to retrieve the organs is considered ethically untenable (as well as practically challenging) because of the financial burdens this referral places, the emotional strain on families, and that the transfer delays the death, which may harm transplant candidates on the waiting list (33, 42).

Summary of Findings from the Scoping Review

Summary of Key Themes

Theme Summary

1. Lack of Consensus on Definitions, Scope, and Limits

• The literature tends to support the notion of CO for health care providers, but there is no consensus on its scope or limits

- 2. The Necessity, Boundaries, and Limits of a Duty to Refer
 - The literature was divided between the position that a conscientiously objecting health care provider should refer the patient to a willing and available provider and the position that any degree of referral as being complicit in a morally wrong act
- 3. Participation and Cooperation Among Interprofessional Health Care Providers
 - Terms such as participation and cooperation are points of controversy in the MAID literature (7)
 - Some health care providers, such as nurses and pharmacists, may perceive themselves to be morally implicated in MAID even if they do not directly provide the MAID intervention
- 4. Tensions between Conscience-Based Refusals and Job Security
- Some health care providers may perceive that they have no power to CO to an act they find morally objectionable without risks to their employment
- 5. Potential Harms to the Donor and the Transplant Candidate

- Scarce literature
- Objecting to using organs from MAID donors may lead to patient deaths
- Refusal does not respect patient's wish to donate.

DISCUSSION

We found that while CO is a well-established concept in health care, it is variably defined in the literature on MAID. Articles on CO in the context of organ donation after MAID are extremely limited. Ethical issues common in organ donation and transplant ethics such as conflicts of interest, coercion or undue influence, and decision-making capacity did not appear in our results. All citizens of Canada including Canadian health care providers enjoy the freedom of conscience and religion under the Charter. Given the controversy over MAID, some individual health care providers, transplant programs, or hospitals, may object to using organs from donors who died from MAID. Based on our analysis of the literature, we suggest that these are objections on practical grounds, not grounds of conscience; the person may have a moral or religious objection to MAID, not to the retrieval or the transplantation of organs which is part of the person's normal scope of practice. If individual health care providers, transplant programs, or hospitals, object to using organs from donors who died from MAID, this may delay, impede, or potentially prevent the use of organs for transplant and lives may be lost. There are concerns in the literature that without proper clarity on the definition and scope of CO, exemptions that are incorrectly claimed to be conscience-based will become increasingly common (37). This may lead to significant burdens on patients, staff, and institutions (33, 37). Objections to using organs based on how the person died may be inconsistent across health care providers and institutions, thus introducing additional inequities into the organ donation and transplantation system (20). It is possible that some health care providers who refuse to retrieve or transplant organs from MAID donors may be concerned about "cooperation" with MAID, as described in Theme 3. However, their participation does not extend to the MAID act because the person has already been declared dead and the objecting provider had no role in the events leading up to or even causing the death. At this stage, the objecting provider would be objecting to performing acts that are central to his or her role (8). The literature does not support the claims of health care providers to refuse to use organs retrieved from a patient who died from MAID. Patients who wish to donate their organs after MAID also have interests and values that are due consideration, and may not be respected by a refusal, and these include dignity, autonomy, and wellbeing (3, 43).

LIMITATIONS

Our review did not include an analysis of policies from professional colleges, as these organizations typically provide guidance for their membership on how they should approach the issue of conscientious objection. Only English-language articles were included in the review. It is possible that non-English articles published from the Netherlands and Belgium, where organ donation after euthanasia is practiced, was not captured by our search. There were an additional 10 articles that were captured by our initial search but were not evaluated at the full-text stage because they could not be located online or in hard copy or through inter-library loan.

CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this scoping review was to determine how the literature defines CO related to MAID and organ donation and to describe the scope and limits of its theory and practice in this context. While the term CO is firmly situated in discourses on MAID, it has received scant attention in emerging areas such as organ donation. Future research can explore the intuitions underpinning and reasons why organ

retrieval teams as well as transplant surgeons and staff may raise objections to using organs from MAID donors when these professionals may not be involved in the MAID itself.

References

- 1. Trigg R. Conscientious Objection and "Effective Referral". Cambridge Quarterly of Health care Ethics. 2017;26(1):32-43.
- 2. Clarke S. Conscientious objection in health care: new directions. Journal of Medical Ethics. 2017;43(4):191.
- 3. Wicclair MR. Conscientious objection in medicine. Bioethics. 2000;14(3):205-27.
- 4. Huxtable R, Mullock A. Voices of discontent? Conscience, compromise, and assisted dying. Medical Law Review. 2015;23(2):242-62.
- 5. van der Kloot Meijburg HH. How health care institutions in the Netherlands approach physician assisted death. Omega Journal of Death & Dying. 1995;32(3):179-96.
- 6. Tsukamoto Y. Patient's autonomy vs doctor's professional integrity. Medicine & Law. 1996;15(2):195-9.
- 7. Davenport ML, Lahl J, Rosa EC. Right of Conscience for Health-Care Providers. The Linacre Quarterly: Journal of the Catholic Medical Association. 2012;79(2):169-91.
- 8. Canada Go. Bill C-14: An Act to amend the Criminal Code and to make related amendments to other Acts (medical assistance in dying) 2016.
- 9. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. International Journal of Social Research Methodology. 2005;8(1):19-32.
- 10. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology. 2006;3:77-101.
- 11. Mathes MM. Ethics, law, and policy. Assisted suicide and nursing ethics. MEDSURG Nursing. 2004;13(4):261-4.
- 12. Gambino G, Spagnolo AG. Ethical and juridical foundations of conscientious objection for health care workers. Medicinska Etika & Bioetika/Medical Ethics & Bioethics. 2002;9(1-2):3-5.
- Childress JF. Civil disobedience, conscientious objection, and evasive noncompliance: a framework for the analysis and assessment of illegal actions in health care. Journal of Medicine & Philosophy. 1985;10(1):63-83.
- 14. Baron CH, Bergstresser C, Brock DW, Cole GF, Dorfman NS, Johnson JA, et al. A model state act to authorize and regulate physician-assisted suicide. Harvard Journal on Legislation. 1996;33(1):1-34.
- 15. van de Scheur A, van der Arend A. The role of nurses in euthanasia: a Dutch study. Nursing Ethics. 1998;5(6):497-508.
- 16. Rouse ST. Professional Autonomy in Medicine: Defending the Right of Conscience in Health Care beyond the Right to Religious Freedom. The Linacre Quarterly: Journal of the Catholic Medical Association. 2012;79(2):155-68.
- 17. Mullan K, Allen WL, Brushwood DB. Conscientious objection to assisted death: can pharmacy address this in a systematic fashion? Annals of Pharmacotherapy. 1996;30(10):1185-91.
- 18. Schuklenk U, Smalling R. Why medical professionals have no moral claim to conscientious objection accommodation in liberal democracies. Journal of Medical Ethics. 2017;43(4):234. 10
- 19. Savulescu J, Schuklenk U. Doctors Have no Right to Refuse Medical Assistance in Dying, Abortion or Contraception. Bioethics. 2016.
- 20. Savulescu J. Conscientious objection in medicine. BMJ. 2006;332(7536):294-7.
- 21. Campbell CS, Hare J, Matthews P. Conflicts of conscience. Hospice and assisted suicide. Hastings Center Report. 1995;25(3):36-43.
- 22. Lawrence RE, Curlin FA. Physicians' beliefs about conscience in medicine: a national survey. Academic Medicine. 2009;84(9):1276-82.

- 23. Curlin FA, Nwodim C, Vance JL, Chin MH, Lantos JD. To die, to sleep: US physicians' religious and other objections to physician-assisted suicide, terminal sedation, and withdrawal of life support. [References]. American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Medicine. 2008;25(2):112-20.
- 24. McCarthy DG. Vatican declaration on euthanasia: declaration synthesizes Church teaching, stresses conscience. Hospital Progress. 1980;61(8):25.
- 25. Laabs CA. Nurses and Care of Patients at the End of LifeEnd-of-life: On the ANA Revised Position Statement. The Linacre Quarterly: Journal of the Catholic Medical Association. 2010;77(2):168-74.
- 26. Luxton R. Matters of conscience: no right to play God. Nursing Mirror. 1983;157(14):40-1.
- 27. Imbody J. Doctors in the lion's den. Today's Christian Doctor. 2001;32(3):19-23.
- 28. Hanlon TRG, Weiss MC, Rees J. British community pharmacists' views of physicianassisted suicide (PAS). Journal of Medical Ethics. 2000;26(5):363-9.
- 29. Richmond DE. A critical analysis of the End-of-life Choice Bill 2013. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2014;127(1397):77-87.
- 30. Great Britain. Parliament. House of Lords. Select C. Assisted dying for the terminally ill. Bulletin of Medical Ethics. 2005(206):9-11.
- 31. Tucker KL. The campaign to deny terminally ill patients information and choices at the end-of-life. Journal of Legal Medicine. 2009;30(4):495-514.
- 32. Browne A, Russell JS. Physician-Assisted Death in Canada. Cambridge Quarterly of Health care Ethics. 2016;25(3):377-83.
- 33. Bramstedt KA. Exploring the Dilemma of Hospital Refusal to Perform Controlled Organ Donation after Circulatory Death (DCD). Bioethica Forum: Schweizer Zeitschrift für Biomedizinische Ethik (Swiss Journal of Biomedical Ethics). 2016;9(1):39-44.
- 34. Netherlands State Commission on E. Final report of the Netherlands State Commission on Euthanasia: an English summary. Bioethics. 1987;1(2):163-74.
- 35. Lemiengre J, de Casterlé BD, Van Craen K, Schotsmans P, Gastmans C. Institutional ethics policies on medical end-of-life decisions: A literature review. Health Policy. 2007;83(2/3):131-43.
- 36. Wildes KW. Conscience, Referral, and Physician Assisted Suicide. Journal of Medicine and Philosophy. 1993;18(3):323-8.
- 37. Fovargue S, Neal M. 'In good conscience': conscience-based exemptions and proper medical treatment. Medical Law Review. 2015;23(2):221-41.
- 38. Daly BJ, Berry D, Fitzpatrick JJ, Drew B, Montgomery K. Assisted suicide: implications for nurses and nursing. Nursing Outlook. 1997;45(5):209-14.
- 39. Daverschot M, van der Wal H. The position of nurses in the new Dutch euthanasia bill: a report of legal and political developments. Ethics & Medicine: a Christian Perspective. 2001;17(2):85-92. 11
- 40. Allen WL, Brushwood DB. Pharmaceutically assisted death and the pharmacist's right of conscience. Journal of Pharmacy & Law. 1996;5(1):1-18.
- 41. Carey KW. Refusing to follow orders: what's the cost of saying no? Nursinglife. 1985;5(4):53-6.
- 42. Shaw DM. Organ donation after assisted suicide: a potential solution to the organ scarcity problem. Transplantation. 2014;98(3):247-51.
- 43. Allard J, Fortin M-C. Organ donation after medical assistance in dying or cessation of life-sustaining treatment requested by conscious patients: the Canadian context. Journal of Medical Ethics. 2016:28.
- 44. Kirby J. Organ donation after assisted death: Is it more or less ethically-problematic than donation after circulatory death? Med Health Care Philos. 2016;19(4):629-35.
- 45. Bollen J, Ten Hoopen R, Ysebaert D, van Mook W, van Heurn E. Legal and ethical aspects of organ donation after euthanasia in Belgium and the Netherlands. J Med Ethics. 2016;42(8):486-9.
- 46. Bollen J, de Jongh W, Hagenaars J, van Dijk G, Ten Hoopen R, Ysebaert D, et al. Organ Donation After Euthanasia: A Dutch Practical Manual. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(7):1967-72.

- 47. Wilkinson D, Savulescu J. Should we allow organ donation euthanasia? Alternatives for maximizing the number and quality of organs for transplantation. Bioethics. 2012;26(1):32-48.
- 48. Wicclair MR. Conscientious Objection in Health Care: An Ethical Analysis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2011.
- 49. Spital A, Taylor JS. Routine recovery of cadaveric organs for transplantation: consistent, fair, and lifesaving. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007;2(2):300-3.

Appendix 7: Workshop Agenda





Organ and Tissue Donation in the Conscious Competent Patient

Workshop Agenda for Monday May 15, 2017 (Day 1) Sheraton Gateway Hotel (Terminal 3, 3000 Toronto Pearson International Airport) – Alpine Room

8:00 - 8:30	Bro	eakfast	
	Presentation		Presenter(s)
8:30 - 8:50	Welcome from Canadian Blood Service	s	Dr. Sam Shemie Kimberly Young
8:50 - 9:05	Around the Room		Individual Introductions
9:05 – 9:15	Process and Meeting Design		Dr. Sam Shemie
Setting the Sta	ge		
	Presentation		Presenter(s)
9:15 – 9:35	Challenge Address		Dr. Michael Sharpe
9:35 - 9:55	Evolution, Demographics, Practical and MAID in Canada	Procedural Aspects of	Dr. James Downar
9:55 – 10:25	Organ Donation after Euthanasia in Bel	gium	Dr. Dirk Ysebaert
10:25 - 10:40	Q&A		
10:40 - 11:00	Bre	ak	
11:00 - 12:00	Group Participation Questions		
12:00 - 12:45	Lur	nch	
Expectations of	f Patients, Families and the Public	:	
	Presentation		Presenter(s)
12:45 – 13:20	Patient Perspectives		Dr. Shelly Sarwal Sandra Martin
13:20 - 13:30	Q&A		
13:30 – 13:50	Preliminary Ontario Experience Commentary from Quebec		Dr. Andrew Healey Dr. Jean-François Lizé
13:50 - 14:45	Group Participation Questions		
14:45 – 15:00	Bre	eak	
Legal and Ethic	cal Considerations		
	Presentation		Presenter(s)
15:00 – 15:20	Legal/Ethical Review		Vanessa Gruben
15:20 – 15:35	Views from Quebec		Marie-Noëlle Saint-Pierre
15:35 – 15:50	Legal/Ethical Panel Q&A		Daniel Buchman Dr. Marie-Chantal Fortin Vanessa Gruben Marie-Noëlle Saint-Pierre
15:50 – 17 :00	Group Participation Questions		

17:00 – 19:00 Reception in Alpine Foyer





In collaboration with:



Meeting Agenda for Tuesday May 16, 2017 (Day 2)

Sheraton Gateway Hotel (Terminal 3, 3000 Toronto Pearson International Airport) - Alpine Room

7:30 – 8:00	-	Breakfast	
	Presentation		Presenter(s)
8:00 – 8:15	Recap of Day 1 and Introduction to	Day 2	Dr. Sam Shemie Dr. Michael Sharpe
8:15 – 9:45	Group Participation Questions		
9:45 – 10:00		Break	
Eligibility to Do	nate		
	Presentation		Presenter(s)
10:00 - 10:25	End Stage Neurological Conditions Implications	and Organ Donation	Dr. Christen Shoesmith
10:25 - 10:30	Q&A		
10:30 - 12:00	Group Participation Questions		
12:00 – 12:45		Lunch	
Quality and Acc	countability		
	Presentation		Presenter(s)
12:45 – 13:05	Coroners Perspective on MAID and	Organ Donation	Dr. Dirk Huyer
13:05 – 14:15	Group Participation Questions		
14:15 – 14:50	Reflections: – Research Feedback – Proposed Public Communi	cation Strategy	
14:50 - 15:00	Closing Comments		
Appendix 8: Fact Sheets and Workshop Questions

Challenges Questions & Fact Sheets

Questions:

- 1. Discuss the advantages and disadvantages of routine requests (approach all patients) versus responding only to patient-initiated requests for OTD?
 - a. Which approach do you favor and why?
 - b. Should there be any differences in approach between patients who consent to MAID and patients who consent to WLSM?
 - c. In what way, if any, would previously registering one's intent to donate (organ donor registry, driver's license, health card) influence your preference for routine requests vs. patient-initiated requests for OTD?

IPSOS Reid Canadian Public Survey Sept 2016, n=1006

- Ninety-two percent of Canadians approve of people donating their organs at the time of their death.
- Support for the idea that a patient who is conscious and competent should be eligible to donate their organs if they decide to withdraw life-sustaining treatment (87%) or receive medical aid in dying (80%) remains high, however support is significantly lower than the approval recorded for organ donation in general (92%).
- Older respondents and females were more likely to approve or support organ donation under these circumstances.
- A significantly higher proportion oppose the idea of a patient who receives medical aid in dying donating their organs (12%, compared to 6% who oppose donation after withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment and 4% who oppose organ donation in general).
- Concerns of those who oppose organ donation under these circumstances include the risk of the donors' illness being transmitted to the recipient of the organ (48%), the possibility of vulnerable persons feeling pressured to withdraw life-sustaining treatment or choose medical aid in dying sooner than they may have otherwise (46%), or vulnerable persons feeling pressured to donate their organs (43%).
- Eight in ten agree that physicians or other qualified medical practitioners should be required to discuss organ donation with all adult patients regardless of illness/condition or end-of life care decision.
- Seventy-five percent of respondents think the decision of who should or should not donate their organs should take into consider both scientific evidence and the concerns of donation recipients.
- The majority agree (83%) that the decision to donate organs should be reconfirmed prior to end-of-life care being administered, however fewer agree (53%) that organ donation should only be discussed AFTER a decision regarding withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment or receiving medical aid in dying is made.
- Despite high approval for organ donation overall, as well as high support for donation after end-of-life care is administered, a quarter are undecided about whether they would be willing to accept an organ transplant if there was a possibility the organ was donated by an individual who made the decision to withdrawal life-sustaining treatment or receive medical aid in dying.

Rationales for and against deceased organ donation following MAID/WLSM

(Excerpted and adapted from: What do we know about deceased organ donation by the conscious, competent adult? A scoping review.)

Pros

- Could increase the number of organs available for donation(2-12)
- These organs would likely be of better quality(8)
- Respect for individual autonomy and self-determination(2, 4, 5, 13-16)
- Personal benefit to the donor, whose own death may easier to bear if he or she knows that death will save or improve the life of another(4, 16)
- Likewise benefit his or her family by providing increased solace or comfort during their grieving(4, 16)
- Cost-effectiveness as a factor in favor of permitting organ donation in these circumstances(4, 12)
- May increase public acceptance of assisted dying(12)

Cons

- May unduly pressure patients
 - a person who may not otherwise opt for MAID might choose to die to donate his or her organs to help others(4)
- Permitting organ donation following WLSM or MAID could undermine public trust in the organ donation system because "physicians would be tempted to be deliberately pessimistic about the patient's prognosis to enhance the patient change of request for withdrawal of treatment" (13)
- Some maintain that all patients in these circumstances should be informed about the possibility of donating their organs(2, 11, 17)
 - this would support autonomy and justice by giving all potential donors the information with which they could make an informed choice(2, 15)
- By contrast, some argue that providing all patients with this information could be perceived as pressuring the patient to donate.(2)
- One factor that the physician may consider in making this decision is whether the patient has previously registered as an organ donor(15, 17)
- Trillium Gift of Life Network guidance document: states that approval to receive medical assistance in dying constitutes an "imminent death" and requires designated facilities to notify TGLN so that the individual may be approached(18)
- Quebec: disagreement between the CEST and Transplant Quebec regarding whether the patient should be approached(2)

The 2011 Canadian Blood Services System Ethics Consultation and 2014 End-of-life Conversations with Families of Potential Donors recommended the following:

- 1. Maximizing identification, referral and consent by ensuring the system offers proximate access to provide an opportunity for all types of donation consistent with public policy and broader societal values.
- 2. Approach the family of every potential donor and offer the opportunity for donation.
- 3. Notify the Organ Donation Organization as early as possible and before the initial donation conversation with the family.
- 4. The obligation is to inform and disclose appropriate information so that potential donors/surrogates can make an informed decision about donation.

5. The geographic location of a potential donor is appropriate to consider in that it impacts the availability of organ and tissue procurement teams and services may not be available in all communities. It is not mandatory to provide the service in all institutions, as long as there is proximate access to donation services, and donors or their families are informed of available options.

Provincial Legislative Review

A legislative review of provincial tissue gift acts shows that the provinces of BC, MB, ON, QC and NS have mandatory referral laws - the ODO must be notified when death is imminent or established. Alberta has mandatory consideration after death determination. At the time of this report, SK, NB, PEI and NFLD do not have legislation in this regard.

Figure 1: Sequence of Care in Deceased Donation in Relation to Notification and Referral



Table 1: Policies on organ donation in countries where medically-assisted death is permitted (adapted from Allard and Fortin, J Med Ethics, 2016)

Country or State	Policy on Organ Donation
Switzerland	Not possible
(assisted suicide by non-physician)	
Belgium	Possible at patient's request
(euthanasia)	21 patients (2005-1015) ²⁰
Netherlands	Possible after euthanasia at patient's request
(euthanasia, assisted suicide)	Working on an official post-euthanasia donation
	protocol
	15 patients (2012-2015) ²¹
Luxembourg	Illegal
(euthanasia)	
Oregon, Washington, Vermont and	Not Possible
Montana	
(assisted suicide)	
Ontario, Canada	Routine request
Quebec, Canada	Patient initiated

Challenges Questions & Fact Sheets

Questions:

- 2. Please discuss and advise on roles of these teams and make recommendations for separation and/or alignment of duties in the EOL care process (T0-T4).
- 3. a. What are some of the unique challenges to consent discussions in this context?
 - At what point during the care plan for MAID/WLSM should the approach for OTD be made? Should there be a waiting period after decision for MAID- if so, please advise.
 - How should patient-initiated requests for OTD be managed when they occur prior to the MAID/WLSM consent discussion?
 - When should the Organ Donation Organization be notified? Who should conduct OTD consent discussions? Are there any distinct skill sets or characteristics that the health care provider making the request should have in these circumstances?
 - In what settings should the conversation occur?
- 4. Consider the following:
 - 1. How might a decision to proceed with MAID/WLSM impact on a decision to proceed with organ/tissue donation?
 - 2. How might a decision to proceed with organ/tissue donation impact on the preceding decision for MAID/WLSM?

Consciousness and capacity will have been established as part of the first-person request/consent for MAID/WLSM. MAID patients must reaffirm consent prior to the MAID intervention.

- 1. Think about factors that could unduly influence the MAID/WLSM decision. What standard questions or information, if any, might be included in donation consent discussions to protect patients from undue influence?
- 2. Under what circumstances might the donation decision restrict the ability of the patient to change his/her mind about the EOL care decision? Provide suggestions on how you might mitigate this?
- 3. Suggest mechanisms to provide ongoing patient support after OTD consent has been provided.
- 1. Under what conditions, if any, would a re-assessment for capacity/competence be required prior to the donation decision?
- 2. Currently, an individual who is opting for MAID must provide express consent at the time of MAID. Some patients may unexpectedly become incapacitated (loss of consciousness and capacity) after the MAID/WLSM decision and consent to donation.
- 1. Please advise on if/how to proceed under these circumstances.
- 2. How would you manage family veto (family override) of a patient's request to donate under these circumstances?
- 3. How would you manage patient requests for confidentiality around the decision for MAID/WLSM in the setting of OTD?
- 4. Under what conditions, if any, would patient requests for directed donation of transplantable organs be permissible?
- 5. How would you manage requests for patients to become living organ donors prior to MAID/WLSM procedures?

Excerpted and adapted from: What do we know about deceased organ donation by the conscious, competent adult? A scoping review.

To be eligible, an individual must be 18 years of age and capable of making health care decisions, have a grievous and irremediable medical condition as defined by the legislation, have made a voluntary

request for MAID that is not the result of outside pressure or influence and give informed consent to receive MAID.(1)

Ethical considerations

- Patient may be influenced or coerced to donate organs(2, 4, 13, 15)
- Patient may feel pressured to consent to donation because he or she is dependent on a physician for withdrawal of care whom the patient may perceive as favoring donation(13, 17)
- Patients may choose to die in order to donate their organs to save the lives of others(4, 5, 15, 16) or may choose to end their lives earlier than they would otherwise, in order to donate(5)
- The act of informing patients of the opportunity to donate could put pressure on a patient(2, 12, 17)
- [pressure may be] exacerbated if they are aware of a specific recipient in need of an organ(15)
- The motivations for consenting to WLSM, MAID and donation must be carefully explored by the health care provider as part of the evaluation process
- Dutch practice manual warns against discouraging a patient's altruistic intentions if he or she otherwise meets euthanasia criteria: donation should not be discouraged or disallowed solely because a patient expresses altruistic motivation(15)

Other clinical/medical considerations

- Capacity to consent (e.g. "confirming that the individual has a fatal neurological illness, screening for and treatment of depression, and recognition that some patients have depression, pseudo-dementia or dementia.")(16)
 - "it is imperative to discuss what to do if the patient's condition deteriorates and the patient becomes unconscious in the days preceding the day of the procedure."(15)
- Increased cooperation between health care providers and institutions responsible for end-of-life care, organ procurement and transplantation(5, 8)
- Ensuring that a transplant coordinator is present during the meeting between the patient and the physician performing the withdrawal or MAID(15)
- Discussion should occur after the discussion regarding withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment or MAID(5, 11, 12, 17)
- Discussion about organ donation should be facilitated by the organ procurement team as opposed to the patient's treating physician(16)
 - others have suggested that "[t]he treating physician, who often has a long-term relationship of trust with the patient, is usually the preferred person to raise the issue of organ donation." (15)
- Creating specialized centres where organ donation following WLSM and/or MAID is performed(8)
 - Arrangements with the coroner(15)
 - For supports or debriefing mechanisms for health care professionals and medical staff who participate in these cases
 - these cases can be emotionally difficult(16)

Protections for patient/potential donor

The literature identifies several protections to safeguard the interests of the patient and to ensure that they provide free and informed consent to either the withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment or MAID as well as organ donation. These include:

- separation of decisions and processes
- ensuring separate teams for the WLSM or MAID procedure and the organ donation procedure(2, 4, 7, 8, 14, 15)
- separate medical teams protect the patient from the pressure discussed above
 - they may feel it is necessary to consent to donation in order to secure the assistance of the physician providing the WLSM or MAID.
- capacity to consent to WLSM/MAID and organ donation(6)
- waiting period will provide the patient with an opportunity to reconsider or withdraw consent to WLSM/MAID and/or organ donation

Directed donation

- Requesting withdrawal or MAID because he can donate organs either to someone specific(15) or in general
 may be motivated by some other outside influence, such as financial considerations(18)
- Suggest prohibiting directed donation in this context(2, 15)
- Living organ donation is mostly directed and there is no explicit prohibition on directed deceased donation in Canada.(2)

Dutch Practice Manual points out that it is illogical that a patient undergoing euthanasia could designate a recipient by choosing to undergo living donation in advance of euthanasia, but that they would be prohibited from directing their deceased donation.(15)

Public perception

- Organ donation following MAID may "enhance the social acceptability of [assisted dying] practices."(4, 12)
- Risk that the "association of [organ donation and transplantation] with [assisted dying] could reduce the overall acceptability of [organ donation and transplantation] and possibly damage the trust and confidence that societal members currently have in standard/traditional organ donation and transplantation practices." (12)

Concerns may be mitigated by:

- first-person informed consent(12)
- transparent, consistent processes to promote public trust in the system(3, 6)
- separation of the decisions regarding MAID and donation(2)
- notification and request for permission to a coroner or public prosecutor to obtain the body for organ donation(8, 15)
- review by a regional euthanasia committee(15)

Key protections for Canadian context:

- a. Separation of decisions regarding WLSM or MAID and organ donation;
- b. Discussion of organ donation should occur only after the decision regarding WLSM/MAID has been made;
- c. Separation of teams: end-of-life care team, organ procurement team and organ transplant team;
- d. Coordination between these teams is needed to ensure that the patient receives the highest level of care and his or her wishes are respected to the extent possible.

References:

- 1. Medical Assistance in Dying. Criminal Code, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-46, s 241.2(1).
- 2. Allard J, Fortin M-C. Organ donation after medical assistance in dying or cessation of lifesustaining treatment requested by conscious patients: the Canadian context. Journal of Medical Ethics. 2016:medethics-2016-103460.
- Wilkinson D, Savulescu J. Should we allow organ donation euthanasia? Alternatives for maximizing the number and quality of organs for transplantation. Bioethics. 2012;26(1):32-48. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8519.2010.01811.x. PubMed PMID: 20459428; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3267048.
- 4. Shaw DM. Organ donation after assisted suicide: a potential solution to the organ scarcity problem. Transplantation. 2014;98(3):247-51. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000000099. PubMed PMID: 24825514.
- Shaw DM. Saving lives with assisted suicide and euthanasia: Organ donation after assisted dying. In: Cholbi M, Varelius J, editors. New Direction in the Ethics of Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia. New York: Springer International Publishing; 2015. p. 185-92.
- 6. Overby KJ, Weinstein MS, Fiester A. Addressing Consent Issues in Donation After Circulatory Determination of Death. Am J Bioeth. 2015;15(8):3-9. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1047999. PubMed PMID: 26225503.

- 7. Van Raemdonck D, Verleden GM, Dupont L, Ysebaert D, Monbaliu D, Neyrinck A, et al. Initial experience with transplantation of lungs recovered from donors after euthanasia. Appl Cardiopulm Pathophysiol. 2011;15:38-48.
- van Wijngaarden AK, van Westerloo DJ, Ringers J. Organ Donation After Euthanasia in the Netherlands: A Case Report. Transplant Proc. 2016;48(9):3061-3. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2016.02.066. PubMed PMID: 27932146.
- 9. Baginski W. Hastening death: dying, dignity and the organ shortage gap. Am J Law Med. 2009;35(4):562-84. PubMed PMID: 20196283.
- Detry O, Le Dinh H, Noterdaeme T, De Roover A, Honore P, Squifflet JP, et al. Categories of donation after cardiocirculatory death. Transplant Proc. 2012;44(5):1189-95. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2012.05.001. PubMed PMID: 22663982.
- 11. Cohen-Almagor R. First do no harm: pressing concerns regarding euthanasia in Belgium. Int J Law Psychiatry. 2013;36(5-6):515-21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2013.06.014. PubMed PMID: 23859807.
- 12. Kirby J. Organ donation after assisted death: Is it more or less ethically-problematic than donation after circulatory death? Med Health Care Philos. 2016;19(4):629-35. doi: 10.1007/s11019-016-9711-8. PubMed PMID: 27263089.
- 13. Epker JL, De Groot YJ, Kompanje EJ. Obtaining consent for organ donation from a competent ICU patient who does not want to live anymore and who is dependent on life-sustaining treatment; ethically feasible? Clinical Ethics. 2013;8(1):29-33.
- 14. Ysebaert D, Van Beeumen G, De Greef K, Squifflet JP, Detry O, De Roover A, et al. Organ procurement after euthanasia: Belgian experience. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(2):585-6. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.12.025. PubMed PMID: 19328932.
- Bollen J, de Jongh W, Hagenaars J, van Dijk G, Ten Hoopen R, Ysebaert D, et al. Organ Donation After Euthanasia: A Dutch Practical Manual. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(7):1967-72. doi: 10.1111/ajt.13746. PubMed PMID: 26842128.
- 16. Smith TJ, Vota S, Patel S, Ford T, Lyckholm L, Bhushan A, et al. Organ donation after cardiac death from withdrawal of life support in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Journal of palliative medicine. 2012;15(1):16-9.
- Bollen J, Ten Hoopen R, Ysebaert D, van Mook W, van Heurn E. Legal and ethical aspects of organ donation after euthanasia in Belgium and the Netherlands. J Med Ethics. 2016;42(8):486-9. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2015-102898. PubMed PMID: 27012736.
- 18. Organ and Tissue Donation after Medical Assistance in Dying: Guidance Document. Trillium Gift of Life Network, 2016.

Questions:

Challenges may exist at individual and institutional levels in relation to offering MAID/WLSM, organ/tissue donation, conducting procedures for MAID/WLSM, surgical recovery of organs, transplant recipient acceptance of organs.

- 1. What kinds of accommodations should be made for health care providers who do not want to participate in the donation or transplant after MAID due to issues of conscience? What are the scope and limits in this regard? What should the responsibilities be of the health care professional who objects?
- 2. The process for MAID/WLSM/OTD may be emotionally difficult on HCP. Please provide suggestions on how to support HCP's involved in this process.

Procedural & Logistics

- 3. Discuss how to manage previously stated separation of duties and the need for coordination of clinical care, EOL care, MAID, WLSM, donation, surgical recovery and transplant logistics.
- 4. There are restrictions to EOL care in consented potential donors after MAID/WLSM. These may include a requirement of in-hospital location of MAID/WLSM procedures (e.g. ICU or operating room), door assessments and testing, evaluations of organ function, monitoring, pre-mortem interventions, immediacy of surgical recovery of organs after death. Informed consent would be required for all pre-mortem interventions.
 - 1. Are there other changes or restrictions to consider?
 - 2. Please advise on if/how to proceed under these circumstances.
- 5. There are no specific death determination recommendations in MAID practices. Are there any additional recommendations for death determination and monitoring at the end-of-life in MAID/WLSM donors?

Conscientious Objection (excerpted from Buchman et al 2017)

The health care professional encounters [conscientious objection when there is] tension between her or his personal and professional moral commitments.

Canadian law on MAID states that "everyone has freedom of conscience and religion under section 2 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms "nothing...compels an individual to provide or assist in providing medical assistance in dying".(5)

Theme	Summary
Lack of consensus on	• The literature tends to support the notion of CO for health care providers,
definition, scope, and limits	but there is no consensus on its scope or limits
The necessity, boundaries,	The literature was divided between the position that a conscientiously
and limits of a duty to refer	objecting health care provider should refer the patient to a willing and
	available provider and the position that any degree of referral as being
	complicit in a morally wrong act
Participation and	Terms such as participation and cooperation are points of controversy in
cooperation among	the MAID literature

Table 2: Summary of Key Themes

interprofessional health care providers	•	Some health care providers, such as nurses and pharmacists, may perceive themselves to be morally implicated in MAID even if they do not directly provide the MAID intervention
Tensions between	6.	Some health care providers may perceive that they have no power to CO
conscience-based refusals		to an act they find morally objectionable without risks to their
and job security		employment
Potential harms to the	7.	Scarce literature
donor and the transplant	8.	Objecting to using organs from MAID donors may lead to patient deaths
candidate	9.	Refusal does not respect patient's wish to donate

Summary

All citizens of Canada including Canadian health care providers enjoy the freedom of conscience and religion

- Given the controversy over MAID, some individual health care providers, transplant programs, or hospitals, may object to using organs from donors who died from MAID
 - □ this may delay, impede, or potentially prevent the use of organs for transplant and lives may be lost
- Objections to using organs based on how the person died may be inconsistent across health care
 providers and institutions
 - May lead to additional inequities into the organ donation and transplantation system

Procedural and Logistic

Excerpted and adapted from: What do we know about deceased organ donation by the conscious, competent adult? A scoping review.

Practical considerations

Potential effects of decision to donate:

- modifications to the patient's end-of-life care that will arise if he or she opts for organ donation
 - preparatory procedures, blood tests, and imaging(8, 15)
 - may consent to a series of pre-mortem interventions, such as the administration of heparin, which will maintain/improve the quality of his or her organs(2, 15)
- the place of death must be in hospital as opposed to at home(2, 4, 8, 15, 17)
 - □ facilitate optimal organ recovery and optimize transplantation success for the organs.(5, 15, 17)
- may impact the family's opportunity to say goodbye to their loved one and to grieve their loss(2, 15, 17)
 - □ patient must be transported to the operating room immediately after the physician has determined death(1
 - many families "appear very supportive of the patient's last wish despite the potential extra burden."(17)

Practical clinical issues

- circulatory death is determined(15)
- the short pre-mortem ischemic time associated with donation after MAID is a potential advantage over donation after WLSM(5)

Current Canadian death determination guidelines for DCD state: "Beginning with the onset of circulatory arrest, there must be a 5-minute period during which the absence of palpable pulses, blood pressure and respiration are continuously observed by at least 1 physician. Death is determined by 2 physicians by documenting the absence of palpable pulses, blood pressure and respiration on completion of this 5-minute period. The physician present during the 5-minute period of continuous observation and who makes 1 of the determinations of death must be a staff physician with the requisite skill and training. Monitoring to establish the fact of death is the priority during this period of observation. There must be no interventions to facilitate donation during this period. No physician who took any part in the determination of the fact of death of the donor shall participate in any way in transplant procedures. The

legal time of death is the determination after a 5-minute observation period. The purpose of the 5minute observation period is to confirm the irreversibility of cardiocirculatory arrest before organ procurement. Blood pressure is defined as an arterial pressure that generates anterograde circulation. The preferred method to confirm the absence of blood pressure is by arterial line monitoring." Bollen et al 2016: The Health Council of the Netherlands: "circulatory death is ascertained by recording the absence of an intra-arterial pressure wave or based on another current method of monitoring circulation. A no-touch period of five minutes is then observed. After this time has elapsed, irreversible circulatory and respiratory arrest exists, and death may be declared"

TGLN Draft MAID-Organ Donation Protocol

Patient may withdraw from the donation process at any point.

- For organ donation to occur, death must occur in the hospital in close proximity to the operating room.
- Screening for suitability will be required prior to the MAID provision and will involve facilitation of admission to the hospital at least two (2) days prior to the MAID provision (i.e. blood work, chest xrays).
- Final determination of organ suitability for transplantation is made by individual transplant programs.
- Patient will not be suitable for organ donation if oral medication is used for the MAID provision.
- Heparin will be required prior to death.
- Process and location for medical suitability assessment.
- Arterial line insertion is required prior to the MAID provision.
- If the patient refuses or this cannot be facilitated, the DSP must be consulted for approval of an alternative method to declare death.
- Organ donation cannot and will not occur until after a patient is pronounced deceased as per standard medical practice mirroring the traditional process of donation after death by circulatory criteria (e.g. two physicians, arterial line)

Challenges Questions & Fact Sheets

Questions:

Eligibility to Donate

- a) How should uncertainties for disease transmission in ALS donors and other end stage neurological diseases be managed?
- b) How should end stage neurological diseases that have not been clearly diagnosed be managed in regard to OTD eligibility?

Transplant Implications

- 1. Regarding MAID or ALS donors, what information or disclosures if any, should be provided to transplant candidates? Please consider how maintain donor privacy.
- 2. Are there implications for transplant organ quality and allocation decisions?
- 3. Should there be a risk designation (e.g. exceptional distribution) assigned to organs transplanted from patients who have undergone MAID/WLSM? If yes, please advise.
- 4. What type of recipient follow-up would you recommend for potential transmission of neurological diseases?

Adapted from "Should ALS patients be organ donors? (Shoesmith and Shetter)"

ALS is a neurodegenerative disease which causes progressive degeneration of the motor neurons in the motor cortex of the brain and the anterior horn cells of the spinal cord. The disease typically begins with focal neurogenic weakness and can progress to generalized weakness. Common initial presentations of the disease are difficulty speaking, difficulty swallowing, hand weakness, or foot weakness. Where ever the weakness begins, the patient will experience progressive weakness in that body region and the weakness will spread to involve other body regions.

The diagnosis of ALS is made typically by a neurologist who confirms the diagnosis after reviewing: the patient's story, examination findings, electrophysiology results, and other investigations. Typical ALS physical examination signs are weakness, muscle atrophy, fasciculations, hyperreflexia, spasticity, and other upper motor neuron findings. Unfortunately, there is no single laboratory or electrophysiological test that can confirm a diagnosis of ALS. As a consequence of not having a specific diagnostic test, a diagnosis of ALS requires an experienced clinician to be able to suspect ALS based on a typical history and examination findings, and the necessity of ruling out ALS mimics through appropriate investigations. ALS has an incidence of 2-3 cases per 100 000 people.

About 10% of patients with ALS have hereditary ALS, which means that their disease is inherited in an autosomal dominant or autosomal recessive manner. The majority of patients with ALS have "sporadic ALS" which means that their disease has not been caused by any genetic mutations known to cause ALS and there is no evidence of other family members with ALS.

Although classically described as a predominately motor disease, ALS is now recognized to cause frontal executive, social cognition or behavioural impairments in a proportion of patients. On formal neuropsychological testing, 50% of patients with ALS will have frontotemporal cognitive impairments or behavioural impairments. Up to 40% of these patients with ALS will have sufficient cognitive or behavioural impairment to cause functional impairment and are classified as having frontotemporal dementia (FTD).

There are a few pharmacological treatments which have only demonstrated modest benefit in slowing the progression of ALS. patients with ALS will eventually die of respiratory failure. However, there are a number of respiratory interventions that can prolong survival in ALS. Specifically, non-invasive ventilation (NIV), invasive ventilation and mechanical in-exsufflators can support patients with significant

respiratory muscle weakness. Some patients with ALS start using non-invasive ventilation and slowly progress to using non-invasive ventilation for 24hours a day.

Avenues of potential organ donation from ALS patients

ALS is not known to cause any organ impairments outside of the brain and spinal cord. Although there is respiratory muscle weakness in ALS, the lung parenchyma should otherwise be normal. Patients with ALS often have interest in donation of their organs.

There are 3 ways that an ALS patient could potentially offer to donate their organs:

- Donation through DCD after discontinuation of invasive ventilation
- Donation through DCD after discontinuation of continuous non-invasive ventilation (NIV) support.
- Donation after Medical Assistance in Dying (MAID).

Evidence for or against the transmissibility of ALS

ALS research currently uses models of familial ALS to study the disease. Unfortunately, there are no great models of sporadic ALS that have been identified.

Evidence of ALS transmission in cell cultures

Authors of the papers often refer to the potential for prion-like capacity of ALS because of the protein inducing misfolding and/or aggregation seen in ALS models. The CSF from patients with ALS can serve as the seed to propagate the disease.

Evidence of ALS transmission in animal models

Fraser et al did an experiment in 1996 whereby they inoculated mice with brain and spinal cord homogenates from patients who had died of ALS. The inoculation was done both intracranially and intraperitoneally in separate mice and the mice were observed for 600-800 days. None of the mice developed ALS.

Transplantation of ALS organs has already occurred

Toossi and colleagues in 2012 reported that 12 ALS patients in the US had proceeded with DCD in the US prior to 2011. Smith and colleagues report 2 patients with ALS that elected to donate organs after DCD. It is unclear if the two patients that Smith reports are part of the twelve-patient cohort of Toossi et al, but the authors on the papers are different. A few ALS patients in Ontario have also donated their organs. There have been no subsequent published reports of transmission of ALS in any of the recipients of these organs from ALS patients.

Opinions of ALS transmissibility in the Canadian ALS research community

The literature review information contained in this report was presented to the Canadian ALS research community at the ALS Canada Annual Research Forum on April 30, 2017.

Question		Responses			
		No	Unlikely	Uncertain	
Is ALS transmissible through organ transplantation?	0%	7.5%	55%	37.5%	
Is ALS transmissibility risk different for sporadic vs	12.8%	28.2%	18%	41%	
hereditary ALS?					
Are certain familial ALS mutations more likely to be	21%	23.7%	-	55.3%	
transmissible?					
Should we transplant organs from ALS patients?	53.9%	12.8%	-	33.3%	

• 52.5% of respondents indicated that they felt recipients of ALS organs should be informed that their organ came from a patient with ALS. 15% said that organ recipients should not be informed to protect the confidentiality of the donor. 32.5% were unsure if donor recipients should or should not be informed of the fact that their organ can from an ALS patient.

• The majority of respondents did suggest that transplant recipients of ALS organs should be monitored for the development of ALS and that reporting of ALS in transplant recipients should occur.

Summary Statements It cannot be definitively determined if ALS is or is not transmissible.

- It is likely that intracerebral or intraspinal transmission of ALS can occur. The blood brain barrier may protect against ALS transmission from solid organ transplantation.
- Organ recipients with genetic vulnerability for ALS (that is patients carrying ALS genetic mutations) may be more likely to develop ALS through transmission of protein misfolding. In other words, potential recipients with a first degree relative with ALS may be at higher risk of developing ALS from a transplanted organ from an ALS patient.
- If ALS is transmissible through organ transplantation, it will likely take more than ten years to develop. This estimate of ten years is taken from the human pituitary growth hormone database publication.
- Recipients need to be given the choice as to whether they would like to receive an organ from an ALS patient and they need to be informed that we are unsure if ALS is transmissible.
- Recipients of organs from ALS patients need to be followed closely for development of ALS for the duration of their lives. ALS transmission may not occur for over 15 years and so there should be long term follow up of these patients.
- Any transplant patient developing ALS or other neurodegenerative disease needs to have their status reported to their provincial transplant agency. This includes patients who did not receive an organ from a patient with a known neurodegenerative disease. Understanding the baseline risk of ALS in any solid organ recipient will be very important when assessing the correlation of development of ALS with the donated organ.

Adapted from Allard and Fortin, J Med Ethics, 2016

- Canadian public is not unanimous in its support of MAID. Some object to the practice on religious or ethical grounds.
- Potential recipients who oppose assisted dying may object to receiving an organ from a patient who has undergone MAID
- Some argue that potential recipients should be informed that their donor underwent MAID
- Some maintain that the source of the organs should not be disclosed
 - detailed information about the circumstances of a donor's death, including a violent non-assisted suicide, are not generally disclosed to potential recipients in certain jurisdictions, giving recipients the chance to refuse organs on these grounds would "lead to organ wastage and indeed to the potential death of the recipient"

Appendix 9: Acronyms

ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
CACCN	Canadian Association of Critical Care Nurses
CEST	Commission de l'éthique en science et en technologie
CCCS	Canadian Critical Care Society
CCCS WLSM	Canadian Critical Care Society Guidelines for the Withdrawal of Life-Sustaining Measures
CJD	Creutzfeldt Jacob Disease
СО	Conscientious Objection
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
CSPCP	Canadian Society of Palliative Care Physicians
CST	Canadian Society of Transplantation
DCDD (or DCD)	Donation following Circulatory Determination of Death. Variably referred to as DCD - Donation after Circulatory Death, Donation after Cardio-circulatory Death or Donation after Cardiac Death
DNDD (or NDD)	Donation following Neurological Determination of Death
EAP	Employee Assistance Plan
ECMO	Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
EOL	End-of-Life
FTD	Frontotemporal Dementia
НСР	Health Care Professional
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
MAID	Medical Assistance in Dying
MRP	Most Responsible Physician
NIV	Non-invasive Ventilation
ODO	Organ Donation Organization

OTD	Organ and Tissue Donation
SDM	Substitute Decision Maker
SOD1	Super Oxide Dismutase 1
TGLN	Trillium Gift of Life Network
WLSM	Withdrawal of Life-Sustaining Measures

References

- 1. Organ Donation and Transplantation in Canada: System Progress Report 2006-2015. Ottawa: Canadian Blood Services, 2016.
- Shemie SD, Baker AJ, Knoll G, Wall W, Rocker G, Howes D, et al. National recommendations for donation after cardiocirculatory death in Canada: Donation after cardiocirculatory death in Canada. CMAJ. 2006;175(8):S1. PubMed PMID: 17124739; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1635157.
- 3. Carter v. Canada (Attorney General), 2015 SCC 5: Supreme Court of Canada (2015).
- 4. An Act to amend the Criminal Code and to make related amendments to other Acts (medical assistance in dying), S.C. 2016, c. 3 (2016).
- 5. Code civil du Québec. Loi concernant les soins de fin de vie, chapitre S-32.0001 (2015).
- Cook D, Rocker G, Marshall J, Sjokvist P, Dodek P, Griffith L, et al. Withdrawal of mechanical ventilation in anticipation of death in the intensive care unit. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(12):1123-32. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa030083. PubMed PMID: 13679526.
- Keenan SP, Busche KD, Chen LM, McCarthy L, Inman KJ, Sibbald WJ. A retrospective review of a large cohort of patients undergoing the process of withholding or withdrawal of life support. Crit Care Med. 1997;25(8):1324-31. PubMed PMID: 9267945.
- 8. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Deceased Organ Donor Potential in Canada. 2014.
- 9. Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD, Brinkman-Stoppelenburg A, Penning C, de Jong-Krul GJ, van Delden JJ, van der Heide A. Trends in end-of-life practices before and after the enactment of the euthanasia law in the Netherlands from 1990 to 2010: a repeated cross-sectional survey. The lancet. 2012;380(9845):908-15.
- 10. Chambaere K, Bilsen J, Cohen J, Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD, Mortier F, Deliens L. Physician-assisted deaths under the euthanasia law in Belgium: a population-based survey. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2010;182(9):895-901.
- 11. Loggers ET, Starks H, Shannon-Dudley M, Back AL, Appelbaum FR, Stewart FM. Implementing a death with dignity program at a comprehensive cancer center. New England Journal of Medicine. 2013;368(15):1417-24.
- 12. Atlas of MS 2013: Mapping multiple sclerosis around the world. Multiple Sclerosis International Foundation, 2013.
- 13. Gruben V, Yazdani S, Goldberg A. What do we know about deceased organ donation by the conscious, competent adult? A scoping review. Ottawa: Canadian Blood Services, 2017.

- 14. Allard J, Fortin M-C. Organ donation after medical assistance in dying or cessation of life-sustaining treatment requested by conscious patients: the Canadian context. Journal of Medical Ethics. 2016:medethics-2016-103460.
- Wilkinson D, Savulescu J. Should we allow organ donation euthanasia? Alternatives for maximizing the number and quality of organs for transplantation. Bioethics. 2012;26(1):32-48. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8519.2010.01811.x. PubMed PMID: 20459428; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3267048.
- Shaw DM. Organ donation after assisted suicide: a potential solution to the organ scarcity problem. Transplantation. 2014;98(3):247-51. doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000000099. PubMed PMID: 24825514.
- 17. Shaw DM. Saving lives with assisted suicide and euthanasia: Organ donation after assisted dying. In: Cholbi M, Varelius J, editors. New Direction in the Ethics of Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia. New York: Springer International Publishing; 2015. p. 185-92.
- Overby KJ, Weinstein MS, Fiester A. Addressing Consent Issues in Donation After Circulatory Determination of Death. Am J Bioeth. 2015;15(8):3-9. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2015.1047999. PubMed PMID: 26225503.
- 19. Van Raemdonck D, Verleden GM, Dupont L, Ysebaert D, Monbaliu D, Neyrinck A, et al. Initial experience with transplantation of lungs recovered from donors after euthanasia. Appl Cardiopulm Pathophysiol. 2011;15:38-48.
- van Wijngaarden AK, van Westerloo DJ, Ringers J. Organ Donation After Euthanasia in the Netherlands: A Case Report. Transplant Proc. 2016;48(9):3061-3. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2016.02.066. PubMed PMID: 27932146.
- 21. Baginski W. Hastening death: dying, dignity and the organ shortage gap. Am J Law Med. 2009;35(4):562-84. PubMed PMID: 20196283.
- Detry O, Le Dinh H, Noterdaeme T, De Roover A, Honore P, Squifflet JP, et al. Categories of donation after cardiocirculatory death. Transplant Proc. 2012;44(5):1189-95. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2012.05.001. PubMed PMID: 22663982.
- 23. Cohen-Almagor R. First do no harm: pressing concerns regarding euthanasia in Belgium. Int J Law Psychiatry. 2013;36(5-6):515-21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2013.06.014. PubMed PMID: 23859807.
- 24. Kirby J. Organ donation after assisted death: Is it more or less ethically-problematic than donation after circulatory death? Med Health Care Philos. 2016;19(4):629-35. doi: 10.1007/s11019-016-9711-8. PubMed PMID: 27263089.
- 25. Epker JL, De Groot YJ, Kompanje EJ. Obtaining consent for organ donation from a competent ICU patient who does not want to live anymore and who is dependent on life-sustaining treatment; ethically feasible? Clinical Ethics. 2013;8(1):29-33.
- Ysebaert D, Van Beeumen G, De Greef K, Squifflet JP, Detry O, De Roover A, et al. Organ procurement after euthanasia: Belgian experience. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(2):585-6. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.12.025. PubMed PMID: 19328932.
- Bollen J, de Jongh W, Hagenaars J, van Dijk G, Ten Hoopen R, Ysebaert D, et al. Organ Donation After Euthanasia: A Dutch Practical Manual. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(7):1967-72. doi: 10.1111/ajt.13746. PubMed PMID: 26842128.
- 28. Smith TJ, Vota S, Patel S, Ford T, Lyckholm L, Bhushan A, et al. Organ donation after cardiac death from withdrawal of life support in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Journal of palliative medicine. 2012;15(1):16-9.
- 29. Trillium Gift of Life Network Act, c. 39 Bill 142 (2000).
- 30. Organ and Tissue Donation after Medical Assistance in Dying: Guidance Document. Trillium Gift of Life Network, 2016.
- 31. Comité d'éthique de Transplant Québec. Avis sur le don d'organes chez un patient qui demande une aide médicale à mourir. Montreal: Transplant Québec, 2016.

- 32. Commission de l'éthique en science et en technologie. Enjeux éthiques liés au don d'organes en contexte d'aide médicale à mourir. Quebec: 2016.
- 33. Ysebaert D, Detry O, Verfaillie G, Mikhalski D, Van Raemdonck D. Organ donation after euthanasia on specific patients' request in Belgium. Transplant International. 2015;28(S4):114.
- 34. Currow DC, Ward AM, Plummer JL, Bruera E, Abernethy AP. Comfort in the last 2 weeks of life: relationship to accessing palliative care services. Supportive care in cancer. 2008;16(11):1255-63.
- Krmpotic K, Payne C, Isenor C, Dhanani S. Delayed Referral Results in Missed Opportunities for Organ Donation After Circulatory Death. Crit Care Med. 2017;45(6):989-92. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002432. PubMed PMID: 28350643.
- 36. Routine Notification and Medical Assistance in Dying: Guiding Principles. Trillium Gift of Life Network, 2017 May 18. Report No.
- 37. Shemie SD, Robertson A, Beitel J, Chandler J, Ferre E, Evans J, et al. End-of-Life Conversations with Families of Potential Donors: Leading Practices in Offering the Opportunity for Organ Donation. Transplantation. 2017;101(5S-1):S17-26.
- Bollen J, Ten Hoopen R, Ysebaert D, van Mook W, van Heurn E. Legal and ethical aspects of organ donation after euthanasia in Belgium and the Netherlands. J Med Ethics. 2016;42(8):486-9. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2015-102898. PubMed PMID: 27012736.
- 39. IPSOS. Organ Donation in Competent Conscious Patients. Ottawa: Canadian Blood Services, 2016.
- 40. Medical assistance in dying Ottawa: Health Canada; 2017 [updated April 26; cited 2017 June 7]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/medical-assistance-dying.html</u>.
- 41. Ayers JI, Fromholt S, Koch M, DeBosier A, McMahon B, Xu G, et al. Experimental transmissibility of mutant SOD1 motor neuron disease. Acta neuropathologica. 2014;128(6):791-803.
- Silverman JM, Fernando SM, Grad LI, Hill AF, Turner BJ, Yerbury JJ, et al. Disease Mechanisms in ALS: Misfolded SOD1 Transferred Through Exosome-Dependent and Exosome-Independent Pathways. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2016;36(3):377-81. doi: 10.1007/s10571-015-0294-3. PubMed PMID: 26908139.
- 43. Nonaka T, Masuda-Suzukake M, Arai T, Hasegawa Y, Akatsu H, Obi T, et al. Prion-like properties of pathological TDP-43 aggregates from diseased brains. Cell Rep. 2013;4(1):124-34. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.06.007. PubMed PMID: 23831027.
- Ding X, Ma M, Teng J, Teng RK, Zhou S, Yin J, et al. Exposure to ALS-FTD-CSF generates TDP-43 aggregates in glioblastoma cells through exosomes and TNTs-like structure. Oncotarget. 2015;6(27):24178-91. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4680. PubMed PMID: 26172304; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4695178.
- 45. Chang YJ, Jeng US, Chiang YL, Hwang IS, Chen YR. The Glycine-Alanine Dipeptide Repeat from C9orf72 Hexanucleotide Expansions Forms Toxic Amyloids Possessing Cell-to-Cell Transmission Properties. J Biol Chem. 2016;291(10):4903-11. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.694273. PubMed PMID: 26769963; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4777828.
- Westergard T, Jensen BK, Wen X, Cai J, Kropf E, Iacovitti L, et al. Cell-to-Cell Transmission of Dipeptide Repeat Proteins Linked to C9orf72-ALS/FTD. Cell Rep. 2016;17(3):645-52. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.09.032. PubMed PMID: 27732842; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5078984.
- 47. Fraser H, Behan W, Chree A, Crossland G, Behan P. Mouse inoculation studies reveal no transmissible agent in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain pathology. 1996;6(2):89-99.
- 48. Salazar AM, Masters CL, Gajdusek DC, Gibbs CJ. Syndromes of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and dementia: Relation to transmissible Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. Annals of neurology. 1983;14(1):17-26.
- 49. Connolly JH, Allen IV, Dermott E. Transmissible agent in the amyotrophic form of Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1988;51(11):1459-60. PubMed PMID: 3069961; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1032826.

- 50. Edgren G, Hjalgrim H, Rostgaard K, Lambert P, Wikman A, Norda R, et al. Transmission of Neurodegenerative Disorders Through Blood Transfusion: A Cohort Study. Ann Intern Med. 2016;165(5):316-24. doi: 10.7326/M15-2421. PubMed PMID: 27368068.
- 51. Huot O, Malaquin G, Jacob JP, Font-Sala C, Creusvaux H, Lamotte C, et al. Could a deceased possible donor affected by a rare disorder be eligible for organ donation? Transplant International. 2013;26(222).
- 52. Dewitt JD, Kwon J, Burton R, Stroup JS. Conjugal amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent). 2012;25(1):31-3. PubMed PMID: 22275781; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3246851.
- 53. Irwin DJ, Abrams JY, Schonberger LB, Leschek EW, Mills JL, Lee VM, et al. Evaluation of potential infectivity of Alzheimer and Parkinson disease proteins in recipients of cadaver-derived human growth hormone. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(4):462-8. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.1933. PubMed PMID: 23380910; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3678373.
- 54. Toossi S, Lomen-Hoerth C, Josephson SA, Gropper MA, Roberts J, Patton K, et al. Organ donation after cardiac death in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2012;71(2):154-6. doi: 10.1002/ana.22525. PubMed PMID: 22334377.
- 55. Shoesmith C, Shetter B. Should ALS patients be organ donors? ALS Canada Annual Research Forum; April 302017.
- 56. Minister of Health. Guidance Document for Cell, Tissue and Organ Establishments Safety of Human Cells, Tissues and Organs for Transplantation. Ottawa: Health Canada, 2013 August 26. Report No.
- 57. Keenan SP, Busche KD, Chen LM, Esmail R, Inman KJ, Sibbald WJ. Withdrawal and withholding of life support in the intensive care unit: a comparison of teaching and community hospitals. The Southwestern Ontario Critical Care Research Network. Crit Care Med. 1998;26(2):245-51. PubMed PMID: 9468160.
- 58. Interim update on medical assistance in dying in Canada June 17 to December 31, 2016.Ottawa, Health Canada 2017.
- 59. <u>https://mjlh.mcgill.ca/issues/volume-11-issue-2-112-2017/organ-donation-and-medical-assistance-in-dying-ethical-and-legal-issues-facing-canada/</u>